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ABOUT THE
COMPANY
DCDB was established in 1980 with the objective of

becoming one of the region's stronger thrift banks.

The Bank's success is developed through its

adherence to the fundamental beliefs on which this

institution was founded: dedication to our service to

God, our families and the community. This is the core

which forms the basis that guides our efforts to be

the community's responsible partner for growth.

These beliefs drive our commitment to be a

customer-oriented institution prioritizing client

satisfaction. We measure our success in terms of the

success of those whom we serve and offer our

financial services to -the entrepreneur seeking

growth and stability, or those whose business reside

mainly in the agricultural industry.

DCDB, although just a simple bank, thrives because

of the success and progress of its clients, personnel

and stakeholders.
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OUR VISION

Maintain a transparent process in

servicing our clients by providing the

necessary products and services in a

timely manner thereby building the

confidence of our shareholders, and

increasing client loyalty.

OUR MISSION

A financially viable bank that understands

our markets, and offers products and

services that responds to client’s needs;

providing our shareholders long term growth

and a return consistent with the market;

while enhancing employees’ knowledge and

skills towards the development of long-term

relationships with clients.

OUR PHILOSOPHY

Dedicated to serve with integrity;

Customer-centered;

Dependable and innovative;

Business partner for the community.
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FINANCIAL
HIGHLIGHTS
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(in Millions)
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2021 AT A 
GLANCE

44%
MINIMUM LIQUIDITY
RATIO
The minimum liquidity ratio of the Bank is 120%

higher than the ratio required by the Bangko

Sentral ng Pilipinas. It means that DCDB has a more

significant margin of safety with regard to its ability

to pay off debt obligations

29%
CAPITAL ADEQUACY
RATIO
Bangko Sentral ng Pilipinas set the required ratio at

10%. DCDB exceeds that requirement. It is more

likely that DCDB will be able to withstand a

financial downturn or other unforeseen losses.
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On February 4, 2021, DCDB has been
approved as Clearing Subscriber.

PESONet Participant
Went live on March 21, 2021
as receiving entity.

Effective July 12, 2021

MEMBERSHIP WITH PCHC

instaPAY PARTICIPANT
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The Bank’s total regulatory capital as a percentage of total risk-weighted assets as of
December 31, 2021 is shown in the table below (in thousands):

 

 
 

Tier 1 capital ratio 29.40% 
Total capital ratio 29.83% 

 
The regulatory qualifying capital of the Bank consists of Tier 1 (core) capital, which
includes paid-up common stock, additional paid-in capital, retained earnings and
undivided profits less the required deductions–deferred income tax and unsecured
credit accommodations to DOSRI. The other component of the regulatory capital is Tier 2
(supplementary) capital, which is composed of the general loan loss provision. The
components of Tier 1 capital and deductions are shown below (in thousands):

 

CAPITAL 
STRUCTURE
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RUBEN D. ALMENDRAS
CHAIRMAN

CHAIRMAN'S

MESSAGE

After the worst of the Covid pandemic in 2020, which had been disastrous for

the whole world including the Philippines in terms of public health and

economy, 2021 was a slow recovery. World GDP growth was inching up at

5.7% and the Philippines GDP grew at 5.1% from a low base due to the

recession in 2020. It was an erratic recovery with decreases in some quarters

and increases in other quarters.

Your Bank was well positioned and poised for growth in loans and other

banking activities, as we had shored up our liquidity, rebalanced our resources,

improved processes and re-energized our people. As the Philippine economic

recovery was slower than we had anticipated, we adjusted our projections and

managed accordingly, to come up with these 2021 operating and financial

results.

Total Revenues from Interests and Other Income at P102.3 million was 6.4%

lower than the P109.2 million in 2020 revenues. Aside from the lower loan

portfolio level in 2021, we deferred some interest income from pandemic

affected clients by restructuring accounts and stretching interest payments.

We maintained the level of our personnel and other operating expenses, so our

Profit before taxes was at P25,249,042, while our Profit after taxes is at

P17,039,383.

Our P1,505,801,694 Total Resources at year-end 2021 was lower by 5% from

the P1,585,043,447 of 2020 primarily due to the lower loan demand. We had

to park some of our loanable funds in low yield deposits and investment

securities while awaiting a stronger economic recovery in 2022. Our Capital

Accounts at P377 million is way beyond the required amount required by the

Bangko Sentral ng Pilipinas (BSP), and adequate for the risk profile of our

business model. Our Risk Based Capital Adequacy Ratio at 29.83% is way

above the required 10% and a reflection of our conservative business

philosophy. 

We are grateful to
our clients, 

 employees and
associates for

working with us
during another

trying but fruitful
year under God’s

blessings.

7



Capital Accounts is above what is

required but sufficient for the Bank ’s

risk profile .

In spite of the economic downturn and

its slow revival ,  we have withstood yet

another challenge and have every

reason to be optimistic for the years

ahead .  Our financial position in terms of

liquidity has prepared the Bank for

increasing our loan portfolio in

anticipation of an improving economic

climate .  We continue to move forward

with a strategic plan that involves

expansion ,  an indication of the health

of our Bank .

We thank our clients ,  staff ,  our

management and senior leadership for

staying the course throughout this

difficult ,  challenging ,  yet productive

year .  May the Almighty continue to

bless us .

GREGORIO L. UYMATIAO JR. 
VICE-CHAIRMAN/PRESIDENT

This past year ,  we have continued to

take a more calculated and circumspect

approach to our credit practice as was

called for the previous year .  Indeed ,  the

devastating effects of the pandemic

continue to affect us almost two years

after its onset .  

As the entire planet continues its

recovery ,  we fine-tuned our estimates

and modified our procedures in order to

mitigate the slower-than-expected

economic recovery .  In this regard ,  the

Bank has taken steps to alleviate the

economic effects through rescheduling

interest payments and restructuring

accounts for our COVID-affected

borrowers/clients .  

Our gains have been noticeably more

modest this past year .  Net Income

decreased by P5 .2 million compared to

the previous year due to increasing the

allowance for probable losses on loans .

Loans and other receivables have

decreased mainly due to a lower loan

availment ;  and there was a 5% decrease

in Total Resources which was also

mainly the result of lower demand for

loans .

MESSAGE FROM THE PRESIDENT
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CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE

Stable, robust and compelling corporate
governance based upon integrity and
competent expertise is the foundation of our
vigor and lasting existence as a financial
institution.

The Board of Directors, management and
employees, and stakeholders of DCDB are
advocates in the values of honesty and
professionalism. We believe in prudence in
arriving at well-considered decisions, including
the formulation of our management policies and
practices. We believe in discipline within our
ranks. And we advocate transparency in the
conduct of our business, including its strategies
and operating results because we value those
we serve. This is what we believe.

The Board of Directors and Management
hereby commit themselves to the principles and
practices contained in this Manual and
acknowledge that the same will guide them in
pursuing their corporate goals. They shall also
undertake every effort needed to create the
necessary awareness of these principles and
practices within the organization by every
member of the organization.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE MANUAL
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
 
The Board of Directors (the Board) bears the primary responsibility for creating and enhancing 
the long-term franchise value of DCDB and ensuring that this objective is achieved in all its 
business activities. It must ensure the Bank’s ability to satisfy the needs of its customers and 
uphold its reputation in order to maintain its long-term success and viability as a business entity. 
Its mandate consists of setting the strategic business directions of the Bank, appointing its senior 
executive officers, confirming its organizational structure, approving all major strategies and 
policies, overseeing all major risk-taking activities, monitoring the financial results, measuring 
and rewarding the performance of management, and generating a reasonable investment return 
to shareholders. It shall also provide an independent check on management. 
 
The Chairman of the Board of Directors provides leadership in the Board. He shall ensure 
effective functioning of the Board, including maintaining a relationship of trust with Board 
members. He shall be responsible also to ensure a sound decision-making process and should 
encourage and promote critical discussions and ensure that dissenting views can be expressed 
and discussed within the decision-making process. 
 
To establish an atmosphere of independence in the Board, at least one third (1/3) but not less 
than two members of the Board of Directors shall be independent directors. They are to 
intermediate in cases where there would be conflict of interest in the Management.  
 
BOARD COMPOSITION 
 
The Board is composed of eleven members who shall be elected by the Bank’s stockholders 
entitled to vote at the annual meeting, and shall hold office for one year and until their 
successors are elected and qualified in accordance with the By-Laws of the corporation. 
 
As a financial institution, DCDB shall conform to the guidelines of the Bangko Sentral ng Pilipinas 
(BSP) regarding the qualifications of directors and the minimum number of independent 
directors, i.e., at least one third (1/3) but not less than two members of the Board of Directors 
shall be independent directors, provided that any fractional result from applying the required 
minimum proportion, shall be rounded-up to the nearest whole number.  
 
POLICY ON MULTIPLE BOARD SEATS 
 
A director shall exercise due discretion in accepting and holding directorships outside of DCDB. 
A director may hold any number of directorships outside of DCDB provided that, in the 
director’s opinion, these other positions do not detract from the director’s capacity to diligently 
perform his duties as a director of DCDB, and provided further that this interlocking 
directorship is approved and/or confirmed by the Monetary Board of the BSP. 
 
 
BOARD MEETINGS AND QUORUM REQUIREMENTS 
 

• Members of the Board should attend regular and special meetings of the Board in person 

or via teleconference or videoconference or by any other technological means allowed by 

law; 
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Director Meetings %

Gregorio L. Uymatiao Jr. 12/12 100%

Edward Y.R. Sung 12/12 100%

Lawrence S. Limkaichong III 12/12 100%

Director Meetings %

Julie T. Tan* 12/12 100%

Rodrigo G. Diaz* 10/12 83%

Meliza H. Agabin* 8/12 67%

Grotius Wilbur L. Maxino* 12/12 100%

Tyrone T. Ramas Uypitching 10/12 83%

*Independent Director

• An independent director shall, as far as possible, be in attendance. However, the absence 

of an independent director may not affect the quorum requirements if he is duly notified 

of the meeting but notwithstanding such notice fails to attend. 

For the year 2021, despite of the pandemic situation, DCDB Board had 12 meetings including 
the organizational meeting regularly held after the Annual Stockholder’s meeting: 
 

 
 
 
BOARD-LEVEL COMMITTEES 
 
Executive Committee 
The Board shall appoint from its 
members an Executive Committee which 
shall in the interim between meetings of 
the Board of Directors, possess and 
exercise the delegated powers of the 
Board in the management and direction of the affairs of DCDB subject to the provisions of the 
DCDB By-Laws and the limitations prescribed by law. 
 
 
Audit Committee 
The audit committee is an advisory 
committee to assist and act on behalf of 
the Board of Directors of DCDB and 
provides oversight of the Bank’s financial 
reporting and control and internal and 
external audit functions. It shall be 
responsible for the setting up of the 
internal audit department and for the 
appointment of the internal auditor as well as the independent external auditor who shall both 
report directly to the audit committee. It shall monitor and evaluate the adequacy and 
effectiveness of the internal control system. The function also includes coordination with other 
Board committees and maintenance of a strong, positive working relationships with 
management, external and internal auditors, counsel and other committee advisors.  
 
The audit committee shall be composed of members of the Board of Directors, at least two (2) 
of whom shall be independent directors, including the chairman, preferably with accounting, 

Board Name
No. of 

Shares

% to Total 

Outstanding 

Shares

Board 

Meetings
%

Chairman Ruben D. Almendras 8,276 0.7499% 12/12 100%

Vice-Chairman/President Gregorio L. Uymatiao Jr. 18,989 1.4500% 12/12 100%

Treasurer Lawrence S. Limkaichong III 10 0.0009% 12/12 100%

Director Danford S. Sy 23,670 2.1448% 12/12 100%

Director Tyrone T. Ramas Uypitching 1,558 0.1412% 12/12 100%

Director Gilbert Paul L. Uymatiao 19,725 1.7873% 10/12 83%

Director Edward Y.R. Sung 40,858 3.7022% 12/12 100%

Independent Rodrigo G. Diaz 4,484 0.4063% 12/12 100%

Independent Julie T. Tan 2 0.0002% 12/12 100%

Independent Meliza H. Agabin 1 0.0001% 11/12 91%

Independent Grotius Wilbur L. Maxino 463 0.0420% 12/12 100%
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Director Meetings %

Gilbert Paul L. Uymatiao 11/13 85%

Edward Y.R. Sung 10/13 77%

Lawrence S. Limkaichong III 12/13 92%

Director Meetings %

Rodrigo G. Diaz* 2/2 100%

Danford S. Sy 2/2 100%

Grotius Wilbur L. Maxino* 2/2 100%

*Independent Director

auditing, or related financial management expertise or experience. Aside from the directors, the 
Head of the Bank’s Internal Audit Unit shall also be a member of the committee. 
 
With the setting up of an Audit Committee, the Board of Directors shall come up with a written 
charter on terms of reference which clearly sets out the Audit Committee’s authority and duties, 
as well as the reporting relationship with the Board of Directors. Per BSP’s regulation, this 
charter shall be approved by the Board of Directors and reviewed and updated periodically. 
 
Risk Oversight Committee  
The Risk Oversight Committee 
(ROC) shall assist the Board in 
the effective discharge of its 
responsibilities for risk 
management and internal 
controls. It shall be responsible 
for the development and 
oversight of the Bank’s risk management program. It shall oversee the system of limits to 
discretionary authority that the Board delegates to management, ensure that the system remains 
effective, that the limits are observed and that immediate corrective actions are taken whenever 
limits are breached. 
 
The Risk Oversight Committee, shall, where appropriate, have access to external expert advice, 
particularly in relation to proposed strategic transactions, such as mergers and acquisitions. 
 
The committee shall be composed of at least three (3) members of the board of directors, 
majority of whom shall be independent directors, including the chairperson. The ROC’s 
chairperson shall not be the chairperson of the board of directors, or any other board-level 
committee. The risk oversight committee shall possess a range of expertise and adequate 
knowledge of the Bank’s risk exposures to be able to develop appropriate strategies for 
preventing losses and minimizing the impact of losses when they occur. 
 
Personnel Committee 
The Personnel Committee 
provides oversight on the 
remuneration of senior 
management, other key personnel 
and the rank and file, ensuring 
that compensation is consistent with the Bank’s strategy, its culture and its working environment. 
It also oversees conflicts that may arise between and among its employees, senior management 
and key personnel included. 
 
The Personnel Committee shall be composed of at least three (3) members, and one alternate 
member, all of which shall be members of the Board of Directors.  
 
The committee’s duties and responsibilities are meant to establish a transparent procedure for 
developing a policy on executive remuneration; fixing the remuneration packages of all Bank 
personnel and provide oversight over remuneration and benefits of all Bank personnel, and to 
ensure that compensation is consistent with the interest of all stakeholders and the Bank’s 
policies, culture, strategy and its working environment. 
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BOARD EVALUATION SYSTEM 
 
The Board conducted a periodic performance evaluation of the individual Directors, 
Committees, and Senior Management to determine the level of compliance with principles and 
practices on good governance and identify areas for improvement. The Corporate Unit 
summarizes the results and the Compliance Office reports it to the Board. 
 
Based on the 2021 results, the Bank has complied with the principles and practices contained in 
Corporate Governance Manual. 
 
CONTINUING EDUCATION 
 
Directors are encouraged to continuously enrich their knowledge, skills and understanding of the 
Banking industry as a whole.  
 
They were continuously informed of the trainings and seminars conducted by Institute of 
Corporate Directors and BAIPHIL. For first-time Directors, they must attend a seminar on 
Corporate Governance for Directors. 
 
RETIREMENT AND SUCCESSION 
 
Succession in the BOD is to be filled-up by family members of directors or their nominees who 
possess the required skills and extensive business background and those that qualify the 
requirements of the BSP. The names of nominees are submitted and a selection process begins 
(votation). When a decision is made by the BOD through Board Resolutions, it is then submitted 
to the BSP for final approval. The independent directors’ seats are occupied by experienced and 
seasoned bankers sourced from the market, and approved by the BOD and confirmed by the 
BSP. 
 
Filling vacancies for the executive level and rank and file is done through promotions or hiring 
from the market with the approval of the BOD.  
 
Basic Data Elements to Consider for a Succession Management Framework 
 

 Position 
This refers to the position to be replaced eventually, and may mean a small number of 
critical positions. 
 

 Incumbent 
This refers to the person occupying the position at present. 
 
 

• Candidates 

These are the individuals who have been identified as having the potential to occupy the 
position. There is no set number – usually two or three – and they are typically internal 
candidates. However, they may come from the employment market. 
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• Individual readiness rating 

Indicators of how prepared the candidate is to assume the position. The classifications 
may be described as: immediately, within one to two years, within two to five years, or high, medium, 
low, or the use of a color code to denote readiness. 
 

Other elements may be considered. Some examples include:  
 

• Candidate demographics 

This refers to age, gender, current position, wage grade, etc. 
 

• Relocation ability 

This refers to the candidate’s willingness to relocate. 
 

• Retention risk 

This refers to the fluidity of the job market and the chances of employee attrition (for 
both incumbent and candidate). 
 

• Assessment information 

This data may be composed of such information as performance ratings, behavioral 
assessments, potential assessments, etc. 
 

COMPENSATION POLICY 
 
The Board of Directors shall determine a level of remuneration and/or benefits for Directors 
that shall be sufficient to attract and retain directors and compensate them for attendance at 
meetings of the Board and Board committees, and performance of numerous responsibilities and 
undertaking certain risks as a Board member. The compensation which may be in various forms 
shall be fixed by way of a resolution of the Board of Directors. The Board of Directors may 
provide that only non-executive directors shall be entitled to such compensation. 
 
The Bank pays salaries to employees commensurate to the qualifications, position and level of 
responsibility with reference to the approved salary scale. For Senior Management, the Board 
shall determine their salaries based on their qualifications, experience, position and level of 
responsibility.    
 
POLICY ON RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 
 
DCDB recognizes that transactions between and among related parties create financial, 
commercial and economic benefits.  The Bank’s board of directors shall have the overall 
responsibility in ensuring that transactions with related parties are handled in a sound and 
prudent manner, with integrity and in compliance with applicable laws and regulations to protect 
the interest of depositors, creditors and other stakeholders.   
 
The Bank shall exercise appropriate oversight and implement control systems for managing said 
exposures as these may potentially lead to abuses that are disadvantageous to the bank, its  
depositors, creditors, fiduciary clients and other stakeholders. 
 
The Director inhibits his right in the discussion, deliberation and approval of a transaction, 
where he is a related party, to prevent conflict of interest. 
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Materiality threshold for RPTs shall be set at an amount in cash or other equivalent of monetary 
instrument involving a total amount in excess of Five Hundred Thousand Pesos (P500,000.00) 
within one banking day for purposes of reporting RPTs to the BSP.  All RPTs, however, shall be 
reviewed and evaluated by the Audit Committee regardless of amounts and shall be endorsed to 
the Board of Directors of the bank for approval. 
 
INTERNAL AUDIT 
 
Effective internal controls are the foundation of safe and sound banking. Having a properly 
designed and consistently enforced system of operational and financial internal control helps a 
bank’s Board of Directors and management safeguard the bank’s resources, produce reliable 
financial reports, and comply with laws and regulations. The bank’s Board of Directors is 
responsible in establishing and maintaining an effective internal control system. The Senior 
Management also verifies the integrity of bank’s internal control. 
 
The internal audit function is independently exercised by the Internal Audit Unit, it is established 
by the Board of Directors and its responsibilities are defined by the Audit Committee as part of 
its oversight function. Internal audit provides an objective, independent review of bank activities, 
internal controls, and management information systems to help the board and management 
monitor and evaluate internal control adequacy and effectiveness. 
 
The compliance function is executed by the Compliance Office; it assists the Board in the 
discharge of its governance function to protect the bank’s reputation and the stockholders’ 
interest and ensures the Bank’s safety and soundness. In place is a compliance system that is 
designed specifically to identify and mitigate risks. 
 
The Compliance Office is headed by the Chief Compliance Officer who reports functionally to 
the Audit Committee. Its function is supported by a duly approved Compliance Manual that 
defines the duties and responsibilities, mandate, independence and manner on which compliance 
is implemented. 
 
DIVIDENDS 
 
Dividends are declared out of the unappropriated retained earnings of the Bank. The Board of 
Directors shall determine the percentage in accordance with the provisions of the law and 
regulations by BSP and SEC. 
 
For the year 2021, the Bank did not declare any dividends. 
 
 
CONSUMER PROTECTION  
 
DCDB, Inc. has developed a Consumer Protection Risk Management program which 
enumerated the basic principles and ethical business practices that govern the conduct of the 
Bank in dealing with its customers/consumers. It provides standards of consumer protection in 
the areas of: disclosure and transparency, protection of client information, fair treatment, 
effective recourse and financial education.  
 
The Board of Directors is responsible for establishing an atmosphere of impartial, unprejudiced 
and principled business relations by establishing standards for consumer protection which are 
implanted in the Bank’s business activities. It is the Board and Senior Management’s task to 
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formulate consumer protection policies and create an efficient management mechanism in the 
implementation and compliance of these policies. The Board is tasked to check on and supervise 
the work of Senior Management in the execution of these guidelines. The Board may also assign 
such auxiliary duties it considers relevant for conformance to these guidelines. Senior 
Management, in turn, is accountable for the implementation, monitoring and the processes 
which ascertain that these policies are observed. 
 
A regular evaluation of the Bank’s mechanisms for consumer protection which includes a 
Consumer Protection Risk Management System (CPRMS) is conducted by both the Board and 
Senior Management to ascertain its efficiency. It is essential to determine how relevant 
information is communicated and that the built-in review process in the CPRMS allows 
sufficient supervision. An assessment of the system’s efficiency is aided by the timely delivery of 
information concerning the CPRMS to the Board and Senior Management. An effective CPRMS 
also relies on resources which support the program. The Board and Senior Management ensures 
that adequate resources are provided to the program to assure its continued efficiency and that 
remedial or corrective measures will be promptly introduced for any perceived shortcoming in 
the program. A successfully run CPRMS relies on the support from the Board and Senior 
Management regarding the latitude and influence given to the personnel administering and 
implementing it. 
 
There are five benchmarks the Bank has considered in establishing its consumer protection 
programs that are the foundation of its consumer protection policies and are explained in the 
Bank’s Consumer Protection Manual: disclosure and transparency, protection of client 
information, fair treatment, effective recourse, and financial education awareness. 
 
The CPRMS ensures conformity to the rules, laws and regulations of consumer protection by 
providing the Bank a mechanism for observing, quantifying, and managing intrinsic consumer 
protection risks. The CPRMS encompasses risks to both the client and the Bank by focusing on 
and providing against known and perceived risks to the Bank and connected financial injury to 
its clients. 
 
There are six components involved in the CPRMS: Consumer Protection Compliance Program, 
Consumer Protection Audit Program, Consumer Protection Training Program, Consumer 
Protection Policies and Procedures, Corporate Structure of the Consumer Assistance Group, 
Code of Conduct. 
 
DUMAGUETE CITY DEVELOPMENT BANK, INC. is committed to provide quality 
services to its clients. It recognizes every right of a consumer on financial products and services. 
For this reason the Bank aims to provide every client with the assistance the client needs. 
Consumer Assistance Channels 
The Bank will establish conduits through which clients may submit their concerns. These will 
include letters, e-mail, telephone, fax, personal visits, and a centralized web-portal. To augment 
these channels the Bank shall establish a customer hotline staffed by customer assistance 
personnel and ascertain that clients know where and how to submit their issues. The Bank shall 
also determine other methods of resolution regarding client issues. 
 
Consumer Assistance Process and Timelines 
The Bank will establish timetables within which to recognize, process and resolve, and 
communicate resolutions of its clients’ issues. 
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On simple issues, the Bank shall recognize the issue/s within two (2) working days of receipt. 
Assessment, examination, and resolution/corrective action shall be within seven (7) days; and 
informing the client of the resolution shall be within nine (9) days. 
 
Acknowledgement of issues/grievances of a more complex or complicated nature shall also be 
within two (2) days. However, assessment, examination, and resolution/corrective action may be 
within 45 days, and notice to the client of the measures taken within 47 days. 
 
Certain requisites to be followed during this process shall include the documentation of: the 
customer’s full name, signature and contact information; nature of the issue/grievance; the 
customer’s requested settlement; the name of personnel managing the issue. 
 
Personnel managing the issue in question shall adequately describe the assistance process and its 
timetable, give assurances that the complaint or issue is being dealt with, and if necessary, request 
any additional documentation. The customer shall also be kept informed of the actions being 
taken for the settlement of the issue. 
 
A uniform process of evaluation and examination of issues and settlement alternatives will be 
adapted by the Bank. Regarding any delays in the settlement of complicated issues, the Bank 
shall give adequate reason for the delay; the necessity for the extension (not exceeding 45 days); 
and the date the complainant may expect the resolution of the issue. The Bank’s final response 
shall be conveyed to the client in clear and simple language, including other possible solutions 
and having recourse to the BSP Consumer Assistance Mechanism or the courts. 
 
At the latest, the Bank will respond to any inquiries by the next business day. 
 
Confidentiality 
In accordance with law and the Bank’s existing policy on customer confidentiality, the Bank shall 
not reveal any client information at any stage of the issue/complaint to third parties except if 
required by the Bank’s investigation. 
 
Conflict of Interest 
The Bank guarantees that personnel managing the issue or grievance are not directly or indirectly 
involved in the issue which is the subject of the complaint. 
 
Consumer Feedback 
Depending on the customer, the Bank will request client reaction on the following: overall 
satisfaction (or dissatisfaction); processes or personnel needing improvement; suggestions for 
improvement. 
 
Complaints Recording/Data Management 
The Bank and its branches shall archive grievances/complaints and requests received, including 
any supporting documentation for a period of two (2) years from settlement date. These records 
shall include: complainant’s name; nature of complaint which may include issues related to such 
services as deposits, remittances, administrative and other issues; name of personnel directly 
managing the complaint and the officer overseeing its resolution; date of receipt of the 
complaint; actions taken; date of settlements/resolutions provided; reasons for any delays in 
arriving at resolutions; any other relevant information (i.e., phone calls made/received). 
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A record of all grievances/complaints received by the Bank or its branches, and a database 
enabling the tracking and trending of complaints received, and potential problems and risks shall 
be maintained by the client assistance group/head customer assistance officer. 
 
Risk Assessment Strategies 
In managing consumer complaints, and consistent with its Consumer Protection Risk 
Management System policies, the Bank shall position mechanisms which recognize and resolve 
any chronic problems affecting the entire system and in so doing, locate shortcomings in the 
Banks processes and procedures.  
 
Such strategies will include: analyses of complaints and requests; analyses of the causes; 
examination of whether such shortcomings/weaknesses affect other services; rectifying these 
issues with consideration to attendant costs and resources. 
 
Complaints Reporting 
The client assistance officers of branch offices shall submit a monthly complaints report to the 
head client assistance officer of the Bank. The Board and Senior Management shall receive a 
monthly report from the head of the client assistance group. This report shall contain, together 
with any other relevant data: types of complaints received and their recurrence; aging (amount of 
time it takes for resolution) of complaints; reasons for variations in required 
resolution/settlement periods; description of actions taken to resolve/settle complaints. 
 
Other data contained in the report shall include recommendations on procedures meant to 
prevent recurring issues and suggestions on improving the management of said issues. A 
quarterly independent review performed by the Bank’s Compliance and Internal Audit Unit on 
the complaint report will be submitted to the Board.  
 
Interface with BSP 
The Bank shall utilize all internal available resolutions to deal with client 
issues/complaints/requests, and in line with the BSP Consumer Assistance Mechanism, shall 
have recourse to assistance from the BSP-FCAG. 
 
Outsourcing of Handling Consumer Concerns 
Should the Bank outsource the management of the consumer assistance process, the Bank shall 
be accountable for: exercising due diligence in selecting the outsourced entity; taking full 
responsibility for the performance of the outsourced entity; following all rules, laws and 
regulations governing client assistance activities and services conducted by the outsourced entity 
in the Bank’s behalf; and the management and review of the performance by the outsourced 
entity of the outsourced client assistance service.  
 
Accountability and Rewards 
A rewards system may be put in place by the Bank for the exceptional performance of personnel 
tasked with handling the client assistance mechanism. Such recognition shall be based on the 
effectiveness and efficiency of managing client complaints, issues and requests. This recognition 
system will assist in the fair, ethical and responsible business conduct of the personnel 
responsible for customer relations and assistance. 
 
Consumer Assistance to Persons with Disabilities (PWDs) and non-English Speakers 
Fair and ethical treatment of clients naturally extends to those who are differently-abled.  To 
guarantee that CAMS is fully understood, this policy encompasses those with learning 
difficulties; hearing and visually impaired persons; and non-English speakers. 
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Corporate Structure of the Consumer Assistance Group 
Formulating the Bank’s programs on consumer protection, determining necessary training needs 
and program logistics will be tasked to the DCDB Consumer Assistance Group. The corporate 
structure of this independent body will be composed of a Consumer Protection Head (Branch 
Head), Assistant Consumer Protection Head (Loan Officer), and four Consumer Protection 
Officers (Cashiers) from the Bank’s branches. 
 
RISK MANAGEMENT 
 
The Bank recognizes that operational risk is inherent in all activities, products and services and 
often comes with other types of risks (e.g., credit, liquidity and market risks). As part of its risk 
management system, a suitable ORM framework tasked with the identification, evaluation, 
monitoring, control and mitigation of operational risk was established. 
 
The illustration shows the framework of the ORM, corresponding governance components and 
requirements.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Risk Identification and Assessment 
The allocation of resources for risk management is more efficient with a clear understanding of 
the Bank’s risk profile. This requirement considers internal factors like changes in organizational 
structure and type of business activities, personnel and personnel turnover; and external factors 
such as political, economic and legal factors, environmental (climate) changes and developments 
in technology, and changes in the industry’s business environment. Loss events classified under 
these factors and corresponding examples are: 

 Internal fraud (employee theft, intentional misrepresentation of positions) and external 

fraud (forgery, robbery, check kiting, damages from computer hacking); 

 Employee practices and workplace safety (health and safety rules violations, workers’ 

compensation claims, discrimination claims, general liability); 

 Client, products and business practices (fiduciary breaches, money laundering, sale of 

unauthorized products, misuse of confidential customer information); 

 Damage to physical assets (natural calamities, arson, vandalism, terrorism); 
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 Business stoppages and systems failures (hardware/software failures, power outages, 

communications equipment problems); 

 Failures in execution, delivery and process management (data entry errors, insufficient 

documentation, unauthorized access of customer accounts, vendor controversies, non-

client counterparty misperformance). 

Mechanisms/tools for pinpointing and evaluating operational risk must be commensurate to the 
scope of operations and risk profile of the Bank: 
 

1. Audit results/supervisory issues brought up in the BSP Report of Examination (ROE); 

internal audit reports on internal control, risk management and organizational structures 

and policies. External audit focuses on control weaknesses and the Bank’s exposure to 

material inaccuracies/misstatements in financial statements. The ROE points out 

shortcomings in risk management systems and procedures and compliance issues on 

relevant rules and regulations which may affect the Bank.  

2. In evaluating losses due to operational risk and the efficiency of the Bank’s internal 

controls, these factors are considered: 

 Asset management 

 Payments/Settlements 

 Corporate finance 

 Retail/Commercial banking 

 Agency services 

 Retail brokerage 

 
Losses due to credit and market risk may relate to operational issues. Data from these 
events provides a more complete view of the Bank’s exposure to operational risk.  

3. The Bank shall utilize Risk Self-Assessment (RSA) in its evaluation of the mechanisms 

used by the Bank in dealing with the potential effects of possible risks and weaknesses. 

Risk Control Self-Assessment (RCSA) evaluates the intrinsic risk – or the risk before 

controls are considered – the efficiency of the controls and the residual – or remaining – 

risk after controls are considered.  

4. The Bank shall also utilize Key Risk Indicators (KRI) to examine factors that propel risk-

related exposures which may provide early detection of increased risk and preventative 

measures. Key Performance Indicators (KPI) provides information into the position or 

condition of operational processes and could indicate flaws, failures or possible losses.  

5. Process risk mapping may be defined as a matrix or environment (X and Y axis)depicting 

a select number of a company’s risks in order to illustrate the significance (impact) of risk 

on one axis (Y), and the likelihood or frequency of the event on the other axis (X). This 

mechanism can indicate whether improvements can be made to a current process by 

determining areas of risk and risk interdependencies, and limitations in risk management 

controls.  

6. Scenario analysis is a process of analyzing possible future events by considering 

alternative possible outcomes (sometimes called "alternative worlds"). Thus, the scenario 

analysis, which is a main method of projections, does not try to show one exact picture 

of the future. By obtaining the estimation of business line and risk managers, scenario 
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analysis is an effective tool when contemplating probable sources of operational risk and 

additional risk management controls or responses. 

7. A more detailed view of the Bank’s operational risk profile may be achieved by a 

comparison of the results from different evaluation tools (comparative analysis).   

 
Risk Monitoring and Reporting 
Consistent with policies on the management and control of an ideal credit risk environment, the 
Bank shall have a risk structure to continuously observe and scrutinize its operational risk profile 
and exposures to loss. Both qualitative and quantitative assessments of exposure to all types of 
operational risk will be considered. The system shall evaluate the merits and fitness of all 
remedial strategies and have in place efficient controls to isolate and confront situations which 
may escalate to significant issues. 

1. Corresponding to its policies on creating an ideal credit risk environment, the Bank 

makes every effort to maintain an ideal operational risk environment through the 

establishment of an effective structure for mitigating operational risk. Basic factors to 

consider in this structure would be the capacity to deal with changes in the operational 

risk environment and to communicate all relevant data (findings from all monitoring 

efforts, internal and external audit results on risk management, compliance findings) to 

the Board and senior Bank management for appropriate action. 

2. The timely receipt of regular reports on operational risk is essential to enable the Board 

to view and comprehend the Bank’s overall operational risk profile and assist supervision 

and control. 

3. Reports should contain materials relevant to decision-making. These should include 

internal financial, operational and compliance data, and meaningful external market 

information which show –  

 Actual and potential operational risks indicated in the Bank’s KRI, audit and 

compliance reports, and modifications in the Bank’s risk and control assessments; 

 Identified areas of concern and proposed corrective remedies; 

 Risk occurrences/losses; 

 Efficiency of corrective measures taken; 

 Authorized and unauthorized departures from risk policies; 

 Potential or actual violations of predefined limits for operational 

exposures/losses. 

4. Report analyses should be aimed at improving risk management policies and procedures. 

These reports should be regularly verified for accuracy and timeliness to maintain the 

effectivity of the reports. Precise and accurate information is indicative of an efficient 

and germane reporting mechanism. 

5. Loss data gathered from the reports should be archived to facilitate tracking, rate of 

recurrence and acuteness of loss events.  

 
Risk Control and Mitigation 
An effective and efficient operational risk management strategy is possible only with stout 
control systems that enforce procedures in managing and/or alleviating risk. However, when 
controls are insufficient or risk is not an option, the Bank may opt to mitigate risk through 
insurance.   
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The Board decides the maximum acceptable risk exposures and risk appetite of the Bank and is 
responsible for conducting an annual review of the efficiency of both its risk management 
policies and insurance program. 
 
The Bank is aware that a risk transfer option such as insurance serves only as a complement to 
an efficient and solid operational risk management program and should evaluate the degree to 
which these transfer options reduce risk. 
 
The Operational Risk Management Function (ORMF) is established to cover all areas which 
operational risk cuts across.  
 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Large Exposure and Risk Concentrations 
 
Per type of Loan (based on loanable funds) 
 a. Agrarian Reform and Other Agricultural Loans    50 %  
 b. Microfinance Loans         8 %  
 c. Small and Medium Enterprise Loans    40 %  
 d. Contract to Sell         5 % 
 e. Loans to Private Corporations     20 %  
 f. Loans to Individual for Housing     15 %  
 g. Loans to Individual for Consumption Purposes   30 %  
 h. Loans to Individual for Other Purposes    30 %  
 
 
For past due accounts 
 
50% of the total loan portfolio for each loan type 
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Risk limits on unrealized losses from investment securities 
 
The Bank has designated a number of securities (designated as Tranche 1) which shall be 
dispersed and utilized to mitigate such an occurrence. Further, should such an event reoccur 
shortly after, another group of designated securities will be utilized for the same purpose. The 
selection of these particular group of securities is based upon: a) price per unit, b) interest rate, c) 
maturity date. 
 
The Role of the BOD 
In extending its policies on credit risk to encompass Bank-wide operational risk management, it 
is essential that the Board is aware of and understands the complexity of major and operational 
risks since the ORM framework covers all business lines and functions of the Bank, including 
outsourced services and clients of services provided. This includes recognizing the effects of 
both financial and non-financial operational risks the Bank may be exposed to. 
 
In approving the operational risk management structure of the Bank, the Board must consider all 
business lines and Bank functions coupled with an established working definition of operational 
risk which is in place and consistent with personnel roles and responsibilities, feedback 
procedures, authority and reporting structures, guidelines and mechanisms for operational risk 
management. 
 
The Role of Senior Management 
Senior Bank management is responsible for the discharge and observance of the operational risk 
management framework. Through this structure Senior Management should formulate precise 
and detailed guidelines and procedures for all Bank activities including those which are 
outsourced/insourced to external entities. Policies are to be clearly documented, BOD-approved 
and disseminated throughout the Bank.  
 
Senior Management is responsible for disseminating operational risk management duties and 
responsibilities to Bank personnel at all levels and that roles in the risk management structure are 
clearly understood. To accomplish this, lines of authority, responsibility and reporting 
procedures must be established to sustain accountability and resources made available for the 
efficient management of operational risk.  
 
This body is also charged with establishing monitoring systems to identify, track, report and if 
necessary inform higher authority to ascertain resolution to breaches in operational risk 
tolerances and determining the rate of risk management reporting given the degree and type of 
risk involved and the operational environment of the Bank. 
 
Senior Management evaluates the suitability of the operational risk management process 
considering shifts in the business environment and the resultant risks from business proceedings. 
 
The responsibility of guaranteeing that resources dedicated to operational risk management 
(personnel, technical support) are manned by qualified and experienced personnel also fall on 
this unit. Senior Management also confirms that the personnel monitoring compliance with risk 
policies – Compliance and Internal Audit Units – are separate from the units under review and 
qualified for the diverse operational areas.  
 
Additionally, Senior Management is tasked with creating guidelines and procedures for efficient 
business continuity management. 
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The Role of Business Units 
On a daily basis, business line management (the administration of activities which contribute 
directly to the output of products and services) and its personnel are responsible for pinpointing, 
supervising and reporting the inherent risks of the products and services, processes and systems 
to which they have been assigned.  These duties call for ensuring that internal controls within 
these units are consistent with Bank policies supporting operational risk management and 
guidelines and procedures specific to business lines are established to manage operational risk for 
all Bank products and services; an operational risk management structure within the business line 
consistent with the line’s scope and complexity, and its operational risk profile; Board-approved 
risk reducing mechanisms are formulated and executed, and periodically reviewed to assure risk 
management is within approved tolerances. Issues of concern must be promptly dealt with; 
prompt and effective communication of loss events to the ORMF for monitoring and reporting, 
and the routine reporting to Senior Management/BOD. 
 
The Role of Compliance 
The Bank’s Compliance Office is responsible for the independent evaluation of observance of 
laws, rules and regulations, and internal policies; pinpointing areas which may pose as potential 
risks due to insufficient or unsuccessful processes, systems or personnel. Potential personnel 
risks include the conduct and behavior of Bank personnel, its officers, and Board resulting in or 
leading to fraud or other business difficulties. The role of Compliance is to evaluate which unit’s 
operational risk exposures influence the standing of the Bank. Compliance recommends and 
assists management in the proper execution of applicable laws, rules and regulations, as well as 
the Bank’s internal policies.  
 
The Role of Internal Audit 
The independent evaluation of the operational risk management structure and the execution of 
its policies are conducted by Internal Audit. The BOD – directly or indirectly – makes certain 
that the coverage and rate of audit is suitable to risk exposures and any issues pinpointed by the 
Audit are promptly dealt with or escalated to the Board. 
 
ANTI-MONEY LAUNDERING 
 
The Bank’s Money Laundering and Terrorist Financing Prevention Program (MLPP) serves as  
the comprehensive operating guidelines for use of  the Bank’s Directors, Senior Management, 
and all responsible officers and employees in implementing rules and regulations on the 
prevention of  money laundering and terrorist financing. This serves also as a guide for the 
implementation of  the Bank’s policies and procedures relative to anti-money laundering 
complemented by the bank’s Manuals of  Operations. 
 
With the Bank’s commitment to ensure sound corporate governance, money laundering and 
terrorist financing risks are effectively managed. 
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT AUDITOR 
 

 
     PUNONGBAYAN & ARAULLO 

 

The Board of Directors 

Dumaguete City Development Bank, Inc. 
Dr. V. Locsin corner Cervantes Streets 

Dumaguete City 

 

 

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements 

 

 

Opinion 
 

We have audited the financial statements of Dumaguete City Development Bank, Inc. (the 
Bank), which comprise the statements of financial position as at December 31, 2021 and 
2020, and the statements of profit or loss, statements of comprehensive income, statements 
of changes in capital funds and Statements of cash flows for the years then ended, and 
notes to financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies. 
 
In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, 
the financial position of the Bank as at December 31, 2021 and 2020, and its financial 
performance and its cash flows for the years then ended in accordance with Philippine 
Financial Reporting Standards (PFRS). 
 
 
Basis for Opinion 
 
We conducted our audits in accordance with Philippine Standards on Auditing (PSA).  Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditors’ Responsibilities 
for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report.  We are independent of the 
Bank in accordance with the Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants in the Philippines 
(Code of Ethics) together with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audits of the 
financial statements in the Philippines, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities 
in accordance with these requirements and the Code of Ethics.  We believe that the audit 
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 
 
 
Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the 
Financial Statements 

 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial 
statements in accordance with PFRS, and for such internal control as management 
determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.  
 
In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Bank’s 
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going 
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends 
to liquidate the Bank or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 
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Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Bank’s financial 
reporting process. 
 
 

Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 
 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements 
as  
a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an 
auditors’ report that includes our opinion.  Reasonable assurance is a high level of 
assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with PSA will 
always detect a material misstatement when it exists.  Misstatements can arise from fraud or 
error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably 
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these 
financial statements. 
 
As part of an audit in accordance with PSA, we exercise professional judgment and maintain 
professional skepticism throughout the audit.  We also: 
 

 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, 
whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those 
risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 
our opinion.  The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is 
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, 
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 
 

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of 
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Bank’s internal control. 
 

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by management. 
 

 Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of 
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty 
exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Bank’s ability 
to continue as a going concern.  If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are 
required to draw attention in our auditors’ report to the related disclosures in the financial 
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion.  Our 
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditors’ 
report.  However, future events or conditions may cause the Bank to cease to continue 
as a going concern. 
 

 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, 
including the disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying 
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 

 
We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the 
planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant 
deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit. 
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Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements 

 
Our audits were conducted for the purpose of forming an opinion on the basic financial 
statements taken as a whole.  The supplementary information required by the Bangko 
Sentral ng Pilipinas for the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020 and that required by 
the Bureau of Internal Revenue for the year ended December 31, 2021, as disclosed in 
Notes 29 and 30, respectively, is presented for purposes of additional analysis and is not a 
required part of the basic financial statements prepared in accordance with PFRS.  Such 
supplementary information is the responsibility of management.  The supplementary 
information has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the basic 
financial statements and, in our opinion, is fairly stated in all material respects in relation to 
the basic financial statements taken as a whole. 
 
 
PUNONGBAYAN & ARAULLO 

 
 
 

 
By:        Anthony L. Ng 
               Partner 
                                                    
                 CPA Reg. No. 0109764 
                 TIN 230-169-270 
                 PTR No. 8852341, January 3, 2022, Makati City 
                 SEC Group A Accreditation 
                         Partner - No. 109764-SEC (until Dec. 31, 2023) 
                       Firm - No. 0002 (until Dec. 31, 2024) 
                 BIR AN 08-002511-038-2019 (until Sept. 4, 2022) 
                 Firm’s BOA/PRC Cert. of Reg. No. 0002 (until Aug. 27, 2024)  
     
 
March 19, 2022 
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Notes 2021 2020

CASH AND OTHER CASH ITEMS 8  25,206,211  P         23,647,791  P           

DUE FROM BANGKO SENTRAL NG PILIPINAS 8, 9 127,922,734          51,698,440               

DUE FROM OTHER BANKS 8, 10 303,976,658          483,641,807             

INVESTMENT SECURITIES

At fair value through other comprehensive income 12 284,722,909          225,240,445             

At amortized cost 11 15,169,435            15,473,664               

LOANS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES - Net 13 663,078,300          688,390,128             

BANK PREMISES, FURNITURE, FIXTURES

AND EQUIPMENT - Net 14  38,641,813                39,603,163               

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES - Net 15  21,717,461                30,953,502               

DEFERRED TAX ASSETS - Net 24  13,321,864                15,500,527               

OTHER RESOURCES - Net 16  12,044,309                10,893,980               

TOTAL RESOURCES  1,505,801,694  P       1,585,043,447  P      

 

DEPOSIT LIABILITIES 18  1,111,580,293  P       1,205,034,362  P      

INCOME TAX PAYABLE  1,948,509                  1,213,999                 

OTHER LIABILITIES 19  15,318,676                10,337,904               

Total Liabilities  1,128,847,478            1,216,586,265           

CAPITAL FUNDS 20  376,954,216              368,457,182             

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND CAPITAL FUNDS  1,505,801,694  P       1,585,043,447  P      

R  E  S  O  U  R  C  E  S

LIABILITIES AND CAPITAL FUNDS

See Notes to Financial Statements.

DUMAGUETE CITY DEVELOPMENT BANK, INC.

STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION

DECEMBER 31, 2021 AND 2020

(Amounts in Philippine Pesos)
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Notes 2021 2020

INTEREST INCOME

Loans and other receivables 13  72,604,392  P           80,632,635  P           

Investment securities 11, 12  9,466,546                  14,219,577               

Due from other banks 10  3,050,959                  3,581,440                 

 85,121,897                98,433,652               

INTEREST EXPENSE

Deposit liabilities 18  7,419,734                  12,780,482               

NET INTEREST INCOME  77,702,163                85,653,170               

IMPAIRMENT LOSSES - Net 17  6,115,502                  1,895,699                 

NET INTEREST INCOME AFTER IMPAIRMENT LOSSES  71,586,661                83,757,471               

OTHER INCOME

Gain on sale of non-financial assets 14, 15  8,620,768                  2,901,837                 

Rent 27  3,689,271                  3,128,169                 

Service charges, fees and commission 2  3,609,393                  3,011,350                 

Recovery on charged-off assets  770,000                     730,000                    

Interest income on post-employment defined benefit plan - net 23  168,506                     157,120                    

Gain on sale of investment securities

at fair value through other comprehensive income 12  -    312,181                    

Miscellaneous income 21  294,483                     537,065                    

 17,152,421                10,777,722               

OTHER EXPENSES

Compensation and employee benefits 23  24,108,492                24,593,963               

Taxes and licenses 30  8,685,621                  9,085,270                 

Depreciation and amortization 14, 15, 16  5,397,112                  4,591,824                 

Other administrative expenses 22  25,298,815                24,739,312               

 63,490,040                63,010,369               

PROFIT BEFORE TAX  25,249,042                31,524,824               

TAX EXPENSE 24  8,209,658                  9,287,565                 

NET PROFIT  17,039,384  P            22,237,259  P           

BASIC AND DILUTED EARNINGS PER SHARE 26  15.44  P                    20.15  P                   

DUMAGUETE CITY DEVELOPMENT BANK, INC.

STATEMENTS OF PROFIT OR LOSS

FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2021 AND 2020

(Amounts in Philippine Pesos)

See Notes to Financial Statements.
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Notes 2021 2020

NET PROFIT  17,039,384  P            22,237,259  P           

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Item that will be reclassified to profit or loss -

Fair value gain (loss) of investment securities at fair value

through other comprehensive income - net 12 7,943,520 )(                 10,510,114               

Tax expense 24 739,985 )(                   115,582 )(                   

8,683,505 )(                 10,394,532               

Item that will not be reclassified to profit or loss - 

Gain on remeasurements of post-employment

defined benefit plan 23  160,317                     418,333                    

Tax expense 24 19,162 )(                     125,500 )(                   

 141,155                     292,833                    

8,542,350 )(                 10,687,365               

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME  8,497,034  P             32,924,624  P           

STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2021 AND 2020

(Amounts in Philippine Pesos)

See Notes to Financial Statements.

DUMAGUETE CITY DEVELOPMENT BANK, INC. 
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  Notes  2021 2020

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Profit before tax  25,249,042  P           31,524,824  P                     

Adjustments for:

Interest received  104,310,674              116,374,358                        

Interest income 10, 11,

12, 13 85,121,897 )(              98,433,652 )(                         

Gain on sale of non-financial assets 14, 15 8,620,768 )(                2,901,837 )(                           

Interest paid 7,542,699 )(                13,293,288 )(                         

Interest expense 18  7,419,734                  12,780,482                         

Impairment losses - net 17  6,115,502                  1,895,699                           

Depreciation and amortization 14, 15, 16  5,397,112                  4,591,824                           

Gain on sale of investment securities at fair value

through other comprehensive income (FVOCI) 12  -   312,181 )(                              

Operating profit before working capital changes  47,206,700                52,226,229                         

Decrease (increase) in loans and other receivables 10,340,444 )(               60,497,290                         

Increase in other resources 1,648,844 )(                561,303 )(                              

Increase (decrease) in deposit liabilities 93,331,104 )(               76,352,672                         

Increase (decrease) in other liabilities  5,479,612                 945,876 )(                              

Net cash generated from (used in) operations 52,634,080 )(               187,569,012                        

Cash paid for income taxes 6,095,813 )(                9,770,976 )(                           

Net Cash From (Used in) Operating Activities 58,729,893 )(               177,798,036                        

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Acquisitions of investment securities at FVOCI 12 123,760,000 )(            42,000,000 )(                         

Proceeds from sale of investment securities at FVOCI 12  55,762,750                102,178,231                        

Proceeds from sale of non-financial assets 14, 15  28,757,158                6,988,149                           

Acquisitions of bank premises, furniture, fixtures and equipment 14 3,590,918 )(                2,858,132 )(                           

Proceeds from maturity of investment securities at amortized cost 11  304,229                     40,413,574                         

Acquisitions of computer software 16 167,102 )(                   1,008,200 )(                           

Net Cash From (Used in) Investing Activities 42,693,883 )(               103,713,622                        

CASH FLOW FROM A FINANCING ACTIVITY

Repayment of lease liabilities 14 458,659 )(                   431,137 )(                              

NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 101,882,435 )(             281,080,521                        

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT BEGINNING OF YEAR

Cash and other cash items  23,647,791                17,605,191                         

Due from Bangko Sentral ng Pilipinas (BSP)  51,698,440                55,326,955                         

Due from other banks  483,641,807              204,975,371                        

 558,988,038              277,907,517                        

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF YEAR

Cash and other cash items  25,206,211                23,647,791                         

Due from BSP  127,922,734              51,698,440                         

Due from other banks  303,976,658              483,641,807                        

 457,105,603  P          558,988,038  P                   

Supplemental Information on Non-Cash Investing Activities:

1) In 2021 and 2020, the Bank foreclosed real and other properties totalling to P10.92 million and P10.19 million, respectively, in settlement of certain

loan accounts (see Note 15).

2) In 2021, the Bank sold certain investment properties for P28.23 million (see Note 15). Of the total consideration, the Bank recorded sales contract

 receivable of P8.78 million.  The remaining balance was settled in cash.

3) In 2020, the Bank recognized right-of-use assets and lease liabilities amounting to P0.21 million (see Note 14).

DUMAGUETE CITY DEVELOPMENT BANK, INC.

STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2021 AND 2020

(Amounts in Philippine Pesos)
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DUMAGUETE CITY DEVELOPMENT BANK, INC. 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

DECEMBER 31, 2021 AND 2020 
 (Amounts in Philippine Pesos) 

 
 
 
1. CORPORATE INFORMATION 

 

 Incorporation and Operations 
 

Dumaguete City Development Bank, Inc. (the Bank) was incorporated in the Philippines 
on July 7, 1980.  The Bank operates as a private development bank as provided for under 
Republic Act (R.A.) No. 337 (The General Banking Act) and R.A. No. 4093 (The Private 
Development Banks’ Act) as amended.  It also engages in other banking related activities as 
authorized by the Bangko Sentral ng Pilipinas (BSP). 
 
The Bank’s registered office, which is also the principal place of business of its  
Head Office, is located at Dr. V. Locsin corner Cervantes Streets, Dumaguete City.  It has 
five branches which are located in Dumaguete City, Negros Oriental; Sibulan, Negros 
Oriental; Lapu-Lapu City, Cebu; Valencia, Bukidnon; and, Quezon, Bukidnon. 

 

 Approval of Financial Statements 
 

The financial statements of the Bank as at and for the year ended December 31, 2021 
(including the comparative financial statements as at and for the year ended December 31, 
2020) were authorized for issue by the Bank’s Board of Directors (BOD) on March 19, 
2022. 

 

 
2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

 
The significant accounting policies that have been used in the preparation of these financial 
statements are summarized below and in the succeeding pages.  These policies have been 
consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated. 

 
 Basis of Preparation of Financial Statements  

  
(a) Statement of Compliance with Philippine Financial Reporting Standards 

 
The financial statements of the Bank have been prepared in accordance with 
Philippine Financial Reporting Standards (PFRS).  PFRS are adopted by the Financial 
Reporting Standards Council (FRSC) from the pronouncements issued by the 
International Accounting Standards Board and approved by the Philippine Board of 
Accountancy. 

 
The financial statements have been prepared using the measurement bases specified 
by PFRS for each type of asset, liability, income and expense.  The measurement 
bases are more fully described in the accounting policies in the succeeding pages. 
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(b) Presentation of Financial Statements 
 
The financial statements are presented in accordance with Philippine Accounting 
Standard (PAS) 1, Presentation of Financial Statements.  The Bank presents statements of 
comprehensive income separate from the statements of profit or loss. 
   
The Bank presents a third statement of financial position as at the beginning of the 
preceding period when it applies an accounting policy retrospectively, or makes a 
retrospective restatement or reclassification of items that has a material effect on the 
information in the statement of financial position at the beginning of the preceding 
period.  The related notes to the third statement of financial position are not required 
to be disclosed.  

 
(c) Functional and Presentation Currency 

 
These financial statements are presented in Philippine pesos, the Bank’s functional 
and presentation currency, and all values represent absolute amounts except when 
otherwise indicated.  
 
Items included in the financial statements of the Bank are measured using its 
functional currency.  Functional currency is the currency of the primary economic 
environment in which the Bank operates.  

 

 Adoption of New and Amended PFRS  
 

(a) Effective in 2021 that are Relevant to the Bank  
 
The Bank adopted for the first time the following amendments to PFRS, which are 
mandatorily effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2021: 
 
  

 PFRS 9, PFRS 7, and 
 PFRS 16 (Amendments) : Interest Rate Benchmark Reform Phase 2  

Financial Instruments, Financial 
Instruments; Disclosure, Leases  

  
PFRS 16 (Amendments) : Leases – COVID 19 Related Rent 

Concessions beyond June 30, 2021 
 

Discussed below are the relevant information about these pronouncements. 
 

(i) PFRS 9 (Amendments), Financial Instruments, PFRS 7 (Amendments), 
Financial Instruments: Disclosures, and PFRS 16 (Amendments), Leases - 
Interest Rate Benchmark Reform Phase 2.   The amendments address issues 
that may affect financial reporting during the interest rate benchmark 
reform, including the effect of changes to contractual cash flows or 
hedging relationships resulting from the replacement of the London 
Interbank Offered Rate (LIBOR) with alternative benchmark rates.  The 
Phase 2 amendments have no impact to the Bank’s financial statements as 
the Bank did not have any financial instruments subject to LIBOR. 
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(ii) The Bank opted to early adopt the application of the amendments to 
PFRS 16, Leases – COVID-19-Related Rent Concessions beyond June 
30, 2021, which is effective from April 1, 2021.  The amendment extends 
for one year the use of practical expedient of not assessing whether rent 
concessions reducing payments up until June 30, 2022 occurring as a 
direct consequence of the COVID-19 pandemic are lease modifications 
and instead to account for those rent concessions as if they are not lease 
modifications.  The application of these amendments had no significant 
impact to the Bank’s financial statements as the Bank did not receive any 
rent concession from its lessors in 2021.    
 

(b) Effective Subsequent to 2021 but not Adopted Early 
 
There are pronouncements effective for annual periods subsequent to 2021,  
which are adopted by the FRSC.  Management will adopt the following relevant 
pronouncements in accordance with their transitional provisions; and, unless 
otherwise stated, none of these are expected to have significant impact on the Bank’s 
financial statements: 

 
(i) PAS 16 (Amendments), Property, Plant and Equipment – Proceeds Before 

Intended Use (effective from January 1, 2022)  
 

(ii) PAS 37 (Amendments), Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent 
Assets – Onerous Contracts – Cost of Fulfilling a Contract (effective from 
January 1, 2022)  

 

(iii) Annual Improvements to PFRS 2018-2020 Cycle.  Among the improvements, 
the following amendments, which are effective from January 1, 2022, are 
relevant to the Bank: 

 

 PFRS 9 (Amendments), Financial Instruments – Fees in the ’10 per cent’ Test for 
Derecognition of Liabilities.   
 

 Illustrative Examples Accompanying PFRS 16, Leases – Lease Incentives.   
 

(iv) PAS 1 (Amendments), Presentation of Financial Statements – Classification of 
Liabilities as Current or Non-current (effective from January 1, 2023).   

 
(v) PAS 1 (Amendments), Presentation of Financial Statements – Disclosure of 

Accounting Policies (effective from January 1, 2023) 
 

(vi) PAS 8 (Amendments), Accounting Estimates – Definition of Accounting 
Estimates (effective from January 1, 2023)  
 

(vii) PAS 12 (Amendments), Income Taxes – Deferred Tax Related to Assets and 
Liabilities Arising from a Single Transaction (effective from January 1, 2023) 
 

(viii) PFRS 10 (Amendments), Consolidated Financial Statements, and PAS 28 
(Amendments), Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures – Sale or 
Contribution of Assets Between an Investor and its Associates or Joint Venture 
(effective date deferred indefinitely)   
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 Financial Instruments 
 

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognized when the Bank becomes a party to 
the contractual terms of the financial instrument.   

 

(a) Financial Assets 
 
At initial recognition, the Bank measures a financial asset at its fair value plus or 
minus, in the case of a financial asset not at fair value through profit or loss (FVPL), 
transaction costs that are incremental or directly attributable to the acquisition or 
issue of the financial asset, such as fees and commissions.  Transaction costs of 
financial assets carried at FVPL are expensed outright in profit or loss.  Unless 
specifically indicated to apply to either year, the policies that follow apply to both 
years. 
 
(i) Classification, Measurement and Reclassification of Financial Assets 

 
The classification and measurement of financial assets is driven by the Bank’s 
business model for managing the financial assets and the contractual cash flow 
characteristics of the financial assets.  The classification and measurement of 
financial assets are described as follows: 

 
 Financial Assets at Amortized Cost 
 

Financial assets are measured at amortized cost if both of the following 
conditions are met: 
 

 the asset is held within the Bank’s business model whose objective is to hold 
financial assets in order to collect contractual cash flows (“hold to collect” or 
“HTC”); and, 
 

 the contractual terms of the instrument give rise, on specified dates, to cash 
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal 
amount outstanding. 

 
All financial assets meeting these criteria are measured initially at fair value plus 
transaction costs.  They are subsequently measured at amortized cost using the 
effective interest method, less any expected credit losses (ECL). 
 
Where the business model is to hold assets to collect contractual cash flows, the 
Bank assesses whether the financial instruments’ cash flows represent solely 
payments of principal and interests (SPPI).  In making this assessment, the Bank 
considers whether the contractual cash flows are consistent with a basic lending 
arrangement, i.e., interest includes only consideration for the time value of 
money, credit risk, other basic lending risks and a profit margin that is consistent 
with a basic lending arrangement [see Note 3.1(e)].   
 
Where the contractual terms introduce exposure to risk or volatility that are 
inconsistent with a basic lending arrangement, the related financial asset is 
classified and measured at FVPL.  The Bank’s financial assets at amortized cost 
are presented in the statement of financial position as Cash and Other Cash 
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Items, Due from BSP, Due from Other Banks, Investment Securities at 
Amortized Cost, and Loans and Other Receivables. 
 
For purposes of cash flows reporting and presentation, cash and cash equivalents 
include Cash and Other Cash Items, Due from BSP, and Due from Other Banks 
with original maturities of three months or less.   

 
 Financial Assets at Fair Value Through Other Comprehensive Income (FVOCI) 
 

The Bank accounts for financial assets at FVOCI if the assets meet the following 
conditions: 
 

 they are held under a business model whose objective is to hold to collect the 
associated cash flows and sell (“hold to collect and sell”); and, 
 

 the contractual terms of the financial assets give rise to cash flows that are 
SPPI on the principal amount outstanding. 
 

At initial recognition, the Bank can also make an irrevocable election  
(on an instrument-by-instrument basis) to designate equity investments as at 
FVOCI; however, such designation is not permitted if the equity investment is 
held by the Bank for trading or as mandatorily required to be classified as FVPL.  
The Bank has no equity investments as at the reporting periods. 
 
Financial assets at FVOCI are initially measured at fair value plus transaction 
costs.  Subsequently, they are measured at fair value, with no deduction for any 
disposal costs.  Gains and losses arising from changes in fair value, including  
the foreign exchange component, are recognized in other comprehensive 
income, net of any effects arising from income taxes, and are reported as part  
of Revaluation Reserves account in Equity.  When the asset is disposed of,  
the cumulative gain or loss previously recognized in the Revaluation Reserves 
account is not reclassified to profit or loss but is reclassified directly to Retained 
Earnings account, except for those debt securities classified as FVOCI wherein 
cumulative fair value gains or losses are recycled to profit or loss. 
 

(ii) Effective Interest Rate Method and Interest Income 
 

Interest income on financial assets measured at amortized cost and all  
interest-bearing debt financial assets classified as at FVOCI, is recognized  
using the effective interest rate method.  The effective interest rate is the rate that 
exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of the 
financial instrument or, when appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying 
amount of the financial asset. 
 
The effective interest rate is calculated by taking into account any discount or 
premium on acquisition, fees and costs that are an integral part of effective 
interest rate.  The Bank recognizes interest income using a rate of return that 
represents the best estimate of a constant rate of return over the expected  
life of the instrument; hence, it recognizes the effect of potentially different 
interest rates charged at various stages, and other characteristics of the product 
life cycle (including prepayments, penalty interest and charges). 
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If expectations regarding the cash flows on the financial asset are revised for 
reasons other than credit risk, the adjustment is booked as a positive or negative 
adjustment to the carrying amount of the asset with an increase or decrease in 
interest income.   
 
The Bank calculates interest income by applying the effective interest rate to the 
gross carrying amount of the financial assets, except for those that are 
subsequently identified as credit-impaired and or are purchased or originated 
credit-impaired assets.   
 
For financial assets that have become credit-impaired subsequent to initial 
recognition, interest income is calculated by applying the effective interest rate to 
the net carrying amount of the financial assets (after deduction of the loss 
allowance).  If the asset is no longer credit-impaired, the calculation of interest 
income reverts to gross basis.  For financial assets that were credit-impaired on 
initial recognition, interest income is calculated by applying a credit-adjusted 
effective interest rate to the amortized cost of the asset.  The calculation of 
interest income does not revert to a gross basis even if the credit risk of the asset 
subsequently improves 

 
When calculating the effective interest rate for financial instruments other than 
purchased or originated credit-impaired assets, the Bank estimates future cash 
flows considering all contractual terms of the financial instrument, but not ECL.  
For purchased or originated credit-impaired financial assets, a credit-adjusted 
effective interest rate is calculated using estimated future cash flows including 
ECL. 
The calculation of the effective interest rate includes transaction costs and fees 
and points paid or received that are an integral part of the effective interest rate.  
Transaction costs include incremental costs that are directly attributable to the 
acquisition or issue of a financial asset. 
 
The interest earned is recognized as part of Interest Income account in the 
statement of profit or loss. 

 
(iii) Impairment of Financial Assets 

 
The Bank assesses its ECL on a forward-looking basis associated with its 
financial assets at amortized cost and debt instruments measured at FVOCI.  
Recognition of credit losses is no longer dependent on the Bank’s identification 
of a credit loss event.  
 
Instead, the Bank considers a broader range of information in assessing  
credit risk and measuring expected credit losses, including past events,  
current conditions, reasonable and supportable forecasts that affect collectability 
of the future cash flows of the financial assets. 
 
The Bank measures loss allowances at an amount equal to lifetime ECL, except 
for the following financial instruments for which they are measured as 12-month 
ECL: 
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 all current loan accounts, except restructured loans; 

 debt securities that are identified to have ‘low credit risk’ at the reporting 
date; and, 

 other financial instruments on which credit risk has not increased 
significantly since their initial recognition. 

 
For these financial instruments, the allowance for credit losses is based on  
12-month ECL associated with the probability of default of a financial 
instrument in the next 12 months (referred to as ‘Stage 1’ financial instruments).   

 
Unless there has been a significant increase in credit risk subsequent to the initial 
recognition of the financial asset, a lifetime ECL (which are the expected 
shortfalls in contractual cash flows, considering the potential for default at any 
point during the life of the financial asset) will be recognized (referred to as 
‘Stage 2’ financial instruments).   
 
‘Stage 2’ financial instruments also include the following characteristics: 

 

 performing accounts but with occurrence of loss event; 

 accounts with missed payments but not yet classified as defaulted; 

 current restructured loans; and,  

 current loans that are rated as Especially Mentioned based on the Internal 
Credit Risk Rating System (ICRRS) of the Bank. 

 
A lifetime ECL shall be recognized for ‘Stage 3’ financial instruments, which 
include financial instruments that are subsequently credit-impaired, purchased or 
originated credit-impaired assets, and those classified as Past Due and Items in 
Litigation based on the ECL methodology of the Bank. 
 
The Bank’s definition of credit risk and information on how credit risk is 
mitigated by the Bank are disclosed in Note 4.2. 
 
Measurement of ECL 

 
The key elements used in the calculation of ECL are as follows: 

 

 Probability of default (PD) – This is a quantitative measure of default risk based 
on the general credit worthiness of the borrower or issuer.  It is the 
likelihood of a borrower defaulting on its financial obligation (see Note 4.2) 
over a given time horizon, either over the next 12 months (12-month PD) or 
over the remaining lifetime (lifetime PD) of the obligation.  A related 
measurement of default is the survival rate, which is the chance that the loan 
will be repaid.   

 

 Loss given default (LGD) – It is an estimate of loss arising in case where a 
default occurs at a given time (either over the next 12 months or 12-month 
LGD, or over the remaining lifetime or lifetime LGD).  It is based on the 
difference between the contractual cash flows of a financial instrument due 
from a counterparty and those that the Bank would expect to receive, 
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including the realization of any collateral.  It is presented as a percentage  
loss per unit of exposure at the time of default. 

 

 Exposure at default (EAD) – It represents the gross carrying amount of the 
financial instruments subject to the impairment calculation; hence, this is the 
amount that the Bank expects to be owed at the time of default over the next 
12 months (12-month EAD) or over the remaining lifetime (lifetime EAD).  
In case of a loan commitment, the Bank shall include the undrawn balance 
(up to the current contractual limit) at the time of default should it occur. 

 
The measurement of the ECL reflects: (i) an unbiased and probability-weighted 
amount that is determined by evaluating a range of possible outcomes; (ii) the 
time value of money; and, (iii) reasonable and supportable information that is 
available without undue cost or effort at the reporting date about past events, 
current conditions and forecasts of future economic conditions.   
 
Measurement of the ECL is determined by a probability-weighted estimate of 
credit losses over the expected life of the financial instrument. 
 
The Bank’s detailed ECL measurement, as determined by the management, is 
disclosed in Note 4.2. 

 
(iv) Derecognition of Financial Assets 
 

(i) Modification of Loans 
 

When the Bank derecognizes a financial asset through renegotiation or 
modification of contractual cash flows of loans to customers, the Bank 
assesses whether or not the new terms are substantially different to the 
original terms.  The Bank considers, among others: 
 
• If the borrower is in financial difficulty, whether the modification merely 

reduces the contractual cash flows to amounts the borrower is expected 
to be able to pay;  

• Whether any substantial new terms are introduced that will affect the risk 
profile of the loan;  

• Significant extension of the loan term when the borrower is not in 
financial difficulty; 

• Significant change in the interest rate; 
• Change in the currency the loan is denominated in; and/or,  
• Insertion of collateral, other security or credit enhancements that will 

significantly affect the credit risk associated with the loan. 
 

If the terms are substantially different, the Bank derecognizes the  
financial asset and recognizes a “new” asset at fair value, and recalculates  
a new effective interest rate for the asset.  The date of renegotiation is 
consequently considered to be the date of initial recognition for impairment 
calculation, including for the purpose of determining whether a significant 
increase in credit risk has occurred.  However, the Bank also assesses whether 
the new financial asset recognized is deemed to be credit-impaired at initial 
recognition, especially in circumstances where the renegotiation was driven 
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by the debtor being unable to make the originally agreed payments.  
Differences in the carrying amount are as gain or loss on derecognition of 
financial assets in profit or loss.   
 
As to the impact on ECL measurement, the expected fair value of the  
“new” asset is treated as the final cash flow from the existing financial asset 
at the date of derecognition.  Such amount is included in the calculation of 
cash shortfalls from the existing financial asset that are discounted from the 
expected date of derecognition to the reporting date using the original 
effective interest rate of the existing financial asset. 
 
If the terms are not substantially different, the renegotiation or modification 
does not result in derecognition, and the Bank recalculates the gross carrying 
amount based on the revised cash flows of the financial asset and recognizes 
a modification gain or loss in profit or loss.  The new gross carrying amount 
is recalculated by discounting the modified cash flows of the original effective 
interest rate (or credit-adjusted effective interest rate for purchased or 
originated credit-impaired financial assets).  As to the impact on ECL 
measurement, the derecognition of the existing financial asset will result in 
the expected cash flows arising from the modified financial asset to be 
included in the calculation of cash shortfalls from the existing financial asset. 

 
(ii) Derecognition of Financial Assets Other than Through Modification  

 
A financial asset (or where applicable, a part of a financial asset or part of  
a group of financial assets) is derecognized when the contractual rights to 
receive cash flows from the financial instruments expire, or when the 
financial assets and all substantial risks and rewards of ownership have been 
transferred to another party.  If the Bank neither transfers nor retains 
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership and continues to control 
the transferred asset, the Bank recognizes its retained interest in the asset and 
an associated liability for amounts it may have to pay.   
 
If the Bank retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership  
of a transferred financial asset, the Bank continues to recognize the financial 
asset and a collateralized borrowing for the proceeds received. 

 

(b) Financial Liabilities 
 

Financial liabilities, which include deposit liabilities and other liabilities, except 
government-related liabilities and post-employment defined benefit liability, are 
recognized when the Bank becomes a party to the contractual terms of the 
instrument.  All interest-related charges incurred on a financial liability are recognized 
as Interest Expense in the statement of profit or loss.  
 
Deposit liabilities are recognized initially at their fair values and subsequently 
measured at amortized cost, using effective interest method for those with maturities 
beyond one year, less settlement payments. 
 
Other liabilities are recognized initially at their fair value and subsequently measured 
at amortized cost less settlement payments. 
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Financial liabilities are derecognized from the statement of financial position only 
when the obligations are extinguished either through discharge, cancellation or 
expiration.  The difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability 
derecognized and the consideration paid or payable is recognized in profit or loss. 
 

(c) Offsetting Financial Instruments 
 

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the resulting net amount is reported in 
the statement of financial position when there is a legally enforceable right to set off 
the recognized amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or realize 
the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.  The right of set-off must be available 
at the end of the reporting period, that is, it is not contingent on future event.  It 
must also be enforceable in the normal course of business, in the event of default, 
and in the event of  
 
insolvency or bankruptcy; and must be legally enforceable for both entity and all 
counterparties to the financial instruments. 

 

 Bank Premises, Furniture, Fixtures and Equipment 
 

Land is stated at cost less impairment losses.  Bank premises, furniture, fixtures and 
equipment are carried at acquisition cost less accumulated depreciation and amortization, 
and any impairment in value.  

 
The cost of an asset comprises its purchase price and directly attributable costs of bringing 
the asset to working condition for its intended use.  Expenditures for additions, major 
improvements and renewals are capitalized while expenditures for repairs and maintenance 
are charged to expense as incurred.   

 
Depreciation is computed on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of the 
depreciable assets as follows: 

 
   Buildings and improvements   40 years 
   Furniture, fixtures and equipment  2 – 10 years 
 
Leasehold improvements are amortized over the term of the lease or the estimated useful 
lives of the improvements of 12 years, whichever is shorter. 

 
Construction in progress represents properties under construction and is stated at cost.  
The account is not depreciated until such time that the assets are completed and available 
for use.  
 
An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount  
if the asset’s carrying amount is greater than its estimated recoverable amount  
(see Note 2.14). 

 
The residual values, estimated useful lives and method of depreciation and amortization of 
bank premises, furniture, fixtures and equipment are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, 
at the end of each reporting period. 
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An item of bank premises, furniture, fixtures and equipment, including the related 
accumulated depreciation and any impairment loss, is derecognized upon disposal  
or when no future economic benefits are expected to arise from the continued use  
of the asset.  Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the asset (calculated as the 
difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the item) is 
included in profit or loss in the year the item is derecognized. 

 

 Investment Properties 
 

Investment properties include parcels of land and buildings and related improvements 
acquired by the Bank, in settlement of loans from defaulting borrowers through 
foreclosure or dacion in payment, not held for sale in the next 12 months nor used in the 
rendering of services or for administrative purposes. 
Investment properties are stated at cost, less accumulated depreciation and any impairment 
losses (see Note 2.14).  The cost of an investment property comprises its acquisition price 
and directly attributable costs incurred such as legal fees, transfer taxes and other 
transaction costs. 
 
Investment properties, except land, are depreciated over a period of five to ten years. 
Depreciation and impairment loss are recognized in the same manner as in bank premises, 
furniture, fixtures and equipment. 
 
Transfers from other accounts (such as bank premises, furniture, fixtures and equipment) 
are made to investment properties when and only when, there is a change in use, evidenced 
by ending of owner-occupation or holding the property for capital appreciation, while 
transfers from investment properties are made when, and only when, there is a change in 
use, evidenced by commencement of owner-occupation. Direct operating expenses related 
to investment properties, such as repairs and maintenance and real estate taxes, are 
normally charged against current operations in the period in which these costs are incurred. 
 
Investment properties, including the related accumulated depreciation and any impairment 
losses, derecognized upon disposal and no future economic benefit is expected from its 
disposal.  Any gain or loss on the retirement or disposal of investment properties is 
recognized in profit or loss as part of Gain on sale of non-financial assets under Other 
Income in the statement of profit or loss, in the year of retirement or disposal. 
 

 Computer Software 
 

The Bank’s computer software used for administration purposes, is included as part of 
Other Resources and is accounted for under the cost model.  The cost of the asset is the 
amount of cash or cash equivalents paid or the fair value of the other considerations given 
up to acquire an asset at the time of its acquisition.  
 
Acquired computer software are capitalized on the basis of the costs incurred to acquire 
and install the specific software.  These costs are amortized on a straight-line bases over 
the estimated useful lives of three years.  Costs associated with maintaining computer 
software are expensed as incurred.  Computer software is subject to impairment testing as 
described in Note 2.14 and is presented as part of the Other Resources account in the 
statement of financial position (see Note 16). 
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When the computer software is disposed of, the gain or loss on disposal is determined as 
difference between the proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is recognized in 
profit or loss. 

 
 Other Resources 

 
Other resources pertain to other assets controlled by the Bank as a result of past events.  
They are recognized in the financial statements when it is probable that the future 
economic benefits will flow to the Bank and the asset has a cost or value that can be 
measured reliably. 

 

 Provisions and Contingencies 
 

Provisions are recognized when present obligations will probably lead to an outflow of 
economic resources and they can be estimated reliably even if the timing or amount of the 
outflow may still be uncertain.  A present obligation arises from the presence of a legal or 
constructive commitment that has resulted from past events, for example, legal disputes or 
onerous contracts. 
 
Provisions are measured at the estimated expenditure required to settle the present 
obligation, based on the most reliable evidence available at the end of the reporting period, 
including the risks and uncertainties associated with the present obligation.  Where there 
are a number of similar obligations, the likelihood that an outflow will be required in 
settlement is determined by considering the class of obligations as a whole.   

 
When time value of money is material, long-term provisions are discounted to their present 
values using a pretax rate that reflects market assessments and the risks specific to the 
obligation.  The increase in the provision due to passage of time is recognized as interest 
expense.  Provisions are reviewed at the end of each reporting period and adjusted to 
reflect the current best estimate. 
 
In those cases, where the possible outflow of economic resource as a result of present 
obligations is considered improbable or remote, or the amount to be provided for cannot 
be measured reliably, no liability is recognized in the financial statements.  Similarly, 
possible inflows of economic benefits to the Bank that do not yet meet the recognition 
criteria of an asset are considered contingent assets, hence, are not recognized in the 
financial statements.  
 
On the other hand, any reimbursement that the Bank can be virtually certain to collect 
from a third party with respect to the obligation is recognized as a separate asset not 
exceeding the amount of the related provision. 
 

 Capital Funds 
 

Capital stock represents the nominal value of common shares that have been issued. 
 
Additional paid-in capital includes any premium received on the issuance of capital stock.  
Any transaction costs associated with the issuance of shares are deducted from additional 
paid-in capital. 
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Revaluation reserves consist of: 
 
(a) Net unrealized fair value gains or losses arising from remeasurements of financial 

assets at FVOCI and, 
 
(b) Reserves on remeasurements of post-employment defined benefit plan comprising of 

net accumulated actuarial gains or losses arising from experience adjustments and 
other changes in actuarial assumptions, and actual return on plan assets (excluding 
account included in net interest). 

 
Appropriated retained earnings consist of general loan loss reserve, which pertains  
to the accumulated amount of appropriation from Surplus made by the Bank arising  
from the excess of the one-percent general loan loss provisions for outstanding loans  
as required by the BSP under Circular No. 1011, Guidelines on the Adoption of PFRS 9 
(Circular No. 1011) over the computed allowance for ECL. 
 
Unappropriated retained earnings includes all current and prior period results of operations 
as disclosed in the statement of profit or loss, less appropriated surplus and dividends 
declared. 
 

 Related Party Relationships and Transactions 
 
Related party transactions are transfers of resources, services or obligations between the 
Bank and its related parties, regardless whether a price is charged.  

 
Parties are considered to be related if one party has the ability to control the other party or 
exercise significant influence over the other party in making financial and operating 
decisions.  These parties include: (a) individuals owning, directly or indirectly through one 
or more intermediaries, control or are controlled by, or under common control with the 
Bank; (b) associates; (c) individuals owning, directly or indirectly, an interest in the voting 
power of the Bank that gives them significant influence over the Bank and close members 
of the family of any such individual; and (d) the Bank’s funded retirement plan.   
 
In considering each possible related party relationship, attention is directed to the 
substance of the relationship and not merely on the legal form. 

 

 Revenue and Expense Recognition  
 

Revenue arises mainly as interest income earned from loans and receivables, from due 
from other banks, and from Bank’s investments classified under financial assets at FVOCI 
and at amortized cost.  
 
Interest income and expense are recognized in profit or loss using the effective interest 
method under PFRS 9 (see Note 2.3).  Fees and commission income and expense that are 
integral to the effective interest rate on a financial asset or financial liability are included in 
the effective interest rate.   
 
Revenue is recognized when (or as) the Bank satisfies a performance obligation by 
transferring control of the promised services to the customer.  A contract with a customer 
that results in a recognized financial instrument in the Bank’s financial statements may be 
partially within the scope of PFRS 9 and partially within the scope of PFRS 15, Revenue from 
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Contracts with Customers.  In such case, the Bank first applies PFRS 9 to separate and 
measure the part of the contract that is in-scope of PFRS 9, and then applies PFRS 15 to 
the residual part of the contract. 
 
Expenses and costs, if any, are recognized in profit or loss upon utilization of the assets or 
services or at the date these are incurred.  All finance costs are reported in profit or loss on 
accrual basis. 
The Bank assesses its revenue arrangements against specific criteria in order to determine if 
it is acting as a principal or agent.  The Bank concluded that it is acting as a principal in all 
of its revenue arrangements. 
 
For revenues arising from various banking services which are to be accounted for under 
PFRS 15, the following provides information about the nature and timing of satisfaction of 
performance obligations in contracts with customers, including significant payment terms, 
and the related revenue recognition policies: 

 
(a) Service charges, fees and commissions – Income is generally recognized at a point in time 

upon completion of certain transactions subject to service charges (e.g., deposit 
accounts falling below the required maintaining balance, withdrawal on accounts with 
insufficient funds, voluntary closure of accounts).  This is included as part of Other 
Income in the statement of profit or loss. 
 

(b) Gain on sale of non-financial assets – Income is recognized when control of the  
assets is transferred to the buyer.  This is included as part of Other Income in  
the statement of profit or loss. 

 
For other income outside the scope of PFRS 15, the following provides information about 
the nature and the related revenue recognition policies: 
 
(a) Rent – Income arising from operating leases continues to be recognized as income in 

profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the lease term under PFRS 16  
[see Note 2.12(b)]. 
 

(b) Gain on sale of investment securities at FVOCI – These are recognized when the 
ownership of the securities is transferred to the buyer and is computed as the 
difference between the selling price and the carrying amount of the securities 
disposed of.  These also include gains and losses as a result of the mark-to-market 
valuation of investment securities classified as FVOCI. 

 
(c) Recovery on charged-off assets – Income arising from collections on accounts or 

recoveries from impairment of items previously written off are recognized in  
the year of recovery.  This is included in profit or loss as part of Miscellaneous 
Income.   

 
Costs and expenses are recognized in profit or loss upon utilization of the assets and/or 
services or at the date those are incurred.  All finance costs are reported in profit or loss on 
accrual basis. 
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 Leases 
 

The Bank accounts for its leases as follows: 
  
(a) Bank as Lessee  

 
The Bank considers whether a contract is, or contains, a lease.  A lease is  
defined as a contract, or part of a contract, that conveys the right to use an asset (the 
underlying asset) for a period of time in exchange for consideration.  To apply this 
definition, the Bank assesses whether the contract meets three key evaluations which 
are whether: 
 

 the contract contains an identified asset, which is either explicitly identified in the 
contract or implicitly specified by being identified at the time the asset is made 
available to the Bank; 

 

 the Bank has the right to obtain substantially all of the economic benefits from 
use of the identified asset throughout the period of use, considering its rights 
within the defined scope of the contract; and, 

 

 the Bank has the right to direct the use of the identified asset throughout the 
period of use.  The Bank assesses whether it has the right to direct ‘how and for 
what purpose’ the asset is used throughout the period of use. 

 
At lease commencement date, the Bank recognizes a right-of-use asset and a lease 
liability.  The right-of-use asset is measured at cost, which is made up of the initial 
measurement of the lease liability, any initial direct costs incurred by the Bank, an 
estimate of any costs to dismantle and remove the asset at the end of the lease, and 
any lease payments made in advance of the lease commencement date  
(net of any incentives received).   
 
Subsequently, the Bank depreciates the right-of-use asset on a straight-line basis from 
the lease commencement date over the useful life of the right-of-use asset  
or the term of the lease, whichever is shorter.  The Bank also assesses the  
right-of-use asset for impairment when such indicators exist (see Note 2.14).   
 
On the other hand, the Bank measures the lease liability at the present value of the 
lease payments unpaid at the commencement date, discounted using the interest rate 
implicit in the lease if that rate is readily available or the Bank’s incremental 
borrowing rate.  Lease payments included in the measurement of lease liability are 
made up of fixed payments (including those determined to be fixed in substance) less 
lease incentives receivable, if any, variable lease payments based on an index or rate, 
amounts expected to be payable under a residual value guarantee, and payments 
arising from options (either renewal or termination) reasonably certain to be 
exercised.   
 
Subsequent to initial measurement, the liability will be reduced for payments  
made and increased for interest.  It is remeasured to reflect any reassessment or 
modification, or if there are changes in in-substance fixed payments.   
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When the lease liability is remeasured, the corresponding adjustment is reflected  
in the right-of-use asset, or to profit and loss if the right-of-use asset is already 
reduced to zero.  
 
The Bank has elected to account for any short-term leases (less than 12 months) 
using the practical expedients.  Instead of recognizing a right-of-use asset and lease 
liability, the lease payments in relation to these are recognized as an expense in profit 
or loss on a straight-line basis over the lease term. 
 
The corresponding right-of-use assets and lease liabilities have been presented as part 
of Bank Premises, Furniture and Fixtures and of Other Liabilities, respectively, in the 
statement of financial position. 

 
(b) Bank as Lessor  

 
Leases which do not transfer to the lessee substantially all the risks and benefits  
of ownership of the asset are classified as operating leases.  Lease income from 
operating leases is recognized as income in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over 
the lease term. 
 
The Bank determines whether an arrangement is, or contains, a lease based on the 
substance of the arrangement.  It makes an assessment of whether the fulfillment of 
the arrangement is dependent on the use of a specific asset or assets and the 
arrangement conveys a right to use the asset. 

 

 Foreign Currency Transactions and Translation 
 

The accounting records of the Bank are maintained in Philippine pesos.  Foreign currency 
transactions during the year are translated into the functional currency at exchange rates 
which approximate those prevailing on transaction dates. 
 
Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of foreign currency 
denominated transactions and from the translation at year-end exchange rates of monetary 
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are recognized in profit or loss. 

 
 Impairment of Non-financial Assets 

 
The Bank’s premises, furniture, fixtures and equipment (including right-of-use assets), 
investment properties, computer software (presented as part of Other Resources in the 
statement of financial position), and other non-financial assets are subject to impairment 
testing whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amounts 
may not be recoverable. 
 
For purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which 
there are separately identifiable cash flows (cash-generating units).  As a result, assets are 
tested for impairment either individually or at the cash-generating unit level.   
 
An impairment loss is recognized for the amount by which the asset’s or cash-generating 
unit’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the 
higher of its fair value, reflecting market conditions less costs to sell and its value in use, 
based on an internal discounted cash flow evaluation.  
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In determining value in use, management estimates the expected future cash flows from 
each cash-generating unit and determines the suitable interest rate in order to calculate  
the present value of those cash flows.  The data used for impairment testing procedures are 
directly linked to the Bank’s latest approved budget, adjusted as necessary to exclude the 
effects of asset enhancements.  Discount factors are determined individually for each cash-
generating unit and reflect management’s assessment of respective risk profiles, such as 
market and asset-specific risk factors. 
  
All assets are subsequently reassessed for indications that an impairment loss previously 
recognized may no longer exist.  An impairment loss is reversed if the asset’s or cash 
generating unit’s recoverable amount exceeds its carrying amount. 

 

 Employee Benefits 
 

The Bank provides post-employment benefits to employees through a defined benefit plan 
and defined contribution plans, and other employee benefits which are recognized as 
follows: 

 
(a) Post-employment Defined Benefit Plan 

 
A defined benefit plan is a post-employment plan that defines an amount of  
post-employment benefit that an employee will receive on retirement, usually 
dependent on one or more factors such as age, years of service and salary.  The legal 
obligation for any benefits from this kind of post-employment plan remains with the 
Bank, even if plan assets for funding the defined benefit plan have been acquired.   
 
Plan assets may include assets specifically designated to a long-term benefit fund, as 
well as qualifying insurance policies.  The Bank’s defined benefit post-employment 
plan covers all regular full-time employees.  The post-employment plan is tax-
qualified, noncontributory and administered by a trustee bank. 
 
The liability recognized in the statement of financial position for a defined benefit 
plan is the present value of the defined benefit obligation at the end of the reporting 
period less the fair value of plan assets.  The defined benefit obligation is calculated 
annually by independent actuaries using the projected unit credit method. 
  
The present value of the defined benefit obligation is determined by discounting  
the estimated future cash outflows using a discount rate derived from the interest 
rates of a zero coupon government bond [using the reference rates published by 
Bloomberg using its valuation technology, Bloomberg Valuation (BVAL)], that are 
denominated in the currency in which the benefits will be paid and that have terms to 
maturity approximating to the terms of the related post-employment liability.  BVAL 
provides evaluated prices that are based on market observations from contributed 
sources. 
 
Remeasurements, comprising of actuarial gains and losses arising from experience 
adjustments and changes in actuarial assumptions and the return on plan assets 
(excluding amounts included in net interest) are reflected immediately in the  
 
statement of financial position with a charge or credit recognized in other 
comprehensive income in the period in which they arise. 
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Net interest is calculated by applying the discount rate at the beginning of the period, 
unless there is a plan amendment, curtailment or settlement during the reporting 
period.  The calculation takes into account any changes in the net defined benefit 
liability or asset during the period as a result of contributions to the plan or benefit 
payments.  Net interest expense or income is reported as part of Other Expenses 
under Interest expense on post-employment defined benefit obligation or as part of 
Other Income under Interest income on post-employment defined benefit plan, 
respectively, in the statement of profit or loss.  Past-service costs are recognized 
immediately in profit or loss in the period of a plan amendment and curtailment. 

 
(b) Post-employment Defined Contribution Plan 

 
A defined contribution plan is a post-employment plan under which the Bank pays 
fixed contributions into an independent entity (i.e., Social Security System).  The 
Bank has no legal or constructive obligations to pay further contributions after 
payment of the fixed contribution.  The contributions recognized in respect of 
defined contribution plans are expensed as they fall due.  Liabilities and assets may be 
recognized if underpayment or prepayment has occurred. 

 
(c) Termination Benefits 

 
Termination benefits are payable when employment is terminated by the Bank before 
the normal retirement date, or whenever an employee accepts voluntary redundancy 
in exchange for these benefits.  The Bank recognizes termination benefits at the 
earlier of when it can no longer withdraw the offer of such benefits and when it 
recognizes costs for a restructuring that is within the scope of PAS 37 and involves 
the payment of termination benefits.  In the case of an offer made to encourage 
voluntary redundancy, the termination benefits are measured based on the number of 
employees expected to accept the offer.  Benefits falling due more than 12 months 
after the reporting period are discounted to their present value. 
 

(d) Compensated Absences 
 

Compensated absences are recognized for the number of paid leave days (including 
holiday entitlement) remaining at the end of the reporting period.  They are included 
in Other Liabilities account in the statement of financial position at the undiscounted 
amount that the Bank expects to pay as a result of the unused entitlement. 

 
(e) Bonus Plans 

 
The Bank recognizes a liability and an expense for bonuses, based on a formula  
that takes into consideration the profit attributable to the Bank’s shareholders  
after certain adjustments.  The Bank recognizes a provision where it is contractually 
obliged to pay the benefits, or where there is a past practice that has created a 
constructive obligation. 
 

 Income Taxes 
 

Tax expense recognized in profit or loss comprises the sum of current tax and deferred tax 
not recognized in other comprehensive income or directly in capital funds, if any. 
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Current tax assets or liabilities comprise those claims from, or obligations to, fiscal 
authorities relating to the current or prior reporting period, that are uncollected or unpaid 
at the end of the reporting period.  They are calculated using the tax rates and tax laws 
applicable to the fiscal periods to which they relate, based on the taxable profit for the year.  
All changes to current tax assets or liabilities are recognized as a component of tax expense 
in profit or loss. 

 
Deferred tax is accounted for using the liability method, on temporary differences at the 
end of the reporting period between the tax base of assets and liabilities and their carrying 
amounts for financial reporting purposes.  Under the liability method, with certain 
exceptions, deferred tax liabilities are recognized for all taxable temporary differences and 
deferred tax assets are recognized for all deductible temporary differences and the 
carryforward of unused tax losses and unused tax credits to the extent that it is probable 
that taxable profit will be available against which the deductible temporary differences can 
be utilized.  Previously unrecognized deferred tax assets are reassessed at the end of each 
reporting period and are recognized to the extent that it has become probable that future 
taxable profit will be available to allow such deferred tax assets to be recovered.  

 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in 
the period when the asset is realized or the liability is settled provided such tax rates have 
been enacted or substantively enacted at the end of the reporting period. 
 
The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each reporting period 
and reduced to the extent that it is probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to 
allow all or part of the deferred tax assets to be utilized. 
 
The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax consequences that 
would follow from the manner in which the Bank expects, at the end of the reporting 
period, to recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.   
 
Most changes in deferred tax assets or liabilities are recognized as a component of tax 
expense in profit or loss, except to the extent that it relates to items recognized in other 
comprehensive income or directly in capital funds.  In this case, the tax is also recognized 
in other comprehensive income or directly in capital funds, respectively. 
 
Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if the Bank has a legally 
enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current tax liabilities and the deferred 
taxes relate to the same entity and the same taxation authority. 
 

 Earnings Per Share 
 
Basic earnings per share (EPS) is computed by dividing the net profit attributable to 
common shareholders of the Bank by the weighted number of common shares issued and 
outstanding, after giving retroactive effect to any stock dividends, stock split or reverse 
stock split declared during the current period. 
 
Diluted EPS is also computed by dividing the net profit by the weighted average number 
of ordinary shares outstanding.  However, net profit attributable to common shares and 
the weighted average number of common shares outstanding are adjusted to reflect the 
effects of potentially dilutive shares.  Currently, the Bank does not have potentially dilutive 
shares outstanding, hence, the diluted EPS is equal to the basic EPS. 
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 Events After the End of the Reporting Period 
 
Any post-year-end event that provides additional information about the Bank’s financial 
position at the end of the reporting period (adjusting event) is reflected in the financial 
statements.  Post-year-end events that are not adjusting events, if any, are disclosed when 
material to the financial statements. 

 
 

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND ESTIMATES 

 
The preparation of Bank’s financial statements in accordance with PFRS requires 
management to make judgments and estimates that affect the amounts reported in the 
financial statements and related notes.  Judgments and estimates are continually evaluated 
and are based on historical experience and other factors, including expectations of future 
events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.  Actual results may 
ultimately differ from these estimates.  

 

 Critical Management Judgments in Applying Accounting Policies 
 

In the process of applying the Bank’s accounting policies, management has made the 
following judgments, apart from those involving estimation, which have the most 
significant effect on the amounts recognized in the financial statements: 
 
(a) Application of ECL to Financial Assets at FVOCI and at Amortized Cost 

 
The Bank uses external benchmarking and historical loss rates to calculate ECL for 
all debt instruments carried at FVOCI and amortized cost as well as loan 
commitments.  The allowance for impairment is based on the ECLs associated with 
the probability of default of a financial instrument in the next 12 months, unless 
there has been a significant increase in credit risk since origination of the financial 
instrument, in such case, a lifetime ECL for the instrument is recognized.  This is 
where significant management judgment is required. 
 
The Bank has established a policy to perform an assessment, at the end of each 
reporting period, whether a financial instrument’s credit risk has significantly 
increased since initial recognition, by considering the change in the risk of default 
occurring over the remaining life of the financial instrument. 

 
(b) Determination of Timing of Satisfaction of Performance Obligations 

 
(i) Servicing of Loans 

 
The Bank determines that its income from servicing of loans shall be recognized 
at a point in time.  In making its judgment, the Bank considers the timing of 
receipt and consumption of benefits provided by the Bank to the borrowers, 
which both transpire upon the release of the loan proceeds.  
 

(ii) Sale of Non-financial assets 
 
The Bank determines that its gain from sale of non-financial assets shall be 
recognized at a point in time when the control of the assets have passed to the 
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customer, i.e., generally when the customer has acknowledged delivery of the 
assets. 

 
(c) Determination of Lease Term of Contracts with Renewal and Termination Options 
 

In determining the lease term, management considers all relevant factors and 
circumstances that create an economic incentive to exercise a renewal option  
or not exercise a termination option.  Renewal options and/or periods after 
termination options are only included in the lease term if the lease is reasonably 
certain to be extended or not terminated. 
 
For leases of certain parcel of land and building premises, the factors that are 
normally the most relevant are (a) if there are significant penalties should the  
Bank pre-terminate the contract, and (b) if any leasehold improvements are expected 
to have a significant remaining value, the Bank is reasonably certain to extend and 
not to terminate the lease contract.  The Bank also considers other factors including 
historical lease durations and the costs and business disruption required to replace 
the leased asset. 
 
The lease term is reassessed if an option is actually exercised or not exercised or the 
Bank becomes obliged to exercise or not exercise it.  The assessment of reasonable 
certainty is only revised if a significant event or a significant change in circumstances 
occurs, which affects this assessment, and that is within the control of the Bank. 

 
(d) Distinction between Operating and Finance Leases where the Bank is the Lessor 

 
The Bank has entered into various lease agreements as a lessor.  Critical judgment 
was exercised by management to distinguish each lease agreement as a lessor either 
an operating or a finance lease by looking at the transfer or retention  
of significant risk and rewards of ownership of the properties covered by the 
agreements.  Failure to make the right judgment will result in either overstatement or 
understatement of assets and liabilities. 
 
Management has determined that all of its agreements qualify under operating leases 
[see Note 2.12(b)]. 

 
(e) Evaluation of Business Model Applied in Managing Financial Instruments 

 
The Bank manages its financial assets based on business models that maintain 
adequate level of financial assets to match its expected cash outflows, largely its core 
deposit funding arising from customers’ withdrawals and continuing loan 
disbursements to borrowers, while maintaining a strategic portfolio of financial assets 
for trading activities consistent with its risk appetite. 
 
The Bank developed business models which reflect how it manages its portfolio of 
financial instruments.  These business models need not be assessed at entity level or 
as a whole but shall be applied at the level of a portfolio of financial instruments (i.e., 
group of financial instruments that are managed together by the Bank) and not on an 
instrument-by-instrument basis (i.e., not based on intention or specific characteristics 
of individual financial instrument). 
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In determining the classification of a financial instrument, the Bank evaluates  
in which business model a financial instrument or a portfolio of financial instruments 
belong to taking into consideration the objectives of each business model established 
by the Bank (e.g., held-for-trading, generating accrual income, direct matching to a 
specific liability) as those relate to the Bank’s investment trading and lending 
strategies. 
 
If more than an infrequent sale is made out of a portfolio of financial assets carried at 
amortized cost, an entity should assess whether and how such sales are consistent 
with the objective of collecting contractual cash flows.  In making this judgment, the 
Bank considers certain circumstances documented in its business model manual to 
assess that an increase in the frequency or value of sales of financial instruments in a 
particular period is not necessary inconsistent with a held-to-collect business model if 
the Bank can explain the reasons for those sales and why those sales do not reflect a 
change in the Bank’s objective for the business model. 
 
In 2021 and 2020, certain debt securities from its HTC portfolio have matured and 
were redeemed by the issuer of the securities.  The Bank has applied these evaluation 
process to ensure that the redemption is consistent with the Bank’s HTC business 
model (see Note 11). 
 

(f) Testing the Cash Flow Characteristics of Financial Assets and Continuing Evaluation of the 
Business Model  
 
In determining the classification of financial assets, the Bank assesses whether the 
contractual terms of the financial assets give rise on specified dates to cash flows that 
are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal outstanding, with 
interest representing time value of money and credit risk associated with the principal 
amount outstanding.   
 
The assessment as to whether the cash flows meet the test is made in the currency in 
which the financial asset is denominated.  Any other contractual term that changes 
the timing or amount of cash flows (unless it is a variable interest rate  
that represents time value of money and credit risk) does not meet the amortized cost 
criteria.  In cases where the relationship between the passage of time and the interest 
rate of the financial instrument may be imperfect, known as modified time value of 
money, the Bank assesses the modified time value of money feature to determine 
whether the financial instrument still meets the SPPI criterion. 
 
The objective of the assessment is to determine how different the undiscounted 
contractual cash flows could be from the undiscounted cash flows that would arise if 
the time value of money element was not modified (the benchmark cash flows).  If 
the resulting difference is significant, the SPPI criterion is not met.  In view of this, 
the Bank considers the effect of the modified time value of money element in each 
reporting period and cumulatively over the life of the financial instrument.   
 

(g) Distinction between Investment Properties and Owner-occupied Properties 
 

The Bank determines whether a property qualifies as an investment property.   
In making its judgment, the Bank considers whether the property generates cash 
flows largely independent of the other assets held by an entity.  Owner-occupied 
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properties generate cash flows that are attributable not only to the property but also 
to other assets used in the Bank’s operations. 

 
Some properties comprise a portion that is held to earn rental or for capital 
appreciation and another portion that is held for use for administrative purposes. If 
these portions can be sold separately (or leased out separately under finance lease) 
then these portions can be accounted for separately.  If the portions cannot be sold 
separately, the property is accounted for as investment property only if an 
insignificant portion is held for use in operations or for administrative purposes. 
Judgment is applied in determining whether ancillary services are so significant that a 
property does not qualify as investment property. 
 
As of the end of the reporting period, the Bank has a certain building which 
comprise a portion that is held for rental and other portion is used for operations 
which were classified by the Bank as part of Bank Premises, Furniture, Fixtures and 
Equipment according to its current use. 

 
(h) Recognition of Provisions and Contingencies  

 
Judgment is exercised by management to distinguish the difference between 
provisions and contingencies.  Policies on recognition of provisions and 
contingencies are discussed in Note 2.8 and disclosures on relevant contingencies are 
presented in Note 27. 
 
In dealing with the Bank’s various legal proceedings, its estimate of the probable 
costs that may arise from claims and contingencies has been developed in 
consultation and coordination with the Bank’s internal and outside counsels acting in 
defense for the Bank’s legal cases and are based upon the analysis of probable results.   
 
Although the Bank does not believe that its dealing on these proceedings will have 
material adverse effect on the Bank’s financial position, it is possible that future 
results of operations could be materially affected by changes in the estimates or in the 
effectiveness of the strategies conducted relating to those proceedings. 

 
 Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty 

 
The key assumptions concerning the future, and other key sources of estimation 
uncertainty at the end of the reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a 
material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next 
reporting period are presented below and in the succeeding pages. 
 
(a) Determination of Appropriate Discount Rate in Measuring Lease Liabilities 

 
The Bank measures its lease liabilities at present value of the lease payments that are 
not paid at the commencement date of the lease contract.  The lease payments were 
discounted using a reasonable rate deemed by management equal to the Bank’s 
incremental borrowing rate.  In determining a reasonable discount rate, management 
considers the term of the leases, the underlying asset and the economic environment.  
Actual results, however, may vary due to changes in estimates brought about by 
changes in such factors. 
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(b) Estimation of Allowance for ECL 
 
The Bank provides ECL for financial instruments that have passed the SPPI test [see 
Note 2.3(a)(i)].  The Bank’s ECL calculations are based on the application of the 
general approach in measuring ECL which uses certain assumptions, including the 
Bank’s criteria for assessing if there has been a significant increase in credit risk; and, 
development of expected credit loss models, including the choice of inputs relating 
to macroeconomic variables.  The calculation of credit-impairment provisions also 
involves expert credit judgement to be applied based upon counterparty information 
received from various sources including relationship managers and on external 
market information. 
 
The analysis of the allowance for impairment and the ECL assessed on financial 
assets are shown in Note 4.2 and Note 17. 
 

(c) Fair Value Measurement for Financial Instruments 
 

Management applies valuation techniques to determine the fair value of  
financial instruments where active market quotes are not available.  This  
requires management to develop estimates and assumptions based on market inputs, 
using observable data that market participants would use in pricing  
the instrument.  Where such data is not observable, management uses its best 
estimate.  Estimated fair values of financial instruments may vary from the actual 
prices that would be achieved in an arm’s length transaction at the end of the 
reporting period. 
 
The carrying values of the Bank’s financial assets classified as FVOCI and the 
amounts of fair value changes recognized during the years on those assets are 
disclosed in Note 12. 
 

(d) Estimation of Useful Lives of Bank Premises, Furniture, Fixtures and Equipment, Investment 
Properties and Computer Software 

 
The Bank estimates the useful lives of bank premises, furniture, fixtures and 
equipment, investment properties and computer software based on the period over 
which the assets are expected to be available for use.   
 
The estimated useful lives of bank premises, furniture, fixtures and equipment, 
investment properties and computer software are reviewed periodically and are 
updated if expectations differ from previous estimates due to physical wear and tear, 
technical or commercial obsolescence and legal or other limits on the use of the 
assets. 

 
The carrying amounts of bank premises, furniture, fixtures and equipment, 
investment properties and computer software are analyzed in Notes 14, 15 and 16, 
respectively.  Based on management’s assessment as at December 31, 2021 and 2020, 
there is no change in the estimated useful lives of those assets. 
 
Actual results, however, may vary due to changes in estimates brought about by 
changes in factors mentioned above. 
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(e) Classification and Determination of Fair Value of Acquired Properties  
 

The Bank classifies its acquired properties as Bank Premises, Furniture, Fixtures and 
Equipment if used in operations, as Non-current Assets Held-for-Sale if the Bank 
expects that the properties will be recovered through sale rather than use, and as 
Investment Properties if held for rental or for currently undetermined future use and 
is regarded as held for capital appreciation, or as financial assets in accordance with 
PFRS 9.  At initial recognition, the Bank determines the fair value of acquired 
properties through internal and external appraisal depending on the Bank’s threshold 
policy.  The appraised value is determined based on the current economic and market 
conditions, as well as the physical condition of the property.  The Bank’s 
methodology in determining the fair value of acquired properties are further 
discussed in Note 6.4. 

 
(f) Determination of Realizable Amount of Deferred Tax Assets 

 

The Bank reviews its deferred tax assets at the end of each reporting period and 
reduces the carrying amount to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient 
taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax assets to be 
utilized.  Management assessed that the deferred tax assets recognized as at 
December 31, 2021 and 2020 will be fully utilized in the coming years.  The carrying 
value of deferred tax assets as of those dates is disclosed in Note 24. 
 

(g) Determination of Fair Value of Investment Properties 
 

Investment properties are measured using the cost model.  The fair value of 
investment property held for capital appreciation disclosed in the financial statements 
is determined by the Bank based on the appraisal reports of in-house or independent 
appraisers, as appropriate.   
 

The fair value is determined by reference to market-based evidence, which is the 
amount for which the assets could be exchanged between a knowledgeable willing 
buyer and seller in an arm’s length transaction as at the valuation date.  Such amount 
is influenced by different factors including the location and specific characteristics of 
the property, quantity of comparable properties in the market, and economic 
condition and behavior of the buying parties.  A significant change in these elements 
may affect prices and the value of the assets. 
 

The fair value of the Bank’s investment properties as of December 31, 2021 and 2020 
is disclosed in Notes 6.4 and 15. 
 

(h) Estimation of Impairment Losses of Non-financial Assets 
 

In assessing impairment, management estimates the recoverable amount of each asset 
or a cash-generating unit based on expected future cash flows and uses an interest 
rate to calculate the present value of those cash flows.   
 

Estimation uncertainty relates to assumptions about future operating results  
and the determination of a suitable discount rate (see Note 2.14).  Though 
management believes that the assumptions used in the estimation of fair values 
reflected in the financial statements are appropriate and reasonable, significant 
changes in these assumptions may materially affect the assessment of recoverable 
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values and any resulting impairment loss could have a material adverse effect on the 
results of operations. 
 

(i) Valuation of Post-employment Defined Benefit Obligation 
 

The determination of the Bank’s obligation and cost of post-employment defined 
benefit is dependent on the selection of certain assumptions used by independent 
actuaries engaged by the Bank in calculating such amounts.  Those assumptions 
include, among others, discount rates, expected rate of salary increases, and employee 
turnover.  A significant change in any of these actuarial assumptions may generally 
affect the recognized expense, other comprehensive income or losses and the 
carrying amount of the post-employment defined benefit obligation in the next 
reporting period.  

 

The amounts of post-employment defined benefit asset (obligation) and income 
(expense) and an analysis of the movements in the estimated present value of post-
employment benefit, as well as the significant assumptions used in estimating such 
obligation are presented in Note 23.2. 
 
 

4. RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES 
 

The Bank is exposed to a variety of potential risks arising from its business activities.  It 
enters into financial instruments contracts, which consist of Investment Securities at 
Amortized Cost, Investment Securities at FVOCI, Loans and Receivables, and financial 
liabilities such as Deposit Liabilities to finance the Bank’s operations.  The Bank’s financial 
assets and liabilities by category are summarized in Note 5.  The main types of risks to 
which the Bank is exposed to include credit risk, liquidity risk, and market risks (i.e., 
interest rate risk, foreign currency risk and other price risk). 
 

The Bank does not actively engage in the trading of financial assets for speculative 
purposes nor does it write options.  The financial risks to which the Bank is exposed to are 
described below and in succeeding pages. 

 
 Risk Management Structure 
 

The BOD is primarily responsible for approving the credit policies and the overall risk 
capacity of the Bank.  Board committees have been established by the BOD to oversee the 
increasingly varied risk management activities of the Bank with the active participation of 
senior management. 

 
(a) Risk Oversight Committee 

 

The Risk Oversight Committee (ROC) is responsible for the development and 
oversight of the Bank’s risk management program.  Among its specific duties are to 
identify and evaluate exposures, develop risk management strategies, implement risk 
management plans and review such plans as necessary. 

 
(b) Audit Committee 

 

The Audit Committee is an advisory committee to assist and act on behalf of the 
BOD and provides oversight of the Bank’s financial reporting.  It serves as principal 
agent of the BOD in ensuring independence of the Bank’s external auditors and the 
internal audit function, the integrity of management, and the adequacy of disclosures 
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and reporting to stockholders.  It is also responsible for reviewing and evaluating 
Bank’s related party transactions.  

 
(c) Executive Committee 

 

Executive Committee (EC) works in tandem with the ROC in assessing the liquidity 
position of the Bank to meet routine expenses and unexpected liquidity shocks such 
as large withdrawals and heavy loan demand.  It is also tasked to review and take 
cognizant factors affecting market risks involving the financial market such as market 
values of assets and liabilities that will affect earnings and capital of the Bank. 

(d) Corporate Governance Committee 
 

The committee is responsible for ensuring the BOD’s effectiveness and due 
observance of corporate governance principles and guidelines.  It oversees the 
periodic performance evaluation of the BOD and its committees and executive 
management. 
 

(e) Credit Review Committee 
 

The committee has been created with the main purpose of evaluating, making 
appraisals or studying and reviewing the loan applications presented by the lending 
units of the Bank, usually its branches and other business development units that the 
Bank may establish. 
 

In compliance with BSP Circular 747, the Bank has revised its compliance manual to 
incorporate the revised compliance framework for banks.  The manual is designed to  
guide the identification of business risks to mitigate factors that might be detrimental  
to the Bank’s business model and its ability to generate returns from operations. 

 

 Credit Risk 
 

Credit risk is the risk that a counterparty may fail to discharge an obligation to the Bank.  
The Bank is exposed to this risk for various financial instruments arising from granting 
loans to borrowers including placing deposits with banks and investing in bonds that are 
carried at amortized cost and at FVOCI. 
 
Credit risk is managed through strategies, policies and limits that are approved by the 
BOD.  Further, the Bank has a well-structured and standardized credit approval process.  
In order to avoid excessive concentrations of risk, the Bank’s policies and procedures 
include guidelines for maintaining a diversified portfolio (e.g. concentration limit).  
Identified concentrations of credit risks are controlled and managed accordingly.  The Bank 
also monitors compliance to the BSP’s limit on exposure to any single person or group of 
connected persons to an amount not exceeding 25.00% of the Bank’s adjusted capital 
accounts. 
 
The Bank also manages credit risk through the establishment of an appropriate and 
sufficiently defined credit risk environment where the BOD is ultimately responsible for 
the Bank’s focus and specialization in the granting of credit based on type, economic 
sector, geographical location, maturity and anticipated profitability.   
 
Sound credit granting process is strictly implemented where neither the BOD nor the 
senior management can override the credit granting and monitoring process of the Bank.  
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The Bank undertakes a comprehensive procedure for the credit evaluation and risk 
assessment of borrowers.   
 
The credit granting process is rooted to the principle that the collateral offered cannot be a 
substitute for a comprehensive assessment of the borrower’s financial capacity.  Credit 
granting transactions is based primarily on the strength of the borrower’s paying capacity.  
The Bank also maintains an appropriate credit administration, review and classification and 
monitoring process through regular and periodic evaluation of loan accounts.  Adjudication 
of credit is centralized and approval authority limits are clearly defined and embodied in the 
Bank’s operations manual. 
Generally, the maximum credit risk exposure of financial assets is the carrying amount of 
the financial assets as shown in the statements of financial position or in the detailed 
analysis provided in the notes to the financial statements, as summarized below. 
 

                                                 Notes   2021     2020  
 

Cash and cash equivalents 8  P  457,105,603  P 558,988,038 
Investment securities at 
    amortized cost 11      15,169,435          15,473,664 
Investment securities at FVOCI 12    284,722,909        225,240,445 
Loans and other receivables - net 13    663,078,300   688,390,128 

            
     P 1,420,076,247 P 1,488,092,275 

 
The Bank’s financial assets are in part secured by collateral and guarantees and are further 
described as follows: 

 
(a) Cash and Cash Equivalents 

 
The credit risk for cash and cash equivalents is considered negligible, since the 
counterparties are reputable banks with high quality external credit ratings.  Included 
in the cash and cash equivalents are cash in banks and short-term placements which 
are insured by the Philippine Deposit Insurance Corporation (PDIC) up to a 
maximum coverage of P0.50 million for every depositor per banking institution. 
 

(b) Investment Securities at Amortized Cost and Investment Securities at FVOCI 
 
These investments in debt securities, either measured at amortized cost or at FVOCI 
starting January 1, 2018, are considered to have low credit risk, and therefore, the loss 
allowance during the period is determined to be equivalent to 12 months ECL.  
Management considers “low credit risk” for listed bonds to be an investment grade 
credit rating with at least one major rating agency.  Other instruments are considered 
to be low credit risk when they have a low risk of default and the issuer has a strong 
capacity to meet its contractual cash flow obligations in the near term. 
  
The additional allowance for credit losses is considered immaterial on these  
debt securities as at December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively, and therefore,  
no adjustment was made to the current year’s profit or loss.  
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(c) Loans and Other Receivables  
 

The Bank applies the PFRS 9 general approach in measuring ECL which uses  
a 12-month expected credit loss allowance when credit risk on loans and other 
receivables has not increased significantly since the initial recognition.  Otherwise, a 
lifetime expected loss allowance is used by the Bank. 
 
The assessment of credit risk of the Bank entails further estimations as to the 
likelihood of defaults occurring, of the associated loss ratios, and of default 
correlations between borrowers and/or counterparties.  The Bank measures credit 
risk using PD, EAD and LGD [see Note 2.3(a)(iii)]. 
 
To measure the expected credit losses, loans and receivables have been grouped 
based on shared credit risk characteristics and the days past due (age buckets).   

 
The other receivables relate to accrued interest receivables, sales contract receivables 
and other receivables mainly from employees that substantially share the same risk 
characteristics as that of loans and receivables.  The Bank has therefore concluded 
that the expected loss rates for loans and receivables are a reasonable approximation 
of the loss rates for the other receivables. 
 
The PDs are analyzed based on the payment schedules of loans over a period  
of 36 months before December 31, 2021 and 2020, and the corresponding historical 
credit losses experienced within such period.  The historical loss rates are supposed 
to be adjusted to reflect current and forward-looking information  
on macroeconomic factors affecting the ability of the customers to settle the 
receivables.  The Bank has identified the following relevant macroeconomic factors: 
Unemployment Rates, Balance of Payments, Dollar to Peso Exchange Rates, Retail 
Price Index, and Gross National Income, and accordingly adjusts  
the historical loss rates based on expected changes in these factors. 
 

The 12-month and lifetime EADs are determined based on the expected payment 
profile, which varies by product type. 
 

The 12-month and lifetime LGDs are determined based on the factors which impact 
the recoveries made post default, and may vary by product type.  For secured 
products, this is primarily based on collateral type and projected collateral values, 
historical discounts to market or book values due to forced sales, time to 
repossession and recovery costs observed.  For unsecured products, LGD is typically 
set at product level due to the limited differentiation in recoveries achieved across 
different borrowers.  The LGD is influenced by collection strategies. 
 

Pursuant to BSP Circular No. 1011, Guidelines on the Adoption of PFRS 9, financial 
institutions should set up General Loan Loss Provision (GLLP) equivalent to 1.00% 
of all outstanding on-balance sheet loan accounts.  In cases when the allowance for 
credit losses on loan accounts computed under the requirements of PFRS 9 is less 
than the 1.00% GLLP required by the BSP, the deficiency shall be recognized by 
appropriating the Retained Earnings account. 

 
On that basis, the loss allowance as at December 31, 2021 and 2020, which was 
determined based on months past due, are as follows for both loans and other 
receivables:  
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        Stage 1   Stage 2   Stage 3   Total  
  
 December 31, 2021 
 Expected loss rate    1.62%   5.60%   45.84%  
  
 Gross carrying amount - 
 Loans receivables  P 597,888,019 P 16,228,926 P 82,208,724 P 696,325,669 
 Other receivables   16,456,320  57,792  3,463,800  19,977,912 
  
 ECL allowance   9,967,419  912,431  39,270,612  50,150,462 
 
 
 
 December 31, 2020 
 Expected loss rate    1.48%   1.00%   41.87%  
  
 Gross carrying amount - 
 Loans receivables  P 600,761,316 P 37,298,444 P 70,849,849 P 708,909,609 
 Other receivables   17,801,108  88,294  11,636,148  29,525,550
  
 ECL allowance   9,128,274  372,984  34,533,702  44,034,960 

  

The application of the ECL methodology based on the stages of impairment 
assessment for loans and receivables and the BSP required 1.00% GLLP did not 
result in the recognition of additional loss allowance nor in the appropriations of 
retained earnings for the adjustment to GLLP, respectively, due to the sufficient level 
of allowance for credit losses previously booked at P50.15 million and P44.03 million 
(see Notes 13 and 17) as at December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively. 
 
An estimate of the fair value of collateral and other security enhancements held by 
the Bank against loans and receivables as at December 31, 2021 and 2020 is shown 
below. 

 
         2021   2020  
 

 Against current loans and receivables        
  Property         

    Real estate mortgage  P 1,267,994,338  P 1,167,637,894 
    Chattel mortgage   101,771,939  237,537,631 

  Others            
    Assignment of receivables   151,674,612  145,205,000 
    Hold-out deposits   97,532,366  92,450,000 

 
 Against past due and already non-performing 
  Property         

    Real estate mortgage   193,374,649  184,703,421 
    Chattel mortgage   10,820,203  39,511,626 

          
 Against items in litigation         

    Real estate mortgage   1,288,607  2,974,000 
 

The collaterals held by the Bank against loans and receivables to mitigate credit risk 
are normally disposed through sale after a foreclosure proceeding.  Their fair values 
are determined by the Bank’s internal appraisers or by external appraisers accredited 
by the BSP. 
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 Liquidity Risk 
 
The Bank’s EC together with the ROC ensure that sufficient liquid assets are available to 
meet routine expenses and unexpected liquidity shocks, such as large withdrawals  
and heavy loan demands.  Liquidity is monitored by the Bank on a daily basis and under 
stressed situations.   
 
A contingency plan is formulated to set out the amount and the sources of funds that are 
available to the Bank and the circumstances under which the Bank may use such funds.  It 
is the Bank’s policy that total liquid assets as against total deposit liabilities should not fall 
below 40.00% level.  The determined level may vary as the need arises and is subject to 
revision and approval by the BOD. 

 
Under a crisis situation, the Bank’s funding preference follows: 

(i) Cash and other cash items; 
(ii) Due from other banks; 
(iii) Due from BSP; and, 
(iv) Available credit lines with financial institutions. 

 
The settlement groupings of the Bank’s financial assets and financial liabilities as of 
December 31, 2021 and 2020 are presented below.  
 
         Over 1     Over 3     Over 6         
   Up to     up to     up to     months     Beyond       

   1 month     3 months     6 months     up to 1 year     1 year     Total   
 

December 31, 2021 
Resources 

Cash and cash equivalents  P 457,105,603   P -    P -    P -    P -   P 457,105,603 
Investment securities 
 at amortized cost   -      -     -       5,169,435    10,000,000    15,169,435 

  
Investment securities at FVOCI    12,033,029    8,249,308              -     10,257,338    254,183,234    284,722,909 
Loans and other receivables-net   33,979,699    18,728,643    30,598,287    133,072,734    446,698,937    663,078,300 
 
Total Resources  P 503,118,331   P 26,977,951   P 30,598,287   P 148,499,507   P 710,882,171   P 1,420,076,247 
 

Liabilities 
Deposit liabilities  P 963,409,634   P 81,726,448   P 6,500,000   P 10,000,000   P 49,944,211   P 1,111.580,293 

  
Other liabilities*   10,536,920    48,454    74,802    160,885    721,492    11,542,553 
 
Total Liabilities  P 973,946,554   P 81,774,902   P 6,574,802   P 10,160,885   P 50,665,703   P 1,123,122,846 
 

Positive (negative) on-book gap (P 470,828,223) ( P 54,796,951)  P 24,023,485   P 138,338,622   P 660,216,468   P 296,953,401 
 
 

December 31, 2020 
Resources 

Cash and cash equivalents  P 558,988,038   P  -    P -    P -    P -    P 558,988,038 
Investment securities                                                                                  
 at amortized cost    56,396     78,399    -     -     15,338,869    15,473,664 

  
Investment securities at FVOCI   -         26,936,627          10,072,438    18,965,282      169,266,098         225,240,445 
Loans and other receivables-net   53,510,605    15,421,997    25,107,604    149,721,498    444,628,424         688,390,128 
Total Resources  P 612,555,039   P 42,437,023   P 35,180,042   P 168,686,780   P 629,233,391   P 1,488,092,275 
 

Liabilities 
Deposit liabilities  P 745,708,763  P 390,060,420   P   17,953,179   P 30,812,000   P 20,500,000   P 1,205,034,362 

  
Other liabilities*   5,533,411    48,454    74,802    160,885    721,492    6,539,044 
 
Total Liabilities  P 751,242,174   P 390,108,874   P 18,027,981   P 30,972,885   P 21,221,492   P 1,211,573,406 
 

Positive (negative) on-book gap (P 138,687,135) (P 347,671,851)   P 17,152,061   P 137,713,895   P 608,011,899  P 276,518,869 
 
*excluding government-related liabilities 
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 Interest Rate Risk 
 

The Bank’s policy is to minimize interest rate cash flow risk exposures on long-term 
financing.  As at December 31, 2021 and 2020, the Bank has no significant exposure  
to interest rate sensitivity risk as most of its financial instruments have fixed rates. 

 

 Foreign Currency Risk 
 

Most of the Bank’s transactions are carried out in Philippine pesos, its functional currency.  
The Bank’s exposures to currency exchange rates may arise from deposits  
with other banks denominated in currencies other than the Philippine peso.  As at  
December 31, 2021 and 2020, the Bank has no significant foreign currency risk exposure as 
it has no significant foreign-currency denominated deposits with other banks. 

 

 Other Price Risk 
 

The Bank’s significant market price risk arises from its Investment securities at 
FVOCI.  The Bank manages exposures to price risk by monitoring the changes in the 
market price of the investments and at some extent, diversifying the investment portfolio 
in accordance with the limit set by the management. 
 

For investment in bonds, an average volatility of 5.00% and 2.87% has been observed 
during 2021 and 2020, respectively.  If quoted price for these securities increased or 
decreased by that percentage, other comprehensive income would have changed by P1.12 
million and P2.87 million in 2021 and 2020, respectively.  In accordance with the Bank’s 
policies, no specific hedging activities are undertaken in relation to these investments.  
 
 

5. CATEGORIES AND OFFSETTING OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND FINANCIAL 

LIABILITIES 
 

 Carrying Values and Fair Values by Category 
 

The carrying values and fair values of the categories of financial assets and financial 
liabilities presented in the statements of financial position are shown below.  
          

  2021   2020  
    Notes Carrying Values  Fair Values   Carrying Values  Fair Values  

 
Financial Assets 
 At amortized cost:  
 Cash and  

  other cash items  8  P 25,206,211      P  25,206,211 P 23,647,791      P  23,647,791 
 Due from BSP  9   127,922,734             127,922,734             51,698,440       51,698,440      
 Due from   
  other banks  10   303,976,658       303,976,658  483,641,807       483,641,807 
 Loans and other  
  receivables- net  13   663,078,300  663,078,300       688,390,128  688,390,128           
 Investment securities  11   15,169,435       15,230,826  15,473,664   15,913,177 
        1,135,353,338  1,135,414,729  1,262,851,830  1,263,291,343 
    
            
At FVOCI:  
 Investment securities  12   284,722,909       284,722,909       225,240,445       225,240,445           
       P 1,420,076,247 P 1,420,137,638 P 1,488,092,275 P 1,488,531,788 
 
 

64



 

Financial Liabilities          
      

At amortized cost: 
 Deposit liabilities  18  P 1,111,580,293 P   1,111,580,293 P 1,205,034,362  P 1,205,034,362 
 Other liabilities*  19   11,542,553  11,542,553  6,539,044  6,539,044 
       P 1,123,122,846 P 1,123,122,846 P 1,211,573,406 P 1,211,573,406 
  

*excluding government-related liabilities  
 

See Note 2.3 for the description of the accounting policies for each category of financial 
instruments including the determination of fair values.  A description of the Bank’s risk 
management objectives and policies for financial instruments is provided in Note 4. 

 

 Offsetting of Financial Assets and Liabilities 
 

Presented below are the financial assets with net amounts presented in the statements of 
financial position are subject to offsetting, enforceable master netting arrangements and 
similar agreements. 
 

  Gross amounts recognized 
  in the statement of   Net amount   Related amounts not set off in the 
  financial position   presented in the   statement of financial position  
       Financial   statement of      Deposits  
          Financial   liabilities    financial   Financial   hold 
    Assets   set off   position   instruments   out   Net amount   
   
 December 31, 2021 
 Loans and  
 other receivables - net P  663,078,300 P  -  P     663,078,300 P     -  (P 97,532,366) P 565,545,934 
  
 December 31, 2020 
 Loans and  
 other receivables - net P 688,390,128 P  -  P 688,390,128  P     -  (P 92,450,000 ) P 595,940,128  

 
 

The following financial liabilities with net amounts presented in the statements of financial 
position are subject to offsetting, enforceable master netting arrangements and similar 
agreements: 

 
  Gross amounts recognized 
  in the statement of   Net amount   Related amounts not set off in the 
  financial position   presented in the   statement of financial position  
       Financial   statement of      Deposits  
          Financial   liabilities    financial   Financial   hold 
    Assets   set off    position   instruments   out   Net amount  
 
   December 31, 2021 
 Deposit liabilities P  1,111,580,293 P  -  P   1,111,580,293 P     -   (P 97,532,366) P 1,014,047,927 
 
   December 31, 2020 
 Deposit liabilities P 1,205,034,362 P  -  P   1,205,034,362  P     -   (P 94,450,000 ) P 1,110,584,362 

 
For purposes of presenting the information above, the related amounts not set-off in the 
statements of financial position pertain to deposits hold-out which serve as the Bank’s 
collateral enhancement for certain loans and receivables.  The deposits hold-out that can be 
set-off are only disclosed to the extent of the amount of deposits held by the Bank. 
 
For financial assets and financial liabilities subject to enforceable master netting agreements 
or similar arrangements above, each agreement between the Bank and counterparties 
allows for net settlement of the relevant financial assets and liabilities when both elect to 
settle on a net basis.   

 
In the absence of such an election, financial assets and liabilities will be settled on a gross 
basis; however, each party to the master netting agreement or similar agreement will have 
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the option to settle all such amounts on a net basis in the event of default of the other 
party. 

 
 
6. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT AND DISCLOSURES 

 
 Fair Value Hierarchy  

 
In accordance with PFRS 13, Fair Value Measurement, the fair value of financial assets and 
financial liabilities and non-financial assets which are measured at fair value on a recurring 
or non-recurring basis and those assets and liabilities not measured at fair value but for 
which fair value is disclosed in accordance with other relevant PFRS, are categorized into 
three levels based on the significance of inputs used to measure the fair value.   

 
The fair value hierarchy has the following levels: 
 

 Level 1: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities 
that an entity can access at the measurement date; 

 

 Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for 
the asset or liability, either directly (i.e., as prices) or indirectly (i.e., derived from 
prices); and, 

 

 Level 3: inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data 
(unobservable inputs).  

 
The level within which the financial asset or liability is classified is determined based on the 
lowest level of significant input to the fair value measurement. 
 
For purposes of determining the market value at Level 1, a market is regarded as active if 
quoted prices are readily and regularly available from an exchange, dealer, broker, industry 
group, pricing service, or regulatory agency, and those prices represent actual and regularly 
occurring market transactions on an arm’s length basis.  
 
For investments which do not have quoted market price, the fair value is determined by 
using generally acceptable pricing models and valuation techniques or by reference to the 
current market of another instrument which is substantially the same after taking into 
account the related credit risk of counterparties, or is calculated based on the expected cash 
flows of the underlying net asset base of the instrument. 
   
When the Bank uses valuation techniques, it maximizes the use of observable market data 
where it is available and relies as little as possible on entity specific estimates.   
If all significant inputs required to determine the fair value of an instrument are observable, 
the instrument is included in Level 2.  Otherwise, it is included in Level 3. 

 

 Financial Instruments Measurement at Fair Value 
 

The breakdown of the Bank’s financial assets that are all debt securities measured at  
fair value in the statements of financial position are as follows: 
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   Level 1   Level 2   Level 3   Total  

 

Financial assets at FVOCI: 

 December 31, 2021 P -  P 284,722,909    P -  P 284,722,909   

 December 31, 2020 P -  P 225,240,445    P -  P 225,240,445    

 

The Bank has no financial liabilities measured at fair value as of December 31, 2021 and 
2020. 
 
The fair value of the Bank’s debt securities which consist of corporate and government 
bonds is estimated by reference to quoted bid price in active market at the end of the 
reporting period and is categorized within Level 2.  The fair value determined using average 
or weighted bid or done prices of securities with the same remaining tenors is categorized 
within Level 2. 

 

 Financial Instruments Measured at Amortized Cost for which Fair Value is 
Disclosed 

 

The table below summarizes the fair value hierarchy of the Bank’s financial assets and 
financial liabilities which are not measured at fair value in the 2021 and 2020 statements of 
financial position but for which fair value is disclosed.   
 

              2021        

             Level 1   Level 2   Level 3   Total  

 

Financial assets: 

Cash and other cash items P  25,206,211  P -  P -  P 25,206,211     

Due from BSP       127,922,734   -   -   127,922,734        

Due from other banks       303,976,658     -   -   303,976,658 

Loans and other receivables - net  -   -        663,078,300   663,078,300         

Investment securities 

 at amortized cost   -        15,230,826  -   15,230,826    

 

   P 457,105,603 P 15,230,826 P 663,078,300 P 1,135,414,729 

 

Financial liabilities: 

Deposit liabilities P -  P -  P 1,111,580,293  P  1,111,580,293 

Other liabilities*  -   -   11,542,553  11,542,553 

   P -  P -  P 1,123,122,846 P 1.123,122,846 

 
*excluding government-related liabilities  

 

                2020       

             Level 1   Level 2   Level 3   Total  

 

Financial assets: 

Cash and other cash items P 23,647,791 P -  P -  P 23,647,791         

Due from BSP       51,698,440     -   -   51,698,440               

Due from other banks       483,641,807      -   -   483,641,807 

Loans and other receivables - net  -   -       688,390,128   688,390,128              

Investment securities  

at amortized cost    -        15,193,177  -   15,913,177       

   P 558,988,038 P 15,193,177 P 688,390,128 P 1,263,291,343 
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Financial liabilities: 

Deposit liabilities P -  P -  P1,205,034,362   P   1,205,034,362 

Other liabilities*  -   -   6,539,044  6,539,044 

   P -  P -  P 1,211,573,406 P 1,211,573,406 

 
*excluding government-related liabilities  

 
For financial assets and financial liabilities, other than investment securities at amortized 
costs, with fair values included in Level 1, management considers that the carrying 
amounts of those short-term financial instruments approximate their fair values.   
 
Investment securities at amortized costs consist of government securities issued by the 
Philippine government with fair value determined based on prices published in BVAL 
which represent the bid prices at the end of the reporting periods.  
 

 Fair Value Measurement for Non-financial Assets 
 

a) Determining Fair Value of Investment Properties 
 

The following tables show the Levels within the hierarchy of investment properties 
for which fair value is disclosed on a recurring basis as of December 31, 2021 and 
2020. 
 

                                                                      2021   

                                              Note   Level 1         Level 2                Level 3        Total  

       

    Land                     P  -           P    84,074,793 P -  P 84,074,793 

    Building and improvements               -             -             4,411,083  4,411,083 

       15 P         -     P 84,074,793 P 4,411,083 P 88,485,876 

 
                                                                      2020   

                                              Note   Level 1         Level 2        Level 3           Total  

       

    Land                     P  -           P    91,232,629 P -  P 91,232,629 

    Building and improvements               -             -             4,928,075  4,928,075 

       15 P         -     P 91,232,629 P 4,928,075 P 96,160,704 

 
In estimating the fair value of these properties, management takes into account the 
market participant’s ability to generate economic benefits by using the assets in their 
highest and best use.  Based on management assessment, the best use of the Bank’s 
non-financial assets indicated above is their current use.   
 
The fair value of these non-financial assets were determined based on the following 
approaches: 
 

(i) Fair Value Measurement for Land 
 

The Level 2 fair value of land was derived using the market comparable approach 
that reflects the recent transaction prices for similar properties in nearby 
locations.  Under this approach, when sales prices of comparable land in close 
proximity are used in the valuation of the subject property with no adjustment on 
the price, fair value is included in Level 2.  On the other hand, if the observable 
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recent prices of the reference properties were adjusted for differences in key 
attributes such as property size, zoning, and accessibility, the fair value is included 
in Level 3.  The most significant input into this valuation approach is the price 
per square meter, hence, the higher the price per square meter, the higher the fair 
value. 

 
(ii) Fair Value Measurement for Building and Improvements 

 
The Level 3 fair value of the buildings and improvements under Investment 
Properties account was determined using the cost approach that reflects the cost 
to a market participant to construct an asset of comparable usage, construction 
standards, design and layout, adjusted for obsolescence.  The more significant 
inputs used in the valuation include direct and indirect costs of construction such 
as but not limited to, labor and contractor’s profit, materials and equipment, 
surveying and permit costs, electricity and utility costs, architectural and 
engineering fees, insurance and legal fees.  These inputs were derived from 
various suppliers and contractor’s quotes, price catalogues, and construction price 
indices.  Under this approach, higher estimated costs used in the valuation will 
result in higher fair value of the properties. 

 
b) Other Fair Value Information 

 
There has been no change in the valuation techniques used by the Bank during the 
year for its non-financial assets.  Also, there were no transfers into or out of Levels 2 
and 3 fair value hierarchy in 2021 and 2020. 
 
 

7. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT AND BSP REPORTING COMPLIANCE 

 

 Capital Management and Regulatory Capital 
 

The Bank’s lead regulator, the BSP, sets and monitors capital requirements of the Bank.  In 
implementing current capital requirements, the BSP requires the Bank to maintain a 
prescribed ratio of qualifying capital to risk-weighted assets.  As a stand-alone thrift bank, 
the Bank is required under BSP regulations to comply with Basel 1.5. 
 
Under this regulation, the qualifying capital account of the Bank should not be less than an 
amount equal to 10.00% of its risk weighted assets.   
 
The qualifying capital of the Bank for purposes of determining the capital-to-risk assets 
ratio consists of Tier 1 capital plus Tier 2 capital elements net of the required deductions 
from capital such as: 
 
(a) unbooked valuation reserves and other capital adjustments as may be required by the 

BSP; 
(b) total outstanding unsecured credit accommodations to directors, officers, 

stockholders and related interests (DOSRI);  
(c) deferred tax asset net of deferred tax liability;  
(d) goodwill;   
(e) sinking fund for redemption of redeemable preferred shares; and, 
(f) other regulatory deductions. 

69



 

Risk weighted assets is the sum of the Bank’s credit risk weighted assets, operational risk 
weighted assets, and market risk weighted assets.  The latter was due to the Bank’s 
authority to engage in derivatives as end-user under a Type 3 Limited End-User Authority.  
Risk weighted assets are computed using the standardized approach for credit and market 
risks while basic indicator approach with modification was used for operational risk.   
 
The following are the risk-based capital adequacy of the Bank as of December 31, 2021 
and 2020 (amounts in thousands): 
 

         2021   2020  
   

  Net Tier 1 capital   P 366,719 P 347,438 
  Tier 2 capital    5,364  6,574 

 

  Total qualifying capital  P 372,083 P 354,012 
   

  Risk-weighted assets:      
   Credit Risk-weighted Assets  P 1,119,707 P 1,468,682 
   Operational Risk-weighted Assets   127,737  120,368 
 

  Total Risk-weighted assets  P 1,247,444 P 1,589,050 
 
 

 The Bank’s capital ratios are as follows: 
 

       2021   2020  
 

 Total regulatory capital              
  expressed as a percentage of             
  total risk-weighted assets      29.83%     22.28% 
 

 Total tier 1 capital expressed 
  as a percentage of total 
  risk-weighted assets      29.40%     21.86%  

 
 

The amount of surplus funds available for dividend declaration is determined also on the 
basis of regulatory net worth after considering certain adjustments. 
 

The Bank’s policy is to maintain a strong capital base in order to maintain investor, creditor 
and market confidence and to sustain future development of the business.  The impact of 
the level of capital on shareholder’s return is also recognized and the Bank recognizes the 
need to maintain a balance between the higher returns that might be possible with greater 
gearing and the advantages and security afforded by a sound capital position. 
 

A bank’s regulatory capital is analyzed into two tiers, which are Tier 1 Capital plus  
Tier 2 Capital less deductions from the total of Tier 1 and Tier 2 capital equivalent to 50% 
of the following:  
(a) Investments in equity of unconsolidated subsidiary banks and other financial allied 

undertakings, but excluding insurance companies; 
  

(b) Investments in debt capital instruments of unconsolidated subsidiary banks; 
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(c) Investments in equity of subsidiary insurance companies and non-financial allied 
undertakings; 
 

(d) Reciprocal investments in equity of other banks/enterprises; and, 
 

(e) Reciprocal investments in unsecured subordinated term debt instruments of other 
banks/quasi-banks qualifying as Hybrid Tier 1, Upper Tier 2 and Lower Tier 2, in 
excess of the lower of (i) an aggregate ceiling of 5% of total Tier 1 capital of the bank 
excluding Hybrid Tier 1; or (ii) 10% of the total outstanding unsecured subordinated 
term debt issuance of the other bank/quasi-banks.  

 
Provided, that any asset deducted from the qualifying capital in computing the numerator 
of the risk-based capital ratio shall not be included in the risk weighted assets in computing 
the denominator of the ratio.   
 
As of December 31, 2021 and 2020, the Bank has no exposure in item (a) to item (e) 
above.  There were no material changes in the Bank’s management of capital during the 
current year. 
 
As of December 31, 2021 and 2020, the Bank has satisfactorily complied with the capital-
to-risk assets ratio. 

 
Under existing BSP regulations, the determination of the Bank’s compliance with 
regulatory requirements and ratios is based on the amount of the Bank’s “unimpaired 
capital” (regular net worth) reported to the BSP, determined on the basis of regulatory 
accounting policies, which differ from PFRS in some aspects (mainly in the recognition of 
deferred tax assets).  The Bank has complied with the minimum capital requirement at the 
end of each reporting period. 
 

 Leverage Ratio 
 
On June 9, 2015, the BSP issued Circular No. 881, Implementing Guidelines on the Basel III 
Leverage Ratio Framework, which provides the implementing guidelines on the leverage ratio 
framework designed to act as a supplementary measure to the risk-based capital 
requirements.  It sets out a minimum leverage ratio of 5.00% and shall be complied with at 
all times.   
 
The Basel III leverage ratio is defined as the ratio of capital measure (Tier 1 Capital) and 
the exposure measure which include on-balance sheet and securities financing transactions 
exposures and off-balance sheet items. 
 
The Bank’s Basel III leverage ratio as reported to the BSP are as follows (amounts in 
thousands):  
 

         2021   2020  
   

  Tier 1 capital   P 366,719 P 347,427 
  Exposure measure    1,119,707  1,468,682 
 
        32.75%  23.66% 
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 Minimum Liquidity Ratio 
 

On February 8, 2018, the BSP issued Circular No. 996, Amendments to the Liquidity Coverage 
Ratio Framework for Stand-Alone Thrift Banks, Rural Banks, Cooperative Banks and Quasi-Banks, 
which provide guidance on and prescribes the prudential requirement for covered 
institutions to maintain eligible stock of liquid assets proportionate to the level of total 
qualifying liabilities (i.e., both on and off-balance sheet liabilities).  Eligible liquid assets 
shall include cash and other liquid assets that are immediately liquefiable and free from 
encumbrances.   
 
The minimum liquidity ratio (MLR) of 20.00% shall be complied with on an ongoing basis 
absent a period of financial stress effective January 1, 2019.   
 
The Bank’s MLR as of December 31, 2021 and 2020 are analyzed below. 

 
         2021   2020  

   
  Eligible stock of liquid assets  P 456,866,991 P 558,988,038 
  Total qualifying liabilities   1,040,526,703  1,140,822,460 
 
  MLR                  43.91%   49.00% 
     
 
8. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 

 
For purposes of presenting cash flows, cash and cash equivalents consist of the following: 
 
   Notes   2021   2020 
  

 Cash and other cash items    P     25,206,211 P     23,647,791 
 Due from BSP  9   127,922,734  51,698,440  
 Due from other banks  10   303,976,658  483,641,807
   
      P 457,105,603 P 558,988,038
          

Cash consists primarily of funds in the form of Philippine currency notes and coins in the 
Bank’s vault and those in the possession of tellers, including automated teller machines.   

 
Other cash items include cash items (other than currency and coins on hand) such as 
checks drawn on other banks or other branches after the Bank’s clearing cut-off time until 
the close of the regular banking hours.   

 
 
9. DUE FROM BANGKO SENTRAL NG PILIPINAS 

 
This account is composed of mandatory reserves amounting to P127.92 million and P51.70 
million as at December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively (see Notes 8 and 18). 
 
Mandatory reserves represent the balance of the deposit account maintained with the BSP 
to meet reserve requirements and to serve as clearing account for interbank claims. 
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Under Section 254 of the Manual of Regulations for Banks (MORB), a bank is required to 
maintain at least 25.00% of its reserve requirement in the form of deposits with the BSP as 
among the allowable instruments for reserve cover.  Section 254.1 of the MORB further 
provides that such deposit account with the BSP is not considered as a regular current 
account as drawings against such deposits shall be limited to: (a) settlement of obligation 
with the BSP, and (b) withdrawals to meet cash requirements. 
 
Under existing BSP regulations, the statutory and liquidity reserve requirement of  
thrift banks against deposit liabilities is equivalent to 3.00% both in 2021 and 2020.    
As at December 31, 2021 and 2020, the Bank is in compliance with the said regulations (see 
Note 18). 
 
 

10. DUE FROM OTHER BANKS 

 
This account includes the following as at December 31: 
 

    Notes   2021   2020  
 

  Savings deposits  18  P     34,655,148 P     44,984,600
  Demand deposits     67,631,344  152,913,451  
  Time deposits  18        201,690,166       285,743,756 

            
    8   P   303,976,658 P    483,641,807 
            

Savings and demand deposits earn interest based on daily bank deposit rates. 
 
All of the Bank’s time deposits with other banks have maturities of up to three months and 
bear interest rates ranging from 0.75% to 1.00% in 2021 and 0.75% to 1.75% in 2020.  
Interest income on deposits with other banks amounted to P3.05 million and P3.58 million 
in 2021 and 2020, respectively, and is presented as Interest Income on Due from other 
banks in the statements of profit or loss. 

 
 
11. INVESTMENT SECURITIES AT AMORTIZED COST 

 
Investment securities at amortized cost as at December 31 consist of: 

 
       2021   2020  
   

  Corporate bonds    P 15,000,000 P 15,000,000        
  Government bonds            169,435         473,664 
 

      P 15,169,435  P     15,473,664     
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The reconciliation of the carrying amounts of investment securities at amortized cost are as 
follows: 

 
       2021   2020 
  
 Balance at beginning of year    P     15,473,664 P 55,887,238 
 Redemptions    (  304,229)  (  40,413,574 ) 
          
 Balance at end of year    P     15,169,435 P 15,473,664 
 

The maturity profile of the investment is presented below. 
 

       2021   2020 
  
 Less than one year    P  5,169,435  P 134,795 
 One to five years     10,000,000       15,338,869      
            
       P 15,169,435   P  15,473,664 
 

Government bonds are redeemable in semi-annual installments from the date these 
investments were purchased until fully redeemed and bear interest based on average  
91-day treasury bill rates.  

 
Corporate notes bear interest rates ranging from 3.50% to 4.13% in 2021 and 3.50% to 
4.13% in 2020.  Certain investment matured in 2020 and the remaining investments will 
mature in 2022 to 2023.  
 

Interest income on these investments amounted to P0.56 million and P2.89 million in 2021 
and 2020, respectively, and presented as part of Interest Income on Investment securities 
in the statements of profit or loss. 

 
 
12. INVESTMENT SECURITIES AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH OTHER 

COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 

 
The reconciliation of the carrying amount of investment securities at FVOCI as at 
December 31 are as follows: 

 

       2021   2020 

   
 Balance at the beginning of year    P  225,240,445 P 274,468,849 
 Additions     123,760,000  42,000,000 
 Disposals    (  55,762,750 ) (  101,866,050 ) 
 Fair value gains (losses) – net    (    7,943,520 )   10,510,114  
 Amortization of premium    (  571,266 )   127,532 
             
 Balance at end of year    P   284,722,909 P 225,240,445 

 

Investment securities at FVOCI include investments in quoted debt securities with fixed 
interest rates, carried at its fair market value as at December 31, 2021 and 2020.   
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The fair values of investment securities at FVOCI have been derived from observable 
market data.  The fair value gains in both years are recognized as other comprehensive gain 
in the statements of comprehensive income (see Note 20.3). 
 
Interest income earned on investment securities at FVOCI amounted to P8.91 million and 
P11.33 million in 2021 and 2020, respectively, and are presented as part of Interest Income 
on Investment securities in the statements of profit or loss.  The recognized gain on sale of 
investment securities at FVOCI amounted to P0.31 million in 2020, and is presented as 
part of Other Income in the 2020 statements of profit or loss. No gain on sale of 
investment securities was recognized in 2021. 
 
 

13. LOANS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 

 
This account consists of the following as of December 31:  

 
   Notes    2021    2020  

 
 Loans receivables  29(e)   P 696,325,669  P 708,909,609 
 Deferred service charge    (  3,074,819 ) ( 6,010,071 ) 
 Allowance for impairment  17  (  49,166,718 ) (  42,770,465 ) 
        644,084,132    660,129,073  
 

 Other receivables:          
  Accrued interest receivables      10,105,501    16,205,501 
  Sales contract receivables      8,191,785    11,894,392 
  Others      1,680,626    1,425,657  
        19,977,912    29,525,550  
  Allowance for impairment  17  (  983,744 ) (  1,264,495 ) 
       18,994,168   28,261,055  
 
      P 663,078,300  P 688,390,128 

 
All of the Bank’s loans and other receivables have been reviewed for impairment. 
 
The maturity profile of loans receivables follows: 

 

       2021     2020  
 

 Callable upon demand     P 43,690,654   P 27,293,353 
 Less than one year      190,874,570    220,674,178  
 One year to five years      328,927,760    325,491,512 
 Beyond five years      132,832,685    135,450,566 
 
       P 696,325,669   P 708,909,609 
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The breakdown of loans receivables as to interest rate follows: 

 

       2021    2020  
   
 Over 25.00% - 30.00%     P 186,361  P 186,361  
 Over 20.00% - 25.00%      2,843,275   1,082,898   
 Over 15.00% - 20.00%     20,304,352   19,709,700  
 15.00% and below           697,991,681   687,930,650 
    
       P 696,325,669  P 708,909,609 

 
Interest income on loans and other receivables are presented as Interest Income on Loans 
and other receivables in the statements of profit or loss.  The amounts for each reporting 
period are as follows: 

 

       2021     2020  
    
 Loans and receivables     P 72,530,976   P 80,030,383  
 Sales contract receivables      73,416    602,252  
 
       P 72,604,392   P 80,632,635  
 

In 2021, the Bank entered into a sales contract receivable in settlement of certain 
investment properties for P8.8 million.  Of this amount, P4.4 million remained uncollected 
at year-end (see Note 15).   
 
None of the Bank’s loans and receivables is held as collateral for any borrowings as at 
December 31, 2021 and 2020. 

 
 
14. BANK PREMISES, FURNITURE, FIXTURES AND EQUIPMENT 

 
The gross carrying amounts and accumulated depreciation and amortization of bank 
premises, furniture, fixtures and equipment at the beginning and end of 2021 and 2020 are 
shown below. 

 
         Buildings     Furniture,          Construction           
         and     Fixtures and     Leasehold     in     Right-of-use       
    Land     Improvements    Equipment     Improvements    Progress     Asset     Total  
 
December 31, 2021 
 Cost  P 17,401,927   P 31,970,028   P 39,397,202   P 3,174,017   P 112,500   P 1,463,131   P 93,518,805 
 Accumulated depreciation 
  and amortization   -   (  17,686,689 ) (  33,174,334 ) (  3,174,017 )   -   (  841,952 ) (  54,876,992 )  
 
 Net carrying amount  P 17,401,927   P 14,283,339   P 6,222,868   P -   P 112,500   P 621,179   P 38,641,813 
 
December 31, 2020 
 Cost  P 17,401,927   P 31,494,528   P 37,087,903   P 3,174,017   P 588,000   P 1,463,131   P 91,209,506 
 Accumulated depreciation 
  and amortization   -   (  16,683,089 ) (  31,233,552 ) (  3,163,741 )   -   (  525,961 ) (  51,606,343 )  
 
 Net carrying amount  P 17,401,927   P 14,811,439   P 5,854,351   P 10,276   P 588,000   P 937,170   P 39,603,163 
 
January 1, 2020 
 Cost  P 17,401,927   P 31,310,828   P 35,895,634   P 3,159,917   P 588,000   P 1,414,853   P 89,780,659 
 Accumulated depreciation 
  and amortization   -   (  15,802,173 ) (  30,608,680 ) (  3,139,932 )   -      356,163  (  46,724,039 )  
 
 Net carrying amount  P 17,401,927   P 15,518,155   P 5,286,954   P 19,985   P 588,000   P 1,058,690   P 39,873,711   

 
A reconciliation of the carrying amounts at the beginning and end of 2021 and 2020 of 
bank premises, furniture, fixtures and equipment is shown below. 
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         Buildings     Furniture,          Construction           
         and     Fixtures and     Leasehold     in     Right-of-use       
    Land     Improvements    Equipment     Improvements    Progress     Asset     Total  
 
Balance at January 1, 2021 
 net of accumulated 
 depreciation and amortization  P 17,401,927   P 14,811,439   P 5,854,351   P 10,276   P 588,000   P 937,170   P 39,603,163 
Additions    -     475,500    3,115,418   -     -     -     3,590,918 
Disposal    -     -   (  8,913 )    -   (   475,500 )   -   (  484,413 ) 
Depreciation and amortization 
 charges for the year   -   (  1,003,600 ) (  2,737,988 ) (  10,276 )   -   (  315,991 ) (  4,067,855 )  
 
Balance at December 31, 2021 
 net of accumulated 
 depreciation 
 amortization  P 17,401,927   P 14,283,339   P 6,222,868   P        -    P 112,500   P 621,179   P 38,641,813 
 
Balance at January 1, 2020 
 net of accumulated   
 depreciation and amortization  P 17,401,927   P 15,518,155   P 5,286,954   P 19,985   P 588,000   P 1,058,690   P 39,873,711 
Additions    -     174,200    2,669,832     14,100    -     206,285    3,064,417 
Disposals                                                                                                              (      5,790 )      -      -     -   (  5,790 ) 
Depreciation and amortization                                                                               
 charges for the year   -   (  880,916 ) (  2,096,645 )  ( 23,809 )   -   (  327,805 ) (  3,329,175 )  
 
Balance at December 31, 2020 
 net of accumulated 
 depreciation 
 amortization  P 17,401,927   P 14,811,439   P 5,854,351   P 10,276   P 588,000   P 937,170   P 39,603,163 

 
Under BSP rules, investments in bank premises, furniture, fixtures and equipment should 
not exceed 50.00% of the Bank’s unimpaired capital.  As at December 31, 2021 and 2020, 
the Bank has satisfactorily complied with this requirement. 
 
The Bank recognized gain on disposal of certain furniture, fixtures and equipment totaling 
P0.04 million in 2021 and was presented as part of Gain on sale of non-financial assets 
under Other Income in the 2021 statement of profit or loss. The cost of fully depreciated 
bank premises, furniture, fixtures and equipment as at December 31, 2021 and 2020 that 
are still being used in operations amounted to P32.61 million and P31.63 million, 
respectively.   

 
Rental income from the bank premises, furniture, fixtures and equipment amounted  
to P3.69 million and P3.13 million in 2021 and 2020, respectively (see Note 27.1). 
 

 Right-of-use Assets 
 
The Bank recognizes right-of-use assets relating to the leases of certain parcel of land and 
building premises.  Each lease generally imposes a restriction that, unless there is  
a contractual right for the Bank to sublet the asset to another party, the right-of-use asset 
can only be used by the Bank.  Leases are either non-cancellable or may only be cancelled 
by incurring a substantive termination fee.  The Bank is prohibited from selling or pledging 
the underlying leased assets as security.  For leases over building  
and land, the Bank must keep those properties in a good state of repair and return the 
properties in their original condition at the end of the lease.  Further, the Bank must insure 
the leased assets and incur maintenance fees on such items in accordance with the lease 
contracts. 
 
The table below describes the nature of the Bank’s leasing activities by type of  
right-of-use asset recognized in the statement of financial position. 
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    Number of         Number of   Number of   Number of  
    right-of-use      Average     leases with   leases with   leases with 
    assets   Range of     remaining    extension   options to   termination  
    leased  remaining term   lease term   options   purchase   options 

  

 Land   1     1 year     1 year     1     -     - 

 Building   3     1 – 3 years     2 years     2     -     1   

  

The carrying amounts of the Bank’s right-of-use assets at the beginning and end of 2021 
and 2020 are shown below. 

 
 Buildings and 

       Land        Improvements     Total  
 
   Balance at January 1, 2021 
    net of accumulated  
    depreciation   P 440,002   P 497,168   P 937,170 
   Depreciation for the year (   182,070 ) (  133,921 ) (  315,991 ) 
                 
   Balance at December 31, 2021  P 257,932   P 363,247   P 621,179  
 
    
   Balance at January 1, 2020  P 622,072   P 436,618   P 1,058,690 
   Additions     -     206,285    206,285  
   Depreciation for the year (   182,070 ) (  145,735 ) (  327,805 ) 
                 
   Balance at December 31, 2020  P 440,002   P 497,168   P 937,170 
 
 

 Lease Liabilities 
 

The lease liabilities are presented in the statements of financial position under Other 

Liabilities (see Note 19). 

Additional information on the lease liabilities and amounts in respect of possible future 
lease termination options not recognized as a liability are as follows: 

 
                 Buildings and 
            Land     Improvements     Total  
 

   Lease liabilities     P 311,668   P 409,824   P 721,492 

    Lease termination options not 

    recognized as a liability       -     15,000    15,000 

    Historical rate of exercise of 

    termination options       0%    0%     

    Number of leases with an 

    extension option that is not considered 

    reasonably certain of exercise      1    2 

 

The use of extension and termination options gives the Bank added flexibility in the event 
it has identified more suitable premises in terms of cost and/or location or determined that 
it is advantageous to remain in a location beyond the original lease term. 
 
An option is only exercised when consistent with the Bank’s regional markets strategy and 
the economic benefits of exercising the option exceeds the expected overall cost. 

 
The lease liabilities are secured by the related underlying assets.  The undiscounted maturity 
analysis of lease liabilities as at December 31, 2021 and 2020 are as follows: 
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    Within   1 to 2   2 to 3    3 to 4   4 to 5     
    1 year   years   years   years   years   Total  

 
December 31, 2021 

 Lease payments  P 400,677   P 260,531   P 87,103  P 45,474   P -    P 793,785  

 Finance charges (  45,690 ) (  18,367 ) (  6,533) ( 1,703 )   -    ( 72,293 ) 

  

 Net present values  P 354,987   P 242,164   P 80,570  P 43,771   P -    P 721,492  

 
December 31, 2020 

 Lease payments  P 380,287   P 400,677   P 260,531  P 87,103   P 45,474   P 1,174,072   

 Finance charges (  72,160 ) (  45,690 ) (  18,367) ( 6,533 ) ( 1,703)  ( 144,453 ) 

  

 Net present values  P 308,127   P 354,987   P 242,164  P 80,570   P 43,771   P 1,029,619   

 

The Bank has elected not to recognize a lease liability for a certain short-term lease entered 
in 2021.  Payments made under such lease is expensed on a straight-line basis.  The 
expense relating to this short-term lease amounted to P0.08 million, and is presented as 
part of Rent under Other Administrative Expenses in the 2021 statement of profit or loss 
(see Note 22). 
 
The total cash outflow in respect of leases amounted to P0.46 million and P0.43 million in 
2021 and 2020, respectively.  Interest expense in relation to lease liabilities amounted to 
P0.07 million and P0.08 million in 2021 and 2020, respectively, and are presented as part of 
Miscellaneous under Other Administrative Expenses in the statements of profit or loss (see 
Note 22). 

 
 
15. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 

 
The gross carrying amounts and accumulated depreciation and impairment of investment 
properties at the beginning and end of 2021 and 2020 are shown below. 

 
          Buildings and    
       Land     Improvements     Total  

  
  December 31, 2021 
   Cost    P 25,213,819   P 4,722,123   P  29,935,942 
   Accumulated impairment (  5,470,144 )   -   (  5,470,144 ) 
   Accumulated depreciation   -   (  2,748,337 ) (  2,748,337 ) 
   Net carrying amount  P 19,743,675   P 1,973,786   P 21,717,461 
 
  December 31, 2020 
   Cost    P 34,078,520   P 4,590,142   P  38,668,662 
   Accumulated impairment (  5,470,144 )   -   (  5,470,144 ) 
   Accumulated depreciation   -   (  2,245,016 ) (  2,245,016 ) 
   Net carrying amount  P 28,608,376   P 2,345,126   P 30,953,502 
 
 
  January 1, 2020 
   Cost    P 29,308,410   P 3,259,523   P  32,567,933 
   Accumulated impairment (  5,470,144 )   -   (  5,470,144 ) 
   Accumulated depreciation   -   (  1,836,632 ) (  1,836,632 ) 
   Net carrying amount  P 23,838,266   P 1,422,891   P 25,261,157 
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A reconciliation of the carrying amounts at the beginning and end of 2021 and 2020 of 
investment properties is shown below. 
 
          Buildings and    
        Land     Improvements     Total  

 
  Balance at January 1, 2021 
   net of accumulated 
   depreciation and  
   impairment   P 28,608,376   P 2,345,126   P 30,953,502  
  Additions     8,387,218    2,532,041    10,919,259  
  Disposals    (  17,251,919 ) (  2,400,060 ) (  19,651,979 ) 
  Depreciation  charges 
   for the year    -   (  503,321 ) (  503,321 ) 
                 
  Balance at December 31, 2021   
   net of accumulated 
   depreciation and 
   impairment   P 19,743,675   P 1,973,786   P 21,717,461 
 
  Balance at January 1, 2020 
   net of accumulated 
   depreciation and  
   impairment   P 23,838,266   P 1,422,891   P 25,261,157  
  Additions     8,238,307    1,947,414    10,185,721  
  Disposals    (  3,468,197 ) (  612,325 ) (  4,080,522 ) 
  Depreciation  charges 
   for the year    -   (  412,854 ) (  412,854) 
                 
  Balance at December 31, 2020   
   net of accumulated 
   depreciation and 
   impairment   P 28,608,376   P 2,345,126   P 30,953,502 
      
 
 

The total additions of P10.92 million and P10.19 million in 2021 and 2020, respectively, are 
acquired by the Bank in settlement of certain loan accounts. 
 
Gain on disposal of certain investment properties amounted to P8.58 million and P2.89 
million in 2021 and 2020, respectively.  Proceeds from the said disposal amounted to 
P28.23 million and P6.97 million, in 2021 and 2020, respectively.  

 
Direct costs incurred in relation to these properties are depreciation expense, real property 
taxes, insurance, legal services fees, and court commissions.  Total direct costs amounted to 
P2.16 million and P2.35 million in 2021 and 2020, respectively. 
 
Investment properties of the Bank has a fair value of P88.49 million and P96.16 million as 
at December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively, based on the appraisal report (see Note 6.4). 

 
 

16. OTHER RESOURCES 

 
The composition of the Other Resources account as of December 31, 2021 and 2020 
follows: 
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   Note    2021     2020  
 
  Post-employment 
   defined benefit asset  23.2   P 4,757,290   P 3,718,169 
 Prepayments                 3,101,294         2,110,246 
  Computer software – net      2,732,531    3,391,365 
  Prepaid documentary stamps      706,287    901,068  
  Supplies on hand      552,307    578,532 
  Miscellaneous      194,600    194,600 
        P 12,044,309   P 10,893,980  
    

The gross carrying amounts and accumulated amortization of computer software as at 
December 31, 2021 and 2020 are shown below. 

 
       2021     2020  
 
  Costs     P 10,913,820   P 10,746,718 
  Accumulated amortization    ( 8,181,289)  ( 7,355,353 ) 
        P 2,732,531   P 3,391,365 
 

A reconciliation of the carrying amounts of computer software at the beginning and end of 
2021 and 2020 is shown below. 
 

       2021     2020  
  Balance at beginning of year, 
   net of accumulated 
   amortization     P 3,391,365   P 3,232,960 
  Additions      167,102    1,008,200 
  Amortization during the year    ( 825,936)  ( 849,795 ) 
        P 2,732,531   P 3,391,365 
 

Amortization expense of the computer software account for the years ended  
December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively, is presented as part of Depreciation and 
Amortization in the statements of profit and loss. 

 
 
17. ALLOWANCE FOR IMPAIRMENT 

 
Movements in the allowance for impairment are shown below. 
 

   Notes    2021     2020  
 
  Balance at beginning of year: 
   Loans and receivables  13   P 42,770,465   P 42,770,465 
   Investment properties  15    5,470,144    5,470,144 
   Other receivables  13    1,264,496    1,264,495  
         49,505,104    49,505,104 
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  Movement during the year: 
   Impairment losses on loans 
    and other receivables      6,115,502    1,895,699 
   Write-off      -  ( 1,895,699 ) 
          6,115,502    -  
 
  Balance at end of year: 
   Loans and receivables  13    49,166,718    42,770,465 
   Investment properties  15    5,470,144            5,470,144  
   Other receivables  13    983,745    1,264,495 
  
        P 55,620,607   P 49,505,104 
   

With the foregoing level of allowance for impairment and credit losses, management 
believes that the Bank has sufficient allowance for any losses that it may incur from the 
non-collection or non-realization of its receivables and other risk assets. 

 
 
18. DEPOSIT LIABILITIES 

 
The breakdown of deposit liabilities account as to type follows: 

 
       2021     2020  
 
  Savings     P 748,134,761   P 801,167,276 
  Demand      296,430,532    333,800,086 
  Time      67,015,000    70,067,000  
        P 1,111,580,293   P 1,205,034,362 
 

The maturity profile of this account is presented below. 
 

       2021     2020  
 

  Less than one year     P 1,061,720,293   P 1,184,534,362 
  One to five years      49,860,000    20,500,000  
        P 1,111,580,293   P 1,205,034,362 

 
Demand and savings deposits usually have either fixed or variable interest rates while time 
deposit has fixed interest rates.  The table below shows the range of interest rates per type 
of deposit in 2021 and 2020. 

 
       2021     2020  
 
  Savings      0.13% - 0.85%     0.30% - 2.25%  
  Demand      0.00% - 0.10%     0.00% - 0.25%  
  Time      0.33% - 5.00%    0.75% - 5.00%   

 
 

Interest expense on deposit liabilities recognized in 2021 and 2020 amounted  
to P7.42 million and P12.78 million, respectively.  The 5.00% interest on time deposit 
pertains to five-year time deposits opened in March 2019. 
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Under existing BSP regulations, thrift banks are subject to the revised liquidity and 
statutory reserves against deposit liabilities equivalent to 3.00% (see Note 9).  As at 
December 31, 2021 and 2020, the Bank is in compliance with the said regulations. 
 
Liquidity and statutory reserves as of December 31, 2021 and 2020 are as follows: 

 
 
   Notes    2021     2020  
 
  Due from other banks  10   P 236,345,314   P 330,728,356 
  Due from BSP  8, 9    127,922,734    51,698,440  
  Investment securities 
   at amortized cost  11    15,169,435    15,473,664  
        P 379,437,483   P 397,900,460 
 

In accordance with the same circular, demand deposits maintained with banks which are 
not restricted as to withdrawal or use for current operations but not with banks which have 
been closed and are under receivership or liquidation shall no longer be eligible as 
compliance with the reserve requirement.   
 
The carrying amount of these financial assets are reasonable approximations of their fair 
values (see Notes 5 and 6). 
 
 

19. OTHER LIABILITIES 

 
This account consists of the following as of December 31: 
 

  Notes    2021     2020  
 
  Manager’s check payable     P 5,757,484   P 352,176 
  Accrued expenses      2,431,923    2,180,401 
  Accounts payable      1,767,218    1,913,407  
  Due to PDIC      1,112,792    1,195,572 
  Due to the Treasurer 
   of the Philippines      1,005,811    1,005,811 
  Gross receipts tax (GRT) 
   payable 30.1(a)   976,747    982,008 
  Lease liabilities  14.2    721,492    1,029,619  
  Accrued interest payable      700,950    823,914 
  Withholding tax payable      283,638    367,286 
  Contributions payable      257,970    229,745 
  Fringe benefit tax (FBT) 
   payable      104,050    16,937 
  Documentary stamp tax (DST) 
   payable 30.1(b)   34,875    1,500 
  Miscellaneous liabilities      163,486    239,528  
        P 15,318,436   P 10,337,904 
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Accrued expenses include security services, professional expenses and electricity charges.   
 
The Bank has leases for certain parcel of land and bank premises with each lease giving rise 
to a right-of-use asset and a lease liability presented under Bank Premises, Furniture, 
Fixtures and Equipment, and Other Liabilities, respectively (see Note 14).   

 
 
20. CAPITAL FUNDS 

 

 Capital Stock 
 

Capital stock as of December 31, 2021 and 2020 consists of: 
   

  Shares   Amount  

        2021   2020   2021   2020 

  

 

   Common shares – P100 par value 

    Authorized – 1,140,000 shares 

    Issued and outstanding  1,103,615  1,103,615  P  110,361,500 P 110,361,500 

 

 

The Bank’s preferred shares, with par value of P100 and 60,000 authorized shares, had no 
issued and outstanding as at December 31, 2021 and 2020.  
As of December 31, 2021 and 2020, the Bank’s stockholders owning 100 or more shares 
each of the Bank’s capital stock is 105. 
 
 

 Retained Earnings 
 

On March 30, 2017, the BOD approved appropriation of P40.00 million to be used for 
capital expenditure for the Bank’s building construction in Lapu-lapu City, which has 
started on March 9, 2017.  As of December 31, 2021, the building construction is still on-
going. 
 
On November 23, 2019, the BOD approved the appropriation of P16.00 million for  
the Bank’s intended business expansion (i.e. opening of new branch, setting up of two 
additional BancNet connection facilities in separate locations) in the next three to  
five years. 
 
The Bank’s unappropriated retained earnings exceeded the Bank’s paid-in capital as at 
December 31, 2021 and 2020.  The management, subject to BOD approval, plans to 
earmark a portion of the unappropriated retained earnings for the capital build up program 
of the Bank. 
 

 Revaluation Reserves 
 

The components and reconciliation of items of other comprehensive income presented in 
the statement of changes in capital funds at their aggregate amount under the Revaluation 
Reserves account follow: 
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              Post- 
             Employment 
           Investment  Defined 
           Securities   Benefit 
        Notes   at FVOCI   Obligation   Total  

    

   Balance as of January 1, 2021    P 2,035,735   P 3,419,681   P 5,455,416  

      Fair value losses during the year   

    on investment securities at FVOCI  12  (      7,943,520)   -    (      7,943,520 )  

      Remeasurements of post-employment                    

   defined benefit asset  23.2   -                160,317       160,317  

   Other comprehensive gain (loss) before tax    (       7,943,520)    160,317  (      7,783,203 ) 

   Effect of change in tax rate (CREATE)                                    19,264         20,917                 40,181  

   Tax expense   24  (          759,249 )  (  40,079 ) (  799,328 )  

   Other comprehensive loss after tax            (       8,683,505)    141,155  (  8,542,350 ) 

   Balance as of December 31, 2021   (P   6,647,770) P 3,560,836  ( P  3,086,934 ) 

    

   Balance as of January 1, 2020   (P 8,358,797)  P 3,126,848  ( P 5,231,949 ) 

      Fair value gains during the year   

    on investment securities at FVOCI  12    10,510,114    -      10,510,114  

      Remeasurements of post-employment                    

   defined benefit asset  23.2   -                418,333      418,333  

   Other comprehensive gain before tax      10,510,114    418,333    10,928,447  

   Tax expense   24  (   115,582 )  (  125,500 ) (  241,082 )  

   Other comprehensive income after tax              10,394,532    292,833     10,687,365  

   Balance as of December 31, 2020    P 2,035,735   P 3,419,681    P 5,455,416  

 

 

21. MISCELLANEOUS INCOME  
 

Presented below are the details of miscellaneous income. 
 
       2021     2020  
 
  Service fees for passbook 
   or check booklet replacements     P 106,534   P 79,884 
  DAIF/DAUD fees       94,752    115,200  
  Loan fees/account pre-termination      31,185    24,900 
  Gain on redemption  
   of government bonds      -     175,414 
  Other miscellaneous income       62,012    141,667  
 
        P 294,483   P 537,065 

 
Other miscellaneous income includes foreign exchange gain, inter-branch transaction fees, 
income on bank statement/certification print-outs, sale of old newspapers, income on 
manager check’s purchases, and other service charges. 
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22. OTHER ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES 

 
Presented below are the details of other administrative expenses. 
 

   Note    2021     2020  
 
  Outside services     P 5,480,468   P 5,570,345 
  Insurance      3,810,721    3,908,803 
  Information technology      2,785,211    1,651,527  
  Communication      2,142,034    2,156,416  
  Utilities      1,760,972    1,661,873  

Litigation      1,620,461    1,944,510 
Repairs and maintenance      1,585,447    1,806,036 

  Management and 
   professional fees      1,233,233    1,228,573  
  Stationery and supplies used      961,182    887,559 
  Fuel and lubricants      518,542    393,204 
  Fines and penalties      517,754    27,500 
  Representation 
   and entertainment      336,244    430,745  
  Supervision fees      279,000    398,467 
  Fees and commissions      92,480    288,658 
  Rent  14.2    78,371     57,997  
  Transportation and travel      67,871    446,219  
  Miscellaneous  14.2    1,028,824    1,880,880  
        P 25,298,815   P 24,739,312 

 
Miscellaneous other administrative expenses include advertising and publicity, membership 
fees and dues, donations and charitable contributions, periodicals and magazines, fines and 
penalties, interest expense on lease liabilities and other charges.  

 
 
23. COMPENSATION AND EMPLOYEE BENEFITS 

 

 Compensation and Employee Benefits 
 

 Details of compensation and employee benefits are presented below. 
 
   Notes    2021     2020  
 
  Short-term employee benefits  25.2   P 22,620,721   P 23,183,365 
  Post-employment benefits  23.2    1,487,771    1,410,598  
 
        P 24,108,492   P 24,593,963 
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 Post-employment Defined Benefit 
 

(a) Characteristics of the Defined Benefit Plan 
 

The Bank maintains a funded, tax-qualified, noncontributory post-employment 
benefit plan that is being administered by a trustee bank that is legally separated from 
the Bank.  The post-employment plan covers all regular full-time employees.   

 
The normal retirement age is 60 with a minimum of five years of credited service.  
Normal retirement benefit is equivalent to a percentage of the final monthly covered 
compensation (average monthly basic salary during the last 12 months of credited 
service) for every year of credited service based on the revised retirement vesting 
schedule. 
  
Number of Years of Service   Percentage  
 
 5 to 20   100.00% 
 21  105.00% 
 22  110.00% 
 23  115.00% 
 24  120.00% 
 25 and over  125.00% 
 

(b) Explanation of Amounts Presented in the Financial Statements 
 

Actuarial valuations are made annually to update the post-employment benefit costs 
and the amount of contributions.  All amounts presented below and in the 
succeeding pages are based on the actuarial valuation reports obtained from an 
independent actuary in 2021 and 2020. 
 
The amounts of post-employment defined benefit asset recorded as part of Other 
Resources (see Note 16) in the statements of financial position are determined as 
shown below. 

 
       2021     2020  
 
   Fair value of plan assets     P 18,082,829   P 17,447,092 
   Present value of post-employment 
   defined benefit obligation    ( 12,733,720) ( 13,452,541 ) 
   Surplus      5,349,109    3,994,551  
   Effect of the asset ceiling    (  591,819) ( 276,382 ) 
        P 4,757,290   P 3,718,169  
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The movements in the fair value of plan assets are presented below. 
 

       2021     2020  
 
   Balance at beginning of year     P 17,447,092   P 15,408,337 
   Contributions      2,198,069    2,168,265 
   Return on plan assets 
    (excluding amount 
  included in net interest) (  1,170,630)   (        48,000) 
 Benefits paid    (  1,102,500)   (       918,445) 
   Interest income             710,798               836,935  
   Balance at end of year     P 18,082,829   P 17,447,092 
 

The movements in the present value of the post-employment defined benefit 
obligation (DBO) recognized in the books are as follows:  
 

       2021     2020  
 
   Balance at beginning of year     P 13,452,541   P 12,841,423 
   Current service cost      1,487,771    1,410,598 
   Benefits paid    ( 1,102,500) ( 918,445 ) 
   Interest expense      531,375    670,322 
   Remeasurements: 
    Actuarial gains (losses) arising from: 
    Changes in financial 
     assumptions     ( 1,039,283)    625,328  
    Experience adjustments    ( 599,706)  ( 1,176,685 ) 
    Demographic assumptions     3,522    -  
   Balance at end of year     P 12,733,720   P 13,452,541 
 

The composition of the fair value of plan assets at the end of the reporting period by 
category and risk characteristics is shown below. 

 
       2021     2020  
 
   Cash and cash equivalents     P 2,309,177   P 7,062,384 
   Debt securities –  
    Philippine government bonds     16,310,712    10,355,323 
   Others (market gains/losses/ 
    accrued receivables, etc.)    ( 537,060)    29,385  
  
        P 18,082,829   P 17,447,092 
 

The fair values of the above debt securities are determined based on quoted market 
prices in active markets.  While no significant changes in asset allocation are expected 
in the next financial year, the Retirement Plan Trustee may make changes at any time. 
 
Plan assets do not comprise any of the Bank’s own financial instruments or any of its 
assets occupied and/or used in its operations. 
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The components of amounts recognized in profit or loss and in other comprehensive 
income in respect of the post-employment defined benefit plan are as follows:  

 

        2021     2020  
   

  Reported in profit or loss: 
   Current service cost     P 1,487,771   P 1,410,598 
    

   Interest income on plan assets    ( 710,798) ( 836,935 ) 
   Interest expense on DBO      531,375    670,322 
   Interest on the effect 
    of asset ceiling      10,917     9,493  
   Net interest    ( 168,506) ( 157,120 ) 
 
        P 1,319,265   P 1,253,478 
 
  Reported in other comprehensive loss (income): 
   Actuarial losses (gains) arising from: 
    Changes in financial assumptions  (P 1,039,283)  P 625,328 
    Experience adjustments    ( 599,706) ( 1,176,685 ) 
    Demographic assumptions      3,522    - 
   Remeasurement gain – change 
 in the effect of the asset ceiling    304,520    85,024 
   Return on plan assets (excluding 
    amounts included in 
 net interest expense      1,170,630    48,000  
 
        (P 160,317) (P 418,333 ) 
 

Current service cost and net interest are presented as part of Compensation and 
Employee Benefits, and Interest Income on post-employment defined benefit plan, 
respectively, in the statements of profit or loss.  
 
Amounts recognized in other comprehensive income were included within items that 
will not be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss.  
 

In determining the amounts of the post-employment defined benefit obligation, the 
following significant actuarial assumptions were used: 

 
       2021     2020  
 
  Discount rates      5.08%     3.95%  
  Expected rate of salary increases     5.50%    5.50%   
 

Assumptions regarding future mortality experience are based on published statistics 
and mortality tables.  The average remaining working lives of an individual retiring at 
the age of 60 is 9 for males and 16 for females. 
 
These assumptions were developed by management with the assistance of an 
independent actuary.  Discount factors are determined close to the end of each 
reporting period by reference to the interest rates of zero coupon government bonds 
with terms to maturity approximating to the terms of the post-employment 
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obligation.  Other assumptions are based on current actuarial benchmarks and 
management’s historical experience. 
 

(c) Risks Associated with the Retirement Plan  
 

The plan exposes the Bank to actuarial risks such as investment risk, interest rate risk, 
longevity risk and salary risk. 

 
(i) Investment and Interest Risks 

 
The present value of the defined benefit obligation is calculated using a discount rate 
determined by reference to market yields of government bonds.  

 
Generally, a decrease in the interest rate of a reference government bonds will 
increase the plan obligation.  However, this will be partially offset by an increase in 
the return on the plan’s investments in debt securities and if the return on plan asset 
falls below this rate, it will create a deficit in the plan.  Currently, the plan has 
relatively balanced investment in cash and cash equivalents and government debt 
securities.  

 
(ii) Longevity and Salary Risks 

 
The present value of the defined benefit obligation is calculated by reference to the 
best estimate of the mortality of the plan participants both during and after their 
employment, and to their future salaries.  Consequently, increases in the life 
expectancy and salary of the plan participants will result in an increase in the plan 
obligation. 
 

(d) Other Information 
 

The information on the sensitivity analysis for certain significant actuarial 
assumptions, the Bank’s asset-liability matching strategy, and the timing and 
uncertainty of future cash flows related to the retirement plan are described below.  

 
(i) Sensitivity Analysis  

 
The following table summarizes the effects of changes in the significant actuarial 
assumptions used in the determination of the defined benefit obligation as of  
December 31, 2021 and 2020: 
 
  Impact on Post-employment Defined Benefit Obligation 
   Change in     Increase in     Decrease in  
   Assumption     Assumption     Assumption   
 
December 31, 2021 

Discount rate       +/- 1.00%   (P  788,171)  P  910,686  
Salary growth rate       +/- 1.00%      897,641  ( 792,240 ) 

 
 

December 31, 2020  
Discount rate       +/- 1.00%   ( P 795,231 )  P 923,817  
Salary growth rate       +/- 1.00%     900,002  (  791,342) 
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The foregoing sensitivity analysis is based on a change in an assumption while 
holding all other assumptions constant.  This analysis may not be representative of 
the actual change in the defined benefit obligation as it is unlikely that the change in 
assumptions would occur in isolation of one another as some of the assumptions 
may be correlated.  Furthermore, in presenting the above sensitivity analysis, the 
present value of the defined benefit obligation has been calculated using the 
projected unit credit method at the end of the reporting period, which is the same as 
that applied in calculating the defined benefit obligation or asset recognized in the 
statements of financial position. 
 
The methods and types of assumptions used in preparing the sensitivity analysis did 
not change compared to the previous years. 

 
(ii) Asset-liability Matching Strategies 

 
To efficiently manage the retirement plan, the Bank, through its trustee, ensures that 
the investment positions are managed in accordance with its asset-liability matching 
strategy to achieve that long-term investments are in line with the obligations under 
the retirement scheme.  This strategy aims to match the plan assets to the retirement 
obligations by investing in long-term fixed interest securities (i.e., government or 
corporate bonds) with maturities that match the benefit payments as they fall due and 
in the appropriate currency.   
 
There has been no change in the Bank’s strategies to manage its risks from previous 
periods. 
 
(iii) Funding Arrangements and Expected Contributions 

 
The plan is currently overfunded by P5.35 million based on the latest actuarial 
valuation.  
 
The maturity profile of undiscounted expected benefit payments from the plan 
within 10 years are presented below.  

 
       2021     2020  
 
   Within one year     P 6,447,150   P 7,614,777  
   More than one year to five years     2,961,904    1,423,696 
   More than five years to ten years     1,117,237    2,537,150  
 
        P 10,526,291   P 11,575,623 
   

The weighted average duration of the defined benefit obligation at the end of the 
reporting period is 6.4 years.      

 
 

24. CURRENT AND DEFERRED TAXES 
 

On March 26, 2021, Republic Act (R.A.) No. 11534, Corporate Recovery and Tax Incentives 
for Enterprises (CREATE) Act, as amended, was signed into law and shall be effective 
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beginning July 1, 2020.  The following are the major changes brought about by the 
CREATE Act that are relevant to and considered by the Company: 
 

 regular corporate income tax (RCIT) rate was reduced from 30% to 25% starting 
July 1, 2020; 

 minimum corporate income tax (MCIT) rate was reduced from 2% to 1% starting 
July 1, 2020 until June 30, 2023; and, 

 the allowable deduction for interest expense is reduced from 33% to 20% of the 
interest income subjected to final tax. 

 
As a result of the application of the lower RCIT rate of 25% starting July 1, 2020, the 
current income tax expense and income tax payable, as presented in the 2020 annual 
income tax return (ITR) of the Company, would be lower by P0.76 million than the 
amount presented in the 2020 financial statements and such amount was charged to 
2021 profit or loss. 
 
In 2021, the recognized net deferred tax assets as of December 31, 2020 was remeasured 
to 25%.  This resulted in a decline in the recognized deferred tax asset in 2020 by P1.24 
million and such was recognized in the 2021 profit or loss (P1.20 million) and in other 
comprehensive (P0.04 million). 

 
        2021     2020  
   
  Reported in statements of profit or loss 
   Current tax expense: 
    Regular corporate income tax 
     (RCIT) at 25.00% in   
     2021 and 30% in 2020     P 5,045,967   P 5,293,566 
    Final tax at 20.00%      2,503,501    3,560,203 
    Adjustment in 2020 income  
     taxes due to change in   
     income tax rate (           759,324)  -  
         6,790,144    8,853,769 
  
   Deferred tax expense (income) 
    relating to the origination 
    and reversal of temporary 
    differences    (        1,204,086)    433,796 
   Effect of the change in income tax rate         2,623,602     -     
  
  1,419,516            433,796  
         P 8,209,658   P        9,287,565  
   
  Reported in statements of other comprehensive income 
 
   Deferred tax expense 
    relating to the origination 
    of temporary differences     P 799,328   P 241,082 
   Effect of the change in income 
    tax rate (            40,181)             -              
         P 759,147   P 241,082  
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The reconciliation of tax on pretax profit computed at the applicable statutory rate to tax 
expense is as follows: 

 

        2021     2020  
   

  Tax on pre-tax profit at 25% in     P 6,312,261   P 9,457,447 
   2021 and 30% in 2020 
  Effect of the change in tax rate                               1,864,278            - 
  Adjustment for income subject to 
   lower tax rate    ( 625,875) ( 1,780,102 ) 
  Tax effects of: 
   Non-deductible interest expense     625,875    1,762,301  
   Other non-deductible expenses     129,439    211,494 
   Non-taxable income    ( 96,320) ( 363,575 ) 
         P 8,209,658   P 9,287,565  
 
 

The net deferred tax assets relate to the following as of December 31: 
 
 Statements of Statements of Statements of  
  Financial Position   Profit or Loss   Comprehensive Income  
  2021   2020   2021   2020   2021   2020  
 
 Deferred tax assets: 
  Impairment losses on loans and  
   receivables  P 12,291,679   P 12,831,139   P      539,460   P -   P -   P -   
  Deferred service charge   768,705    1,803,021    1,034,316    359,925    -     -  
  Impairment losses on investment 
   properties   1,367,536    1,641,043     273,507    -    -     -  
  Unamortized past service cost   471,696    424,473  (          47,223)   ( 177,083 )   -     -   
  Impairment losses on other 
   receivables   245,936    379,349     133,413    -    -     -   
  Lease liabilities   180,373    308,886    128,513    25,714    -     -    
  Unearned rental income   16,856    22,683    5,287     2,359    -     -  
  Provision for PBSP   12,500    15,000     2,500    -    -     -  
  Unrealized foreign currency losses (  767 )   825     1,592  (  285 )   -     -  
     
      15,354,515    17,426,419     2,071,905   210,630    -     -   
 
 Deferred tax liabilities: 
  Post-employment defined  
   benefit asset (  1,189,323 ) (  1,115,451 )     73,974   274,326  (   102)   125,500  
  Unrealized gains from sale of 
   investment properties   71,216  (  413,708 ) (  484,924 ) (  4,219 )   -     - 
  Right-of-use assets (  155,294 ) (  281,151 ) (  125,857 ) (  36,456 )   -     -  
  Unrealized fair value gains on  
   investment securities (  759,249 ) (  115,582 ) (  115,582 ) (  10,595 )   759,249    115,582 
        

    (  2,032,650 ) (  1,925,892)  (  652,389)   223,166    759,147    241,082  
 
 Net Deferred Tax Assets  P 13,321,864   P  15,500,527 
 Deferred Tax Expense (Income)          P  1,419,516   P 433,796   P 759,147   P 241,082 

 
In 2021 and 2020, the Bank is subject to the minimum corporate income tax (MCIT), 
which is computed at 1.00% and 2.00%, respectively, of gross income, as defined under the 
tax regulations or RCIT, whichever is higher.  No MCIT was reported in 2021 and 2020 as 
the RCIT was higher than MCIT in both years. 
 
In 2021 and 2020, the Bank opted to claim itemized deductions in computing for its 
income tax due. 
 
 

25. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 

 
The Bank’s related parties include its DOSRI, its key management personnel, its retirement 
plan and others as defined in Note 2.10. 
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 DOSRI 
 

In the ordinary course of business, the Bank has loans, deposits and other transactions with 

certain DOSRI.  Under the Bank’s existing policies, these transactions are made 

substantially on the same terms and conditions as transactions with other individuals and 

businesses of comparable risks. 

 

Outstanding loans include loans to DOSRI amounting to P77.53 million and P72.06 

million as at December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively, and are presented as part of Loans 

and Receivables in the statements of financial position [see Notes 13 and 29(f)].   

 

These loans have various maturities ranging from 6 months to 10 years.  Interest rates from 

these loans range from 2.85% to 4.25% for those outstanding as at December 31, 2021 and 

4.25% to 24.00% for those outstanding as at December 31, 2020.  Interest income earned 

from these loans amounted to P2.79 million and P3.06 million in 2021 and 2020, 

respectively.  Accrued interest receivable from these loans amounted to P0.30 million as of 

December 31, 2021 and 2020. 

 

These loans are fully secured by deposits from DOSRI as at December 31, 2021 and 2020 

amounting to P136.70 million and P102.62 million, respectively.  Interest expense from 

these deposits amounted to P2.10 million and P2.13 million in 2021 and 2020, respectively. 

 

There was no recorded impairment loss for these loans in 2021 and 2020. 

 

 Key Management Personnel Compensations 
 

The compensations of key management personnel follow: 
 

       2021     2020  
 
   Short-term employee benefits     P 2,013,168   P 2,140,184 
   Post-employment benefits      254,088    266,547 
        P 2,267,256   P 2,406,731 
 

Director’s fees incurred by the Bank amounted to P1.69 million and P1.85 million in 2021 
and 2020, respectively.   The fees are recorded as part of short-term employee benefits 
under Compensation and Employee Benefits in the statements of profit and loss (see Note 
23.1). 

 
 Retirement Plan 

 
The Bank maintains a defined benefit plan that is being administered by a trustee bank that 
is legally separated from the Bank.  The fair value and the composition of the plan assets as 
of December 31, 2021 and 2020 are presented in Note 23.2. 
 

 The retirement fund neither provides any guarantee or surety for any obligation of the 
Bank nor its investments covered by any restrictions or liens. 

 
 The details of the contributions of the Bank and benefits paid out by the plan are 

presented in Note 23.2. 
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26. EARNINGS PER SHARE 

 
Basic EPS were computed as follows: 
 

       2021     2020  
   Net profit pertaining to 
    common shares     P 17,039,384   P 22,237,259 
   Divided by the weighted average 
    number of common shares 
    outstanding      1,103,615    1,103,615 
   Earnings per share     P  15.44   P 20.15 
 

As of December 31, 2021 and 2020, the Bank has no outstanding potentially dilutive 
securities, hence, basic EPS are equal to diluted EPS. 

 
 

27. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES 

 
The following are the significant commitments and contingencies involving the Bank: 

 

 Operating Lease Commitments – Bank as Lessor 
 

The Bank entered into a contract with third parties to lease out a portion of its bank 
premises for a period of one year, renewable every year.  The total rent income from these 
operating leases amounted to P3.69 million and P3.13 million in 2021 and 2020, 
respectively (see Note 14).  This is presented under Other Income in the statements of 
profit or loss. 

 

 Legal Claims 
 

As of December 31, 2021 and 2020, the Bank has certain suits and claims that remain 
unsettled.  Management believes, based on the opinion of its legal counsels, that the 
ultimate outcome of such cases and claims will not have a material effect on the Bank’s 
financial position and results of operations. 

 

 Others 
 

In the normal course of the Bank’s operations, there are various outstanding commitments 
and contingent liabilities such as commitments to extend credit, etc., which are not 
reflected in the financial statements.  The Bank recognizes in its books any losses and 
liabilities incurred in the course of its operations as soon as these become determinable and 
quantifiable.  
 
Management believes that, as of December 31, 2021 and 2020, no additional material losses 
or liabilities are required to be recognized in the financial statements as a result of the 
above commitments and contingencies. 
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28. CONTINUING IMPACT OF COVID-19  

 

In December 2019, a novel strain of corona virus (COVID-19) was reported to have 

surfaced in China.  The World Health Organization has declared the outbreak as a ‘public 

health emergency of international concern.’  COVID-19 started to become widespread in 

the Philippines in early March 2020 causing the government to declare the country in a 

state of public health emergency followed by implementation of enhanced community 

quarantine (ECQ) and social distancing measures and restrictions in most cities and 

provinces, including Dumaguete City, Negros Oriental.  This resulted in a wide-ranging 

business suspension disrupting the supply chains, affecting production and sales across a 

range of industries, and weakening the stock market.  While the disruption is currently 

expected to be temporary, management anticipates that the suspension of businesses over a 

prolonged period of time could negatively impact the Bank’s clientele and in return, the 

Bank’s financial condition and results of operations.   

On March 23, 2020, “Bayanihan to Heal As One Act” (BAHO Act) was signed into law 

declaring a national health emergency throughout the Philippines as a result of the 

COVID-19 crisis.  The implementation of Section 4(aa) of said law has directed banks and 

other private and government financial institutions to implement a minimum thirty (30)-

day grace period on all loans with principal and interests falling due within the period of 

the Enhanced Community Quarantine (ECQ), which started on March 17, 2020 up to 

April 30, 2020, which was extended until May 31, 2020, without incurring interest on 

interests, penalties, fees or other charges.  On September 11, 2020, “Bayanihan to Recover 

as One Act” (BARO Act) was signed into law which directed banks and other private and 

government financial institutions particularly under Section 4 (uu) the grant of one-time 

sixty (60)-day grace period for payments and/or maturity periods of all existing, current 

and outstanding loans as of September 15, 2020, falling due, or any part thereof, on or 

before December 31, 2020, without incurring interest on interests, penalties, fees or other 

charges, thereby extending the maturity of the said loans, subject to compliance with 

regulatory requirements. 

The Bank has continued to operate and provide banking services to its customers  

as all branches remained fully operational despite the varying community quarantine 

restrictions and imposition of alert level system throughout this pandemic.  Adjustments in 

banking hours and earlier cut-off times were implemented in accordance with those 

instituted by the BSP.   

The Bank has continued to implement strict safety measures, including protocols mandated 

by the Philippine Government in support and compliance with the government measures 

to protect the welfare and interest of the Bank’s employees and stakeholders, including its 

counterparties.  These measures included travel restrictions, limitation of face-to-face 

contact in client interactions and board meetings, equipping designated entry points with 

thermal scanners and personal disinfectants, and frequent disinfection of bank facilities.  

Management believes that these measures can help mitigate any future negative impact of 

the outbreak on the Bank’s financial condition and operations. 

With the easing quarantine and the active vaccination and booster programs by the 

Philippine government, the Bank expects to be able to continue on with the business 

expansion plans that were being held back due to the pandemic.  Cash flow is expected to 
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improve as operations normalize.  While economic recovery is expected, the Bank will stay 

focused on keeping efficient operations as it embarks on the digitalization of some of its 

services. 

 
29. SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION REQUIRED BY THE BANGKO SENTRAL NG 

PILIPINAS 

 
Presented below are the supplementary information required by the BSP under  
Section 174 (Appendix 55) of the BSP MORB to be disclosed as part of the notes to 
financial statements. 

 
(a) Selected Financial Performance Indicators 

 
The following are some indicators of the Bank’s financial performance: 
 
 

    2021     2020  
 
 Return on average capital funds: 
 

 Net profit   4.57%     6.32% 
 Average total capital funds    
 
 Return on average assets: 
  

 Net profit   1.10%     1.45% 
 Average total resources  
  
 Net interest margin: 
 

 Net interest income   5.65%     5.93% 
 Average interest earning resources 

 
 

(b) Capital Instruments Issued 
 
As of December 31, 2021 and 2020, the capital instrument issued by the Bank 
comprise only of common shares (CET 1) amounting to P360.8 million and P347.43 
million in 2021 and 2020, respectively (see Note 7.2). 
 
As of December 31, 2021 and 2020, the Bank has no capital instruments considered 
in the computation of the Bank’s regulatory and qualifying capital in accordance with 
Circular 781, Basel III Implementing Guidelines on Minimum Capital Requirements, which 
may include instruments recorded as part of equity or a financial liability qualifying as 
Tier 2 capital. 
 

(c) Significant Credit Exposures for Loans 
 

An analysis of concentration by industry or economic sector of loans and receivables 
(grossed up for any allowance for impairment losses) of the Bank, as  
of December 31, 2021 and 2020 are shown below.   
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   2021   2020  
      Amount   Percentage   Amount   Percentage  
 
 Agriculture, forestry and fishing P 190,530,193  27.00%  P 195,590,104  27.00%  
 Real estate activities  99,244,244  14.00%   119,732,408  17.00%  
 Wholesale and retail trade; repair of   
    motor vehicles and motorcycles  126,413,102  18.00%   101,496,395  14.00%  
 Water supply, sewerage,  
 waste management and  
   remediation activities  46,565,895  6.00%   60,313,390  8.00%  
 Accommodation and food services 
 activities  32,673,567  5.00%       47,214,416  7.00% 
 Construction  46,563,611  7.00%   29,546,562  4.00%  
 Education  20,131,809  3.00%   23,277,876  3.00% 
 Human health and social activities  20,747,208  3.00%   20,000,000  3.00% 
 Transportation and storage  19,838,766  3.00%   13,586,273  2.00% 
  
 Electricity, gas, steam, and air  
 conditioning supply  7,800,000  1.00%   5,700,000  1.00%  
 Arts, entertainment & recreation  5,115,880  1.00%   5,115,880  1.00% 
 Professional, scientific & technical  
   services  4,391,298  1.00%   4,400,627  1.00%  
 Manufacturing  4,316,983  1.00%   3,140,471  0.00% 
 Financial and insurance activities  4,135,786  1.00%   726,562  0.00%  
 Mining and quarrying  2  0.00%   2  0.00% 
 Other service activities  67,857,325  9.00%   79,068,643  11.00%  
 
    P 696,325,669  100.00%  P 708,909,609  100.00%  

 
The BSP considers that concentration of credit exists when total loan exposure to a 
particular industry or a particular economic sector exceeds 30.00% of total loan 
portfolio.  As at December 31, 2021 and 2020, the Bank is in compliance with the 
loan concentration limit of the BSP. 
 

(d) Credit Status of Loans 
 
The breakdown of total loans (receivable from customers) as to status is shown 
below.  
 

  2021  
     Non-   Total Loan 
  Performing   performing   Portfolio  
 
 Gross carrying amount:        
 Corporate  P 215,166,838 P -  P 215,166,838 
  
 Consumer: 
 Agricultural   108,982,466  46,196,476  155,178,942 
 Micro enterprise and SMEs   132,648,360  11,308,728  143,957,088 
 Housing   23,019,579  6,737,205  29,756,784 
 Personal Consumption   21,740,506  2,538,259  24,278,765 
 Motor Vehicles   7,541,094  740,171  8,281,265 
 Salary   7,432,140  275,883  7,708,023 
 Others   97,585,961  14,412,003  111,997,864
    398,950,106  82,208,725  481,158,831 
 
 Total gross carrying amount   614,116,944  82,208,725  696,325,669 
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 Allowance for ECL: 
 Corporate  (  2,420,709 )  -   ( 2,420,709 ) 
 Consumer  (  7,475,396 ) ( 39,270,613 ) ( 46,746,009 ) 
   (  9,896,105 ) ( 39,270,612 ) ( 49,166,718 ) 

Net carrying amount P 604,220,839  P 42,938,113  P 647,158,951   
 

  2020  
     Non-   Total Loan 
  Performing   performing   Portfolio  
 
 Gross carrying amount:        
 Corporate  P 202,586,430 P -  P 202,586,430 
  
 Consumer: 
 Agricultural   137,176,691  36,917,843  174,094,534 
 Micro enterprise and SMEs   137,137,474  6,486,641  143,624,115 
 Housing   30,551,717  3,407,132  33,958,849 
 Personal Consumption   25,015,374  3,363,297  28,378,671 
 Motor Vehicles   9,025,206            1,829,261  10,854,467 
 Salary   5,835,572  307,075  6,142,647 
 Others   90,731,296  18,538,600  109,269,896
    435,473,330  70,849,849  506,323,179 
 
 Total gross carrying amount   638,059,760  70,849,849  708,909,609 
 
 Allowance for ECL: 
 Corporate  (  2,795,098 ) ( -  ) ( 2,795,098 ) 
 Consumer  (  9,640,629 ) ( 30,334,738 ) ( 39,975,367 ) 
   (  12,435,727 ) ( 30,334,738 ) ( 42,770,465 ) 

Net carrying amount P 625,624,033  P 40,515,111  P 666,139,144   
 

(e) Analysis of Loan Portfolio as to Type of Security 
 
The breakdown of total loans and receivables as to security with corresponding 
collateral types, and unsecured loans follows: 
 

       2021     2020  
 
   Secured 
    Real estate     P 443,196,221   P 451,407,770 
    Hold-out deposit      97,532,366    92,450,000 
 Others 38,790,074 47,753,859 
    Chattel      29,752,275    44,116,073  
          609,270,936    635,727,702  
   Unsecured      87,054,733    73,181,907 
        P 696,325,669   P 708,909,609 
 

(f) Information on Related Party Loans 
 

Under the current BSP regulations, the amount of individual loans to DOSRI, of 
which 70.00% must be secured, should not exceed the amount of the encumbered 
deposit and book value of their investment in the Bank.  In the aggregate, loans to 
DOSRIs, generally should not exceed the total equity or 15.00% of the total loan 
portfolio of the Bank.  However, non-risk loans are excluded in both individual and 
aggregate ceiling computation. 
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 Related Party Loans 
  DOSRI Loans   (inclusive of DOSRI)  
  2021   2020   2021   2020  
  

Total outstanding loans P 77,532,365 P 72,062,946  P 97,532,365 P 92,062,946 
% of loans to total loan 
 portfolio  11.13%   10.17%   14.01%   12.199% 
% of unsecured loans to 
 total loans  0.00%   0.00%   0.00%   0.00% 
% of past due loans to  
 total loans  0.00%   0.00%   0.00%   0.00% 
% of non-performing loans 
 to total loans  0.00%   0.00%   0.00%   0.00%  

 
(g) Contingencies and Commitments Arising from Off-balance Sheet Items 

 
The summary of the Bank’s commitments and contingent accounts arising from 
transactions not given recognition in the statements of financial position, expressed 
at their equivalent peso contractual amounts as of the end of reporting period is 
presented below. 
 

       2021     2020  
 
  Items held for safekeeping     P  864   P 1,011 
  Items held as collateral       465    572 
  Other contingent accounts       215    215 
  Late deposits/payments received       -   1,240,712 
 
   

The Bank has no transactions involving assets pledged to secure liabilities that would result 
in recognition or disclosures of those information in the financial statements or inclusion 
thereof in this supplemental information. 

 

 
30. SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION REQUIRED BY THE BUREAU OF INTERNAL 

REVENUE (BIR) 

 
Presented below and in the succeeding page is the supplementary information which is 
required by the BIR under Revenue Regulations (RR) No. 15-2010 and RR No. 34-2020 to 
be disclosed as part of the notes to financial statements.  This supplementary information is 
not a required disclosure under PFRS. 
 

 Requirements under RR No. 15-2010 
 
The information on taxes, duties and license fees paid or accrued during the taxable year 
required under RR No. 15-2010 are presented below and in the next page. 

 
(a) GRT 

 
In lieu of the value-added tax (VAT), the Bank is subject to the GRT imposed on all 
banks and non-bank financial intermediaries pursuant to Section 121 of the Tax 
Code.  
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In 2021, the Bank reported total gross receipts tax amounting to P4,513,228 which is 
shown as part of Taxes and Licenses [see Note 30.1(d)].  Total gross receipts tax 
payable as of December 31, 2021 amounted to P976,747 and is recorded as part of 
GRT payable account in Other Liabilities account in the 2021 statement of financial 
position (see Note 19). 
 

(b) DST 
 

For the year ended December 31, 2021, the composition of DST is as follows: 
 

   Preferred savings deposit (PSD) - net  P  2,895,227 
   Checkbook      36,543 
   Others       7,106  
       P 2,938,876 

 
The total amount of DST used is accordingly charged to profit or loss as part of 
Taxes and licenses [see Note 30.1(d)].  Total DST remittances for the year-ended  
December 31, 2021 amounted to P6,198,227.  As of December 31, 2021, the Bank 
has an outstanding prepaid DST amounting to P706,287.  Total DST payable as of 
December 31, 2021 amounted to P34,875, and is recorded as part of Other Liabilities 
account in the 2021 statement of financial position (see Note 19). 
 

(c) Withholding Taxes 
 

The details of total withholding taxes for the year ended December 31, 2021 
 are shown below. 

 
   Final     P  1,069,019 
   Compensation and benefits     537,599    
   Expanded       452,952  
        P 2,059,570 
 

(d) Taxes and Licenses 
 

The details of taxes and licenses of the Bank in 2021 are as follows: 
 

     Notes 
 
   GRT  30.1(a)   P 4,513,228  
   DST  30.1(b)     2,938,876 
   Local taxes and business permits    605,204 
   Real property taxes      418,696 
   FBT       161,931 
   Annual registration fee      7,192 
   Miscellaneous      40,494  
        P 8,685,621   
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(e) Excise Taxes 
 
The Bank does not have any transactions subject to excise tax in 2021. 
  

(f) Deficiency Tax Assessments and Tax Cases 
 

As of December 31, 2021, the Bank does not have any final deficiency tax 
assessments from the BIR nor does it have tax cases outstanding or pending in 
courts or bodies outside of the BIR in any of the open taxable years.   

 

 Requirements under RR No. 34-2020 
 
RR 34-2020 prescribes the guidelines and procedures on the submission of BIR Form 
No. 1709, transfer pricing documentation and other supporting documents for related 
party transactions.  The Bank is not covered by these requirements as the Bank did not 
fall in any of the categories identified under Section 2 of RR No. 34-2020. 
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DIRECTOR, CEBU BUSINESS CLUB (1985-1988)
DIRECTOR, PHILIPPINE DEPOSIT INSURANCE
CORPORATION (2005-2008)
DIRECTOR, NATIONAL POWER CORP. (2001-2002)
DIRECTOR, HYUNDAI-CAGAYAN (2000 TO PRESENT)
DIRECTOR, J.D. ALMENDRAS CORP (1985 TO PRESENT)
DIRECTOR, TEMPUS DEVELOPMENT CORP. (1977 TO
PRESENT)
SENIOR CONSULTANT, INDOVINA BANK VIETNAM (1989-
1991)
ECONOMIC CONSULTANT, CEBU PROVINCIAL
GOVERNMENT-APPOINTIVE AND PART-TIME (2016-2019)
FINANCE PROFESSOR, UNIVERSITY OF THE PHILIPPINES
(1979-1980)

RUBEN D.  ALMENDRAS

CHAIRMAN

BACKGROUND

76 years old, Filipino
31 years on DCDB Board

EDUCATION

University of the Philippines,
AB Philosophy
University of the Philippines,
MBA Finance
University of the Philippines,
Course in BSBA
Adamson University, Course in
BSIE
Harvard University, Summer
Fellow
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PROFESSIONAL HISTORY

GENERAL MANAGER, G. UYMATIAO, JR.
CONSTRUCTION
CHAIRMAN, GLUBROS DEVELOPMENT, INC.
CHAIRMAN, UMEE DEVELOPMENT CORP.
CHAIRMAN, GEU LAND DEVELOPMENT CORP.
VICE-PRESIDENT, UYMATIAO REALTY &
DEVELOPMENT CORP.
VICE-PRESIDENT, UYMATIAO TRADING CORP.
TREASURER, TERATRI DEVELOPMENT CORP.
VICE-PRESIDENT, NEGROS ORIENTAL
CHAMBER OF COMMERCE, INC. (NOCCI)

GREGORIO L.
UYMATIAO, JR.

VICE-CHAIRMAN/PRESIDENT

BACKGROUND

70 years old, Filipino
28 years on DCDB Board
Chairman-Executive
Committee

 

EDUCATION

University of San Carlos
Cebu, BS Civil
Engineering
A.I.T. Bangkok, Thailand,
Structural Engineering
St. Paul College
Dumaguete, MBA
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PROFESSIONAL HISTORY

TREASURER/AMO, SUPREME MEGA
STRUCTURE BUILDERS, INC.
CORPORATE SECRETARY, MEGA SOUND
BROADCASTING CORPORATION
CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER, LUCKY J
TRANSPORT SERVICES
CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER, DKL SHIPPING
DUMAGUETE
CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER, JSL
ENTERPRISES

LAWRENCE S.
LIMKAICHONG I I I

TREASURER

BACKGROUND

34 years old, Filipino
4 years and 6 months on
DCDB Board
Member-Executive
Committee
Member-Personnel
Committee

 

EDUCATION

Ateneo De Manila, BS
Management Information
System
Silliman University, BS
Civil Engineering
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PROFESSIONAL HISTORY

CHAIRMAN/PRESIDENT, DUMAGUETE RICE
AND CORN (DURICO), INC.
PRESIDENT, NEW BIAN YEK COMMERCIAL,
INC.
PRESIDENT, JULY DEVELOPMENT
CORPORATION
PRESIDENT, NEGOR NINE SEAS, INC.
PRESIDENT/CEO, JULY LIGHTERAGE
CORPORATION
PRESIDENT/CEO, DGTE. SVS CAPITAL
VENTURES, INC.
CHAIRMAN/PRESIDENT, BACONG ARRASTRE
AND STEVEDORING CORP.
VICE-PRESIDENT, DGTE. LIFETIME
PROPERTIES, INC.
TREASURER, CFORCE SECURITY SERVICES,
INC.
TREASURER, KRYPTOS SERVICE PROVIDERS
DIRECTOR, DUMAGUETE COCONUT MILLS,
INC.

DANFORD S.  SY

DIRECTOR

BACKGROUND

47 years old, Filipino
14 years on DCDB Board
Vice-Chairman-Risk
Oversight Committee

 

EDUCATION

University of Asia and Pacific
Business Management
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PROFESSIONAL HISTORY

TREASURER/MANAGER, UYMATIAO TRADING
CORP.
TREASURER/MANAGER, UYMATIAO REALTY &
DEVELOPMENT CORP.
TREASURER/MANAGER, UMEE
DEVELOPMENT CORP.
INSTRUCTOR, DEPARTMENT OF
MECHANICAL ENGINEERING, CEBU
INSTITUTE OF TECHNOLOGY (1978-1979)
CONSTRUCTION ENGINEER, JURONG
ENGINEERING PTE. LTD. (1979-1980)

GILBERT PAUL L.
UYMATIAO

DIRECTOR

BACKGROUND

64 years old, Filipino
13 years on DCDB Board
Chairman-Personnel
Committee

 

EDUCATION

Cebu Institute of
Technology, BS
Mechanical Engineering
St. Paul College
Dumaguete, Master in
Business Administration
The Wharton School of
the University of
Pennsylvania, MA in
Finance,
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PROFESSIONAL HISTORY

DIRECTOR, RAMAS UYPITCHING SONS, INC. (RUSI)
DIRECTOR, RUSCO MOTORS
DIRECTOR, DUPLAMILCO LENDING CORP.
MANAGING DIRECTOR, DUPLAMILCO, INC.
PRESIDENT, FIRST KYOMAN HOLDINGS, INC.
DIRECTOR, BWAHA DEVELOPERS, INC.
TREASURER, ARUP REALTY AND DEVELOPMENT
CORP.
SECRETARY AND TREASURER, HOLY CROSS HIGH
SCHOOL BOARD OF TRUSTEES
CONSULTANT, SHELL STATIONS (MANGNAO, DARO
AND AIRPORT AREA)
CONSULTANT, DAVID SALON DUMAGUETE
DIRECTOR, NEGROS ORIENTAL CHAMBER OF
COMMERCE AND INDUSTRY (NOCCI)
TRUSTEE, NEGROS ORIENTAL BUSINESS
DEVELOPMENT FOUNDATION (NOBDF)
PRESIDENT, PICPA-NEGROS ORIENTAL CHAPTER
(1997-1998)
CHAIRMAN, PICPA NATIONAL COMELEC (2000-2003)
PRESIDENT, HOLY CROSS HIGH SCHOOL ALUMNI
ASSOCIATION (1990-1995)
DIRECTOR, DCWD

TYRONE RAMAS-
UYPITCHING

DIRECTOR

BACKGROUND

57 years old, Filipino
4 years on DCDB Board
Member-Audit Committee

 

EDUCATION

SIlliman University, BBA-
Accounting
Silliman University, BMC
Journalism
International Christian
University (ICU) of Mitaka
City,Tokyo, Japan, Exchange
Student
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PROFESSIONAL HISTORY

DIRECTOR, DRUGSTORES ASSOCIATION OF
THE PHILIPPINES
BOARD OF TRUSTEE, HOLY CROSS HIGH
SCHOOL
GENERAL MANAGER, NEGROS UNION DRUG
CO., INC.
OWNER, EDRA REAL ESTATE LESSOR
PARTNER, SUNG, DOMINGO, DU & CO.
MEMBER, METRO DUMAGUETE LIONS CLUB
MEMBER, PICPA –NEG. OR/SIQUIJOR
CHAPTER
MEMBER, DGTE. SHOOTERS ASSOCIATION
VOLUNTEER, FILIPINO CHINESE VOLUNTEER
FIRE BRIGADE

EDWARD Y.R.  SUNG

DIRECTOR

BACKGROUND

61 years old, Filipino
10 years on DCDB Board
Vice-Chairman-Executive
Committee
Vice-Chairman-Personnel
Committee

 

EDUCATION

Foundation University,
BSBA-Accounting
Silliman University, BBA-
Management
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PROFESSIONAL HISTORY

DIRECTOR/PRESIDENT, RURAL BANK OF
TANJAY
DIRECTOR, ASSOCIATION AGRICOLA DE BAIS
TANJAY
PRESIDENT, DIAZ COLLEGE

RODRIGO G.  DIAZ

INDEPENDENT DIRECTOR

BACKGROUND

59 years old, Filipino
11 years on DCDB Board
Chairman-Risk Oversight
Committee
Member-Audit Committee

 

EDUCATION

Silliman University Bachelor
in Business Administration
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PROFESSIONAL HISTORY

PARTNER, TANGENTE & PARTNERS CO.
CPA IN PUBLIC PRACTICE
ACCOUNTING TEACHER, SILLIMAN
UNIVERSITY (1982-1986)
MANAGER, GERRY’S GENERAL MARKETING
(1990-2010)
PRESIDENT, PICPA NEG. OR. CHAPTER
(2013-2014)

JULIE T.  TAN

INDEPENDENT DIRECTOR

BACKGROUND

60 years old, Filipino
8 years on DCDB Board
Chairwoman-Audit
Committee

 

EDUCATION

Silliman University, BBA-
Accounting
Silliman University, MBA
(18 units)
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PROFESSIONAL HISTORY

INDEPENDENT DIRECTOR, RIZAL MICROBANK (A
THRIFT BANK)
INDEPENDENT DIRECTOR, AURORA BANK (A RURAL
BANK)
TRUSTEE/VP, PUNLA SA TAO (NGO)
PHILIPPINE COUNTRY DIRECTOR, CHEMONICS
INTERNATIONAL
FINANCIAL INCLUSION POLICY SPECIALIST AND
SENIOR ADVISER, USAID E-PESO ACTIVITY (2015-
2017)
CHIEF OF PARTY (2012), USAID-SUPPORTED
MICROENTERPRISE ACCESS TO BANKING SERVICES
(MABS) PROGRAM
DEPUTY CHIEF OF PARTY, MABS PROGRAM (2003-
2006/2012)
VICE-PRESIDENT, SOCIAL WEATHER STATIONS, INC.
(SWS) (1988-1997)
EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR, TECHNICAL BOARD FOR
AGRICULTURE (TBAC) (1981-1985)
DEPUTY EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR, TBAC (1976-1980)
HEAD, AGRICULTURAL SECTOR, ECONOMIC
PLANNING AND RESEARCH STAFF, NEDA (1974-1975)
VARIOUS CONSULTANCIES WITH THE WORLD BANK,
ADB, CARE, FAO, CHEMONICS (1997-1998)
RESEARCHER, UP SCHOOL OF ECONOMICS (1972-
1974)
RESEARCHER, UNIVERSITY DEVELOPMENT OFFICE,
UNIVERSITY OF ROCHESTER (1964-1965)

MELIZA H.  AGABIN

INDEPENDENT DIRECTOR

BACKGROUND

79 years old, Filipino
3 years and 10 months on
DCDB Board
Member-Audit Committee

 

EDUCATION

University of the Philippines
Bachelor of Arts (Economics)
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PROFESSIONAL HISTORY

VICE-PRESIDENT, CITIGROUP (2006-2016)
ASSOCIATE, CITIGROUP (2000-2006)
ASSOCIATE, GOLDMAN SACHS (1998-1999)
INTERN, STANDARD AND POORS (1997-1998)
INTERN, UNITED STATES TRADE
REPRESENTATIVE (1997)
GUEST CO-FACILITATOR, LDN
CONSULTANCY LTD (2018, 2019)
NON-OFFICER, BOARD OF GOVERNORS OF
THE FEDERAL RESERVE SYSTEM (1994-1996)
PART-TIME TEACHER, SILLIMAN UNIVERSITY
(2016 TO PRESENT)

GROTIUS WILBUR L.
MAXINO

INDEPENDENT DIRECTOR

BACKGROUND

52 years old, Filipino
1 year and 8 months on
DCDB Board
Member-Audit Committee
Member-Risk Oversight
Committee

 

EDUCATION

University of California-
Davis, B.A. Economics 
Georgetown University,
Masters of Science in
Foreign service
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ADVISERS AND

SENIOR

MANAGEMENT
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CHRISTOPHER A. BELL-KNIGHT

(LEFT)

77 years old, British & Canadian
7 years on DCDB Board & 8 years as
Adviser

 

Director, Solidbank Corporation (1990-1998)
Director, Banco de Oro Unibank, Inc. (2005-2010);
2013 to present
40 years Banking experience in England, Canada and
Asia
Held Senior officer positions in the Philippines,
Indonesia and Sri Lanka, and Regional offices in
Canada and Asia

FROME Grammar School Somerset England
Universities in England and Canada for Associate
Qualifications in Banking, namely:

PROFESSIONAL HISTORY

EDUCATION HISTORY

             ACIB - Associate of the Chartered Institute of 
                Bankers 
             AICB - Associate of the Institute of Canadian 
                Bankers 
             FICD - Fellow of the Institute of Corporate Directors 

ALVIN TAN UNJO 

(RIGHT)

63 years old, Filipino
19 years on DCDB Board & 9 years as
Adviser

 

Director, Hyundai, Cagayan De Oro, Inc.
Director, Hyundai, Cebu City, Inc.
Director/Treasurer, Cebu International Finance
Corp.
 VP/Director, CIFC Holdings, Inc.
Director, Cosmopolitan Climbs Life Plan, Inc.

PROFESSIONAL HISTORY

EDUCATION HISTORY
BSBA, University of San Carlos
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ROWELL B.  GAGA-A 

(LEFT)

65 years old, Filipino
1 year and 9 months with DCDB 

 

Director, Buglas Freemasonry Foundation, Inc.
(2019 to present)
VP - District Sales Director, Rizal Commercial
Banking Corp. (1993-2016)
Vice-Chairman, MT Kaladias Corporation
Vice-Chairman, Life Giver Christian Academy,
Inc.
Chief - Loans, Republic Planters Bank (1993-
1995)
Auditor, SGV & Co., CPAs (1978-1980)

BBA-Accounting, Silliman University
Certified Public Accountant

PROFESSIONAL HISTORY

EDUCATION HISTORY

TERTULIANO B.  PACAÑA

(RIGHT)

70 years old, Filipino
12 years with DCDB

 

Manager, SG Bank-A Rural Bank (2006-2008)
Assistant Manager/Cashier, BPI (1990-1998)

BSC-Accounting, Foundation University
Certified Public Accountant
Bachelor of Laws (LLB)/BS in Jurisprudence
(BSJ), Foundation University
Juris Doctor

PROFESSIONAL HISTORY

EDUCATION HISTORY
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ORGANIZATIONAL
CHART
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DCDB Building, Dr. V. Locsin corner Cervantes
Streets, Dumaguete City
Negros Oriental 6200 Philippines

          (035) 225-3891 to 92
                     422-9223 to 24

          dumaguetebank.ho@gmail.com
          dcdb.main@dumaguetebank.com
           
          www.dumaguetebank.com

DCDB Building, Sayre Highway Hagkol,
Valencia City, Bukidnon 8709
Philippines
        
        (088) 315-0114; 828-2097
          

           dcdb.valencia@dumaguetebank.com

DCDB BRANCHES

VALENCIA BRANCH

DUMAGUETE MAIN BRANCH
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DCDB Building, BUSCO Millsite
Quezon, Bukidnon 8715 Philippines

       (088) 222-5533
 
        dcdb.quezon@dumaguetebank.com
 
 

SIBULAN BRANCH
DCDB Building, North National
Highway Sibulan, Negros Oriental 
6201 Philippines

DCDB Building, Quezon National
Highway, Bo. Pusok, Lapu-Lapu CIty
6015 Philippines

        (032) 340-2754; 495-3402
     
          dcdb.lapulapu@dumaguetebank.com  
                                                                                           

DCDB BRANCHES

LAPU-LAPU BRANCH

(035) 226-6127; 419-8730

dcdb.sibulan@dumaguetebank.com

QUEZON BRANCH
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ATM (DCDB e-Purse)
P500.00 initial deposit and maintaining balance

P1,000 ADB to earn interest

DEPOSITS

Open to all college students

18 years old and above with validated school ID

Student Savers (ATM)
P200.00 initial deposit and P100.00 maintaining balance

Payroll Account (ATM)
P100.00 initial deposit

P1,000 ADB to earn interest

PangKABUHAYAN Savings Account
(Passbook + ATM)

P5,000 initial deposit

P2,000 maintaining balance

Ages 7-17 years old

Batang Tipid (Passbook)
P100.00 initial deposit and maintaining

balance

Basic Deposit (Passbook)
P100.00 initial deposit and no maintaining

balance

SSS Pensioners Account (Passbook/ATM)
P100.00 initial deposit and maintaining balance

P1,000 ADB to earn interest

Term - 30 days renewable

M3 (Monthly Money Maturity - Passbook)
P20,000 initial deposit and no maintaining balance

Term - 30 days, 60 days or 91 days renewable

PSD (Preferred Savings Deposit Account - Passbook)
P50,000 initial deposit and no maintaining balance
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DEPOSITS

Term - 30 days, 60 days or 91 days renewable

PSD (Preferred Savings Deposit Account - Passbook)
P50,000 initial deposit and no maintaining balance

For individual accounts only

DCDB Trio Checking Account
(ATM + Passbook + Checkbook)
P10,000 initial deposit and maintaining balance

P20,000 ADB to earn interest

DCDB Dual Checking Account
(Passbook + Checkbook)
P10,000 initial deposit and maintaining balance

P15,000 ADB to earn interest

Personal Current Account
P2,000 initial deposit and maintaining balance

P15,000 ADB to earn interest

Corporate Current Account
P10,000 initial deposit and maintaining balance

P20,000 ADB to earn interest

Term - 30 days renewable

Certificate of Time Deposit
P5,000 minimum deposit

Individual/Corporate Savings Account
P1,000 initial deposit and maintaining balance

P1,000 ADB to earn interest
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LOANS

Sugarcane Farming/Rice/Corn

Tractor Financing

Purchase of truck for hauling sugarcane

Poultry Business/Livestock

Agricultural Loan/Line

Tire Recapping and Selling

Sand, Gravel and Hollowblocks Business

Construction Supplies Business

Dressing Plant, Shipping/Trucking Business

Industrial Loan/Line

Car/Motorcycle Loans

Medical Expenses

Educational Expenses

Salary Loans/SSS Pension Loans

Consumption Loan

General Merchandising Business

Bakery and Fastfood Business

Trading/Buy & Sell Business

Drug Store Business

Rice and Corn Milling Business

Sugar Quedan Business

Commercial Loan/Line

Subdivision Development (Socialized

or Low Cost)

Construction of Commercial

Building/Apartment/Town Houses

Memorial Park Development

Purchase of Land/House & Lot

Real Estate Loan/Line
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MAJOR
STOCKHOLDERS
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Corporate Social
Responsibility
After Typhoon Odette wrought her devastation in the pre-

dawn darkness of December 17, 2021, Team DCDB brought

the most affected towns of Bindoy and Manjuyod, Negros

Oriental much-needed aid in the form of basic necessities.

This effort began in the early hours of December 23, 2021 as

Bank personnel prepared the packages for distribution at the

Bank which were loaded onto Bank vehicles and the team

travelled to the target areas later that morning. At

Manjuyod, the team distributed the relief goods to 40 of the

most affected families in the area. Likewise at Bindoy, the

team brought aid packages to 20 of the most affected

families. This simple gesture of corporate responsibility is just

one example of how our Bank involves itself in the welfare of

our community.
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